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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this “Annual Report”) includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), which are subject to the “safe harbor” created by those
sections. Forward-looking statements include all statements that are not historical facts, including statements reflecting our current views with respect to, among other things,
our plans, strategies and prospects, both business and financial, including our financial outlook, possible or assumed future actions, opportunities for growth and margin
expansion, consumer demand, industry and economic trends, business strategies, events or results of operations. These forward-looking statements are included throughout this
Annual Report, including in the sections entitled “Business” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and in the section
entitled “Risk Factors.” These statements may be preceded by, followed by or include the words “anticipate,” “assume,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,”
“intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “future,” “will,” “seek,” “foreseeable,” the negative version of these words or similar terms and phrases. In addition,
any statements or information that refer to expectations, beliefs, plans, projections, objectives, performance or other characterizations of future events or circumstances,
including any underlying assumptions, are forward-looking.

2 <

The forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report are based on management’s current beliefs and assumptions and are not guarantees of future performance. The
forward-looking statements are subject to various risks, uncertainties, assumptions or changes in circumstances that are difficult to predict or quantify. Actual results may differ
materially from these expectations due to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including as summarized immediately below under “—Summary Risk
Factors” and as detailed under the section entitled “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report, as such risk factors may be updated from time to time in our periodic filings with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, and are accessible on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.

Any forward-looking statements made by us in this Annual Report speak only as of the date of this Annual Report and are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary
statements included in this Annual Report. Factors or events that could cause our actual results to differ may emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all
of them. We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements and you should not place undue reliance on our forward-
looking statements. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, joint ventures, investments or other
strategic transactions we may make. Except as required by law, we do not have any obligation to update or revise, or to publicly announce any update or revision to, any of the
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.
Summary Risk Factors
We are subject to a number of risks, including risks that may prevent us from achieving our business objectives or that may adversely affect our business, financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows and prospects. You should carefully consider the risks discussed in the section entitled “Risk Factors,” including the following risks, before
investing in our common stock:
Risks Relating to Our Business Operations and Competitive Environment

*  our ability to attract and retain members and to optimize annual revenue per center membership;

*  competition in the health, fitness and wellness industry;

« the environments in which we operate, including with respect to the macroeconomy, the political climate, global pandemics or other health crises, severe weather, natural
disasters, hostilities, gun violence and social unrest;

*  rising costs related to our business, including construction of new centers, employees and maintenance and operation of our existing centers, and our inability to pass
these cost increases through to our members;

* seasonal and quarterly variations in our revenues and results of operations;

*  our dependence on third-party suppliers for equipment and certain products and services;
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Risks Relating to Our Brand

e adeterioration in the quality or reputation of our brand or the health, fitness and wellness industry;

»  risks relating to social media platforms and our use of email, text messaging and social media marketing;

*  our inability to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights or defend against intellectual property infringement suits against us by third parties;
Risks Relating to the Growth of Our Business

*  our inability to identify and acquire suitable sites for centers;

*  potential negative impacts resulting from the opening of new centers, including in our existing markets;

» increased investments in future centers in wealthier demographic areas or increased construction and development costs and the risk that the level of return will not meet
our expectations;

*  delays in new center openings;
*  strains on our management, employees, information systems and internal controls;
*  costs we may incur in the development and implementation of new businesses or strategies with no guarantee of success;

»  risks relating to acquisitions and investments, including our inability to acquire or invest in suitable businesses or, if we do acquire them, risks relating to asset
impairment or the integration of the business into our own;

Risks Relating to Our Technological Operations
*  our ability to deliver connected and digital experiences and to adapt to significant and rapid technological changes;

*  our inability to properly maintain the operations, integrity and security of our systems and data or the data of our members, guests and employees, to comply with
applicable privacy laws, or to strategically implement, upgrade or consolidate existing information systems;

»  disruptions and failures involving our information systems;
»  risks related to automated clearing house (“ACH”), credit card, debit card and digital payments we accept;
Risks Relating to Our Capital Structure and Lease Obligations
*  our ability to generate cash flow to service our substantial debt and lease obligations;
*  our ability to operate our business under the restrictions in our senior secured credit facilities, indentures and leases that limit our current and future operating flexibility;
*  our ability to obtain additional capital,
Risks Relating to Our Human Capital
*  our inability to retain our key employees, hire additional highly qualified employees or optimize our support structure;
*  labor shortages or increased labor costs;

*  attempts by labor organizations to organize groups of our employees or changes in labor laws;
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Risks Relating to Legal Compliance and Risk Management

*  our ability to comply with extensive governmental laws and regulations, and changes in these laws and regulations;

«  claims related to our health, fitness and wellness-related offerings;

*  our inability to maintain the required level of insurance coverage on acceptable terms or at an acceptable cost;

« claims related to construction or operation of our centers and in the use of our premises, facilities, equipment, services, activities or products;
Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Common Stock

»  significant changes to our share price and a liquid trading market for our common stock may not develop;

«  potential conflicts of interest between the private equity investment funds that control us and our public stockholders;

«  other risks relating to ownership of our common stock;

«  other factors beyond our control; and

«  other factors set forth under “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report.
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PART I

Item 1. BUSINESS
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Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. (collectively with its direct and indirect subsidiaries, “Life Time,” “we,” “o us,” or the “Company”) is a holding company incorporated in
the state of Delaware. Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “LTH.”

Initial Public Offering

On October 12, 2021, Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. consummated its initial public offering (“IPO”) of 39.0 million shares of its common stock at a public offering price of
$18.00 per share, resulting in total gross proceeds of $702.0 million before deducting the underwriting discounts and other offering expenses. The shares of its common stock
began trading on the NYSE under the symbol “LTH” on October 7, 2021. A registration statement on Form S-1 relating to the offering of these securities was declared effective
by the SEC on October 6, 2021. Additionally, on November 1, 2021, Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. consummated the sale of nearly 1.6 million additional shares of its
common stock at the IPO price of $18.00 per share pursuant to the partial exercise by the underwriters of their over-allotment option, resulting in total gross proceeds of
approximately $28.4 million before deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions. For more information on the IPO, including with respect to our use of proceeds, see
Note 1, Nature of Business and Basis of Presentation—Initial Public Offering, to our consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Who We Are

Life Time, the “Healthy Way of Life Company,” is a leading lifestyle brand offering premium health, fitness and wellness experiences to a community of nearly 1.4 million
individual members, who together comprise more than 776,000 memberships, as of December 31, 2022. Since our founding over 30 years ago, we have sought to continuously
innovate ways for our members to lead healthy and happy lives by offering them the best places, programs and performers. We deliver high-quality experiences through our
omni-channel physical and digital ecosystem that includes more than 160 centers—distinctive, resort-like athletic country club destinations—across 29 states in the United
States and one province in Canada. Our track record of providing differentiated experiences to our members has fueled our strong, long-term financial performance and has
driven our growth as we have emerged from the COVID-19 pandemic. In 2022, we generated $1,823 million of revenue, a net loss of $2 million and $282 million in Adjusted
EBITDA. In 2021, a year in which we experienced an initial recovery from the impacts of COVID-19, we generated $1,318 million of revenue, a net loss of $579 million and
$80 million in Adjusted EBITDA. In 2020, which was significantly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic due to the closure of our clubs by governmental authorities, we
generated $948 million of revenue, a net loss of $360 million and $(63) million in Adjusted EBITDA. In 2019, the year before the adverse impacts of the pandemic, we
generated $1,900 million of revenue, net income of $30 million and $438 million in Adjusted EBITDA.

Our luxurious athletic country clubs, which are located in both affluent suburban and urban locations, total approximately 16 million square feet in the aggregate. We offer
expansive fitness floors with top-of-the-line equipment, spacious locker rooms, group fitness studios, indoor and outdoor pools and bistros, indoor and outdoor tennis courts,
pickleball courts, basketball courts, LifeSpa, LifeCafe and our childcare and Kids Academy learning spaces. Our premium service offerings are delivered by over 34,000 Life
Time team members, including over 8,800 certified fitness professionals, ranging from personal trainers to studio performers. Our members are highly engaged and draw
inspiration from the experiences and community we have created. We believe this engagement and inspiration has fueled our recovery as we have implemented several strategic
initiatives to further enhance our member experiences and drive significant increases in center usage and higher center memberships as we have emerged from the pandemic
and approach or exceed our 2019 pre-pandemic performance levels. For example, we had 124 average visits per membership to our centers in 2022, 113 average visits per
membership to our centers in 2021 and 69 average visits per membership to our centers in 2020 despite the COVID-19 pandemic. We had 108 average visits per membership to
our centers in 2019. Similarly, our average revenue per center membership increased to $2,528 in 2022 compared to $2,098 and $1,317 in 2021 and 2020, respectively, and
compared to $2,172 in 2019.
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The table below displays the wide assortment of amenities, services, activities and events found at our centers:

Amenities

Services

Activities and Events

Indoor and Outdoor Pools
Group Fitness Studios
Cycle Studios
Yoga & Pilates Studios
Indoor and Outdoor Tennis Courts
Pickleball Courts
LifeCafe with Poolside Service
Bar and Lounge with Wi-Fi
Free Weight and Resistance Equipment
Cardiovascular Equipment
Steam Room and Sauna
Racquetball and Squash Spaces
Locker Rooms
Child Center and Kids Academy
Basketball/Volleyball Courts

Dynamic Personal Training
Small Group Training
ARORA
Weight Loss Coaching
Nutrition Coaching
LifeSpa and Medi-spa
Physical Therapy and Chiropractic
Assessments and Lab Testing
Sport Specific Coaching
Endurance Coaching
Swim Lessons and Team Coaching
Towel and Locker Service

Our footprint of athletic country clubs as of December 31, 2022:

Athletic Leagues and Tournaments
Kids’ Birthday Parties
Summer and Vacation Camps for Kids
Sports Training Camps
Athletic Events
Social Events
Outdoor Group Runs
Outdoor Group Cycle Rides
Swim Meets
Charity Events

We believe that no other company in the United States delivers the same quality and breadth of health, fitness and wellness experiences that we deliver, which enabled us to
consistently grow our annual membership dues and in-center revenues for 20 consecutive years, prior to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. As detailed below, we have
been strategic in building our business back from the pandemic with the intent to return to consistent annual growth in our membership dues and in-center revenue. As of
December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, our recurring membership dues and enrollment fees represented 71%, 71% and 70%, respectively, of our total Center revenue, while
our in-center revenue, consisting of Dynamic Personal Training, LifeCafe, LifeSpa, Life Time Swim and Life Time Kids, among other services, represented 29%, 29% and

30%, respectively, of our total Center revenue.
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Our Growth Strategies and Member Experience Initiatives

We have built a strong foundation with an engaged membership base in pursuit of a healthy way of living. We are now executing on several offensive strategies to grow our
business and drive our memberships and revenue per center membership. We are elevating our member experiences through new and improved in-center service offerings,
types of memberships, concierge-type member services and omni-channel offerings. We are also expanding the number of our centers in an asset-light model that targets higher
income members, higher average annual revenue per center membership and higher returns on invested capital. With the strong recovery of our membership dues revenue, we
have also been able to focus on margin expansion. We believe we have opportunities to continue to expand margins as we benefit from higher dues revenue and as we continue
to optimize the roll-out of our strategic initiatives and improve the efficiency of our club operations and corporate office.

Increase Revenue per Center Membership

We believe we will be able to continue to increase revenue from our members and grow our membership base by continuing to execute on the following initiatives that enhance
our member experiences and brand awareness, add new members and retain current members longer:

+ Expand and elevate in-center service offerings that generate incremental revenue.We continue to evolve our premium lifestyle brand in ways that elevate and
broaden our member experiences and allow our members to integrate health, fitness and wellness into their lives with greater ease and frequency. Our offerings cater to
all types of interests and levels and drive increased center usage and spend by members.

o Our strategic initiatives, including pickleball, Dynamic Personal Training, small group training such as Alpha, GTX and Ultra Fit, and ourARORA community
focused on members aged 55 years and older, are driving significant increases in unique participants or total sessions in these areas.

o Our shift from a sales-driven culture to delivering a concierge-type experience to our members is enhancing how we interact with prospective and existing
members.

o Our new membership offerings, including our signature membership that includes unlimited small group training and priority registrations, are driving broader
appeal, higher memberships and longer member retention.

*  Optimize revenue per Center membership. During the pandemic, we came to believe that we had been under-valuing the experiences delivered to our engaged
members and that certain members would likely not return following the pandemic. We thus began to implement a new pricing strategy coming out of the pandemic. As
we continued to enhance and broaden the premium experiences for our members, we strategically increased our membership dues across most of our new and existing
centers, particularly for our new member join rates. New members are thus joining at higher membership dues rates and are incrementally more profitable than the
members we lose. As expected, our total center memberships have not fully recovered to their 2019 pre-pandemic levels, but for the first time in January 2023, our
membership dues revenue exceeded our January 2020 pre-pandemic membership dues revenue for centers opened at the end of 2019. We believe we can continue to
refine our pricing, and transition existing memberships to higher membership prices or tiers, as we deliver exceptional experiences and find the optimal balance among
memberships per center, the member experience and financial returns for each center. We expect average revenue per center membership to continue to increase
compared to the prior year as we add new members and open new centers in increasingly affluent markets. We also expect our revenue to grow as our mature centers
continue to ramp in their performance after the adverse effects from the COVID-19 pandemic.

Expanded National Footprint and Strategic Focus on Locations in Affluent Metropolitan Statistical Areas

We believe we have significant whitespace opportunity for our premium athletic country clubs across the United States and Canada, as well as internationally. Over the last
five-plus years, we have expanded our footprint on the East and West coasts, and increased our presence in premium, urban and coastal areas such as Boston, Chicago, New
York City, Florida and California. Our new center expansion initiatives are focused on strategic locations that will generate higher average dues, higher in-center revenue per
membership and higher revenue per square foot. Our geographic and upscale expansion has been enabled by our flexible center formats, which can be modified to accommodate
traditional suburban, vertical residential, urban and mall/retail locations.
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We opened 10, six and three new centers in 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and plan to open 18 to 20 new centers over the next two years in increasingly affluent area Our
new centers historically have ramped to maturity over four years with a high level of consistency. As we open new centers each year and as our new centers ramp to maturity,
we believe this ramping club dynamic will provide further support and predictability to our overall revenue and earnings growth.

We also intend to supplement our organic growth through acquisitions. We have acquired, and expect to continue to acquire, centers as well as events and services that
complement our offerings. Our acquisitions can be single assets or portfolios of assets. We take a disciplined approach to sourcing, acquiring and integrating high quality assets
and/or locations and complementary businesses that can help us continue to expand into new geographic areas, acquire key talent and offer new services and experiences. Our
post-acquisition integration process often involves significant investments in both the acquired physical assets and human capital to improve each acquired site and to rebrand
the look and feel of the center to create the Life Time brand experience for our members.

Asset-light, Flexible Real Estate Strategy

Approximately 65% of our centers are now leased, including approximately 90% of our new centers opened within the last five years, versus a predominantly owned real estate
strategy prior to 2015. Our focus on a flexible real estate strategy has enabled us to develop a business model that targets a new center return on invested capital, after sale-
leaseback proceeds or construction reimbursements, of over 40%, which is more than double historical trends before implementing this strategy. This strategy has also allowed
us to grow the number of centers in a more cost-effective manner and to enter attractive urban and coastal markets with premium centers where the price of real estate had
historically been a deterrent to entry.

Expanded Memberships and Omni-Channel Membership Offerings

We believe the importance of health, fitness and wellness coupled with the structural shift of consumer preferences toward experiential and proactive health and wellness
spending creates new opportunities for us to leverage our “Healthy Way of Life” lifestyle brand. As our business model evolves and our membership base grows, we expect to
leverage our brand reputation and deep understanding of the member experience to add a growing portfolio of products and services to our omni-channel platform. For
example, we are leveraging our asset base to add pickleball courts across the country with the goal of becoming the largest pickleball provider in the United States. We are also
focused on tapping into a growing active aging market with our ARORA programming and services. While our operations are predominantly in the United States today, we also
believe that we can leverage our brand reputation to expand internationally.

Our enhanced digital platform is delivering a true omni-channel experience for our members, including live streaming fitness classes, remote goal-based personal training,
nutrition and weight loss support and curated award-winning health, fitness and wellness content. In addition, our members are able to purchase a wide variety of equipment,
wearables, apparel, beauty products and nutritional supplements via our digital health store. We are continuing to invest in our digital capabilities, including our integrated
digital app, in order to strengthen our relationships with our members and more comprehensively address their health, fitness and wellness needs so that they can remain
engaged and connected with Life Time at any time or place.

We are also expanding our “Healthy Way of Life” ecosystem in response to the desire of our members to holistically integrate health and wellness into every aspect of their
daily lives. In 2018, we launched Life Time Work, an asset-light branded co-working model, which offers premium work spaces in close proximity to our athletic country clubs
and integrates ergonomic furnishings and promotes a healthy working environment. As of December 31, 2022, we had 11 Life Time Work locations in operation, with plans to
open more in the coming years. Life Time Work members also generally receive access to all of our resort-like athletic country club destinations across the United States and
Canada. Additionally, we have opened our first two Life Time Living locations, which offer luxury wellness-oriented residences in close proximity to one of our athletic
country clubs. Our Life Time Living offering is generating interest from new property developers and presenting opportunities for new center development that we have not
previously had. While we are in the early stages of capitalizing on this opportunity, we believe integrating how and where consumers live, work, move and play is a promising
opportunity that Life Time is uniquely positioned to capture. As we expand our footprint with new centers and nearby work and living spaces, as well as strengthen our digital
capabilities, we expect to continue to grow our omni-channel platform to support the “Healthy Way of Life” journey of our members wherever they are in the United States and
Canada.
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Our Competitive Strengths
We believe that the following strengths power our brand and business model:
Authentic, Premium “Healthy Way of Life” Brand

We have built Life Time into a premier health, fitness and wellness lifestyle brand, earning the trust of our members forover 30 years to make their lives healthier and happier.
We believe that consumers equate our brand with the uncompromising quality, luxury and “Healthy Way of Life” experiences that Life Time offers. We have built this
credibility and robust brand equity through our continuous focus on high quality member experiences delivered through what we believe to be the best programs with the best
performers in the best places. We believe our brand loyalty will allow us to continue to grow our core business as well as expand our omni-channel platform in digital, work,
living and other health, fitness and wellness experiences.

Differentiated and Uncompromising Experiences

Our athletic country clubs, together with our omni-channel platform, offer members an exceptional breadth of physical and digital experiences that meet or exceed their
expectations:

*  Full Suite of Comprehensive Offerings: Life Time offers an expansive array of amenities, services and activities, thereby enabling members to enjoy a “Healthy Way
of Life” across a diverse and varied set of offerings. Whether taking advantage of our state-of-the-art fitness equipment, playing pickleball, engaging with our Dynamic
Personal Training, small group training or ARORA community, partaking in summer camp for kids, competing in one of our sports leagues or relaxing in one of our
pools or award-winning spas, Life Time members can enjoy a full end-to-end experience that enables an entire family to grow and develop, regardless of where they are
in their health and wellness journey.

*  World-Class Talent: We recruit, hire and certify those whom we believe are the best fitness professionals in the industry to empower, educate and entertain our
members. In addition, to enhance our member experiences and drive consistency in our hospitality and services, we have a strong focus on team member culture,
training and certification.

*  Passionate Culture: Our focus on engagement among team members attracts and fosters our multi-generational member base. We value diversity, equity and inclusion
at Life Time and strive to create a welcoming and inclusive culture. In addition, we foster community engagement through a wide range of events and activities, from
parent-child dances, pool parties, charity runs and aged 55+ coffee hours to other social events and multi-day athletic events. During 2022, we organized approximately
11,170 events and served as a social and community hub for our members.

«  Digital Offerings: Life Time Digital enables our members to experience many of our best offerings at their fingertips at any time and wherever they are located in the
United States or Canada.

Loyal and Engaged Multi-Generational Membership Base with Attractive Demographics

Life Time’s breadth of premium services and offerings attracts people of all ages who want to lead healthier, happier lives. The power of our lifestyle brand, attractive member
demographics, breadth of amenities and services and high utilization of our centers allow us to build deeply meaningful connections with our members, which are difficult for
others in our industry to replicate fully. We have something for every generation, from young children attending our swim lessons and Kids Academy classes, teenagers
engaged in our sports and agility training, adults engaged in our Dynamic Personal Training and small group training or more senior adults engaged in our ARORA community
to members of all ages participating in pickleball, our iconic athletic events and a variety of our other in-center activities.

Our member base is primarily made up of members in affluent suburban and urban locations. We believe our membership base has a discretionary spending level that, on
average, is less susceptible to adverse economic conditions. As of December 31, 2022, our members had a median household income of $143,000, 80% owned a home and
approximately 60% of our members are part of a couples or family membership, and these members typically engage more fully within our centers. Approximately 58% of our
members had at least a college education. Additionally, our gender mix is balanced and approximately 44% of our members are under 35 years of age and approximately 82%
are under 55 years of age.

Flexible Real Estate Strategy with Nationwide Footprint
We have a diversified portfolio of over 160 resort-like athletic country club destinations that are primarily located in affluent markets across 29 states and one Canadian

province. Over the last five years, we have transitioned to an asset-light strategy through sale-leaseback transactions and have adopted more strategic and flexible center formats
that can be modified to
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accommodate various settings, including traditional suburban, vertical residential, urban and mall/retail locations. Our focus on a flexible real estate strategy since 2015 has
enabled us to develop a business model that targets a new center return on invested capital, after sale-leaseback proceeds or construction reimbursements, of over 40%, which is
more than double historical trends before implementing this strategy. This strategy has also allowed us to grow the number of centers in a more cost-effective manner and enter
attractive urban and coastal markets with premium centers where the price of real estate had historically been a deterrent to entry. We also benefit from our in-

house architecture, design and construction expertise that allows us to create operationally efficient centers. This internal expertise has also helped us control the cost and pace
of capital expenditures, including in determining when to begin construction on a new location after we have purchased the land as we balance the timing of our growth with any
inflationary, labor or supply pressures, and has also ensured a consistent feel across our centers.

We have developed a disciplined and sophisticated process to evaluate markets and specific sites in those markets where we may want to build new centers. This dynamic
process is based upon demographic, psychographic and competitive criteria generated from profiles of our most successful centers, and we continue to refine these criteria
based upon the performance of our centers. We believe that the presence of a Life Time center benefits landlords and property developers and the value of the underlying
property and surrounding neighborhoods. We are seeing the demand for our brand that this benefit creates. We seek to leverage this halo effect of our brand, as well as long-
term relationships with landlords and property developers, to achieve favorable lease or development agreements and increased construction reimbursements to support our
capital light expansion.

Recurring Revenue Model with Consistent Growth

Membership dues from our network of members create a recurring and relatively predictable revenue stream that has proven to be resilient for over 30 years and across
economic cycles. Membership dues and enrollment fees provide our largest source of revenue, representing 71%, 71% and 70% of our total Center revenue in 2022, 2021 and
2020, respectively.

We grew from $137 million, $4 million and $36 million in revenue, net income and Adjusted EBITDA, respectively, in 2001 to $1,900 million, $30 million and $438 million in
revenue, net income and Adjusted EBITDA, respectively, in 2019. During that time period, we did not have a year-over-year decline in revenue or Adjusted EBITDA. While
revenue, net income (loss) and Adjusted EBITDA did decline in 2020 to $948 million, $(360) million and $(63) million, respectively, due to the closure of our centers by
governmental authorities during the COVID-19 pandemic, we saw a recovery during 2021 as we re-opened our centers and began to emerge from the pandemic with revenue,
net loss and Adjusted EBITDA of $1,318 million, $(579) million and $80 million, respectively. During 2022, we continued our recovery as we executed on several growth and
pricing initiatives and generated $1,823 million, $(2) million and $282 million in revenue, net loss and Adjusted EBITDA, respectively.

Passionate, Visionary, Founder-Led Management Team with Deep Industry Experience

Our unwavering commitment to excellence and a “Healthy Way of Life” culture is driven by our passionate management team, under the leadership of Bahram Akradi, our
founder, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. Life Time was founded by Mr. Akradi in 1992 with a goal of helping people achieve their health, fitness and wellness goals by
delivering entertaining, educational and innovative experiences with uncompromising quality and unparalleled service. From the very beginning, Mr. Akradi has led the
Company with a focus on serving members’ needs first and a belief that business results would naturally follow.

By building a strong and highly experienced executive leadership team, Life Time has continued to grow and consistently deliver exceptional experiences. Our executive
leadership includes:

*  Eric Buss, Executive Vice President & Chief Administrative Officer. Mr. Buss has been with Life Time for over 20 years and has served as a key executive leader in
a variety of roles.

*  Robert Houghton, Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Houghton has been with Life Time since August 2022 and has more than 20 years of
leadership experience across various industries, including as Senior Vice President — Finance at United Natural Foods, Inc.

«  Parham Javaheri, Executive Vice President & Chief Property Development Officer. Mr. Javaheri joined Life Time in 2004 and has over 20 years of experience in
real estate development.

*  RJ Singh, Executive Vice President & Chief Digital Officer. Mr. Singh joined Life Time in 2017 and oversees all digital and technology infrastructure, operations and
initiatives.

*  Jeff Zwiefel, President & Chief Operating Officer. Mr. Zwiefel has been with Life Time for over 20 years and has more than 35 years of experience in the health,
fitness and wellness industry.



Table of Contents

Our team has an entrepreneurial spirit that we believe makes us highly adaptable, reflects an ownership mentality and allows us to navigate shifts in the health, fitness and
wellness landscape, including as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. We believe the strength of our team, culture and organizational approach position us to continue to grow
and deliver strong financial results.

Strong Financial Performance

Our compelling financial profile is distinguished by our long-term track record of consistent revenue growth prior to the COVID-19 pandemic and now as we emerge from the
pandemic, growth of new centers in attractive markets, a high percentage of predictable recurring membership dues revenue, increasing revenue per center membership and
strong profitability.

Long-Term Track Record of Revenue Growth. We believe the strength of our brand and the effective execution of our operating strategy have driven our long-term
track record of growth. Prior to the impact of COVID-19 in 2020, we grew our revenue each year from 2000 through 2019. Our revenue declined in 2020 due to the
closure of our centers by governmental authorities during the COVID-19 pandemic. Since then, our revenue has once again grown strongly as our centers ramp back and
we expect to exceed our 2019 revenue.
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$1,900
§1,823

§1,749

$1,593

$1,475

§1,318

s1.291 S1354
§1,127

$1,014
: 5913
st 8%
5656
s512
) 5390
sios 5257 i

gt ...
== =

FY00 FY01 FY02 FY03 FY04 FY05 FY06 FY07 FY08 FY09 FYI0 FYIl FYI2 FYI3 FYi4 FYI5 FY16 FY17 FYI8 FYI19 FY20 FY21 Fy22

$1,206

$948

Highly Successful New Center Openings. Our asset-light, flexible real estate strategy and compelling center economics have enabled us to successfully open new
centers in attractive markets. Since implementing our asset light strategy in 2015, we have opened an average of eight centers per year, excluding centers opened in 2020
during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Predictable Recurring Membership Dues Revenue Our membership dues represent a predictable recurring revenue stream that provides stability to our business.
Center memberships were approximately 725,200 as of December 31, 2022, a net increase of approximately 76,000 from 2021 as we continued to recover from the
COVID-19 pandemic and execute our strategic and pricing initiatives. The percentage of that increase attributable to net new members was approximately 73%, or
55,000 memberships. While our Center memberships have not fully recovered to their pre-pandemic levels of 2019, we believe we are building back a stronger and
more engaged membership base. With this membership base and our enhanced premium services and pricing strategy, for the first time in January 2023, our membership
dues revenue exceeded our January 2020 pre-pandemic membership dues revenue for centers opened at the end of 2019. The proportion of our total Center revenue
generated by the resulting recurring membership dues and enrollment fees was 71%, 71% and 70% in 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Increasing Average Revenue Per Center Membership. Between 2015 and 2019, we grew our average revenue per center membership from $1,883 in 2015 to $2,172
in 2019, a testament to the significant value that our members place on engaging with Life Time. Due to the closure of our centers by governmental authorities during
the COVID-19 pandemic, average revenue per center membership fell to $1,317 in 2020. As we have emerged from the pandemic and implemented our strategic
initiatives to further enhance our member experiences and drive significant increases in center usage and higher center memberships, we have grown our average
revenue per center membership to $2,098 in 2021 and $2,528 in 2022.

Strong Profitability. We have historically maintained a highly profitable business model, achieving a 1.6% net income margin and 23.0% Adjusted EBITDA margin in
2019. These metrics were impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, falling to a (38.0)% net loss margin and (6.6)% Adjusted EBITDA margin in 2020 and a
(44.0)% net loss margin and 6.1% Adjusted EBITDA margin in 2021. These metrics improved to (0.1)% net loss margin and
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15.5% Adjusted EBITDA margin in 2022. With the strong recovery of our membership dues revenue, we have been able to focus on margin expansion. We believe we
have opportunities to continue to expand margins as we benefit from higher dues revenue and as we continue to optimize the roll-out of our strategic initiatives and
improve the efficiency of our club operations and corporate office. As we execute our asset-light real estate strategy, our rent expense, which includes both cash and
non-cash rent expense, will continue to increase and impact our Adjusted EBITDA margins and the comparability of our results of operations. Rent expense was $166.0
million, $186.3 million, $209.8 million and $245.2 million for the years ended 2019, 2020, 2021 and 2022, respectively.

Impact of COVID-19 on Our Financial Performance

On March 16, 2020, we closed all of our centers based on orders and advisories from federal, state and local governmental authorities responding to the spread or threat of the
spread of COVID-19. While our centers were closed, we did not collect monthly access membership dues or recurring product charges from our members. We re-opened our
first center on May 8, 2020 and continued to re-open our centers in accordance with evolving state and local governmental guidance.

After the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, we prioritized the health and safety of our members and team members by developing and implementing robust COVID-19
operating protocols, while taking appropriate steps to ensure our financial stability, including by reducing operating expenses, delaying capital investments and securing
additional debt financing. The performance of our centers has improved significantly as our centers have ramped back from the adverse impacts of COVID-19. Our
improvement has varied depending on various factors, including how early we were able to re-open them, whether we were required to close them again, their geographic
location and applicable governmental restrictions. Similar to how our new centers historically have ramped to maturity over four years, we believe our centers continue to ramp
in their performance as we emerge from the pandemic.

Number of Centers. While our new center construction and growth was slowed as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we have successfully opened 19 new centers since the
end of 2019 through December 31, 2022, 17 of which opened after the onset of the pandemic. We have also continued our real estate development efforts after initially
suspending them during the pandemic, and had 12 centers under construction as of December 31, 2022. We opened 10 new centers in 2022 and we plan to open 18 to 20 new
centers over the next two years.

Revenue and Net Loss. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, our total revenue fell to $948 million for 2020. This revenue loss resulted in a net loss of approximately $360
million in 2020. Our results began to recover in 2021 and we generated $1,318 million in total revenue and a net loss of approximately $579 million. Our results further
improved in 2022 and we generated $1,823 million in total revenue and a net loss of approximately $2 million, which included tax-effected expenses of $25.5 million related to
non-cash share-based compensation expense.

Memberships. We define memberships for our centers as Center memberships and Digital On-hold memberships (as further detailed below under “—Our Membership
Offering”). Both Center memberships and Digital On-hold memberships include Life Time Digital. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, Center memberships declined to
approximately 501,000 at the end of 2020 as we experienced more conversions of Center memberships to Digital On-hold memberships as well as a higher level of membership
terminations. However, we saw significant improvement in our Center membership numbers during 2021 and 2022 and had approximately 649,400 Center memberships as of
December 31, 2021, due in large part to the conversion of Digital On-hold memberships back to Center memberships, and approximately 725,200 Center memberships as of
December 31, 2022 due in large part to new members.

Our Membership Offering

We define a membership for our centers in two ways: Center memberships and Digital On-hold memberships. As of December 31, 2022, we had a total of 776,676 total
memberships, comprised of 725,206 Center memberships and 51,470 Digital On-hold memberships. We also have Digital memberships that we began to offer in December
2020 for direct-to-consumer memberships that do not provide access to our centers.

Center Memberships. We offer a variety of convenient month-to-month memberships with no long-term contracts. Each Center membership is defined as one or more adults,
plus any juniors under the age of 14.

*  Base Memberships. We offer base memberships that provide one or more individuals 14 years of age or older general access (with some amenities excluded) to a
selected home center and all centers with the same or lower base monthly dues rate. Our optimized pricing for a Center membership is determined center-by-center based
on a variety of factors, including geography, market presence, demographic nature, population density, competition, initial investment in the center and available services
and amenities. Among our base memberships, our standard multi-center access
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memberships include general access to our centers, including the locker rooms (with locker and towel service), fitness floor, any child center and other benefits such as
the Life Time app. Our signature multi-center access memberships provide the benefits of a standard membership along with certain products, services or spaces that
would otherwise be accessible only upon payment of additional dues or fees, such as small group training and court time for certain racquet sports at certain centers.
Certain of our centers are accessible only with a signature membership.

*  Junior Memberships. We offer junior memberships (as an add-on to a base membership) that provide one or more children 13 years of age or younger access to the child
center, pools and gymnasiums at designated times, drop-off events and Kids Academy, which includes more in-depth programming focused on activity, learning and
fitness. Junior memberships currently cost $20 to $100 per month depending upon the center. We do not count junior memberships as incremental in our membership
count since they are already part of the Center membership.

e Other Memberships and Products. We offer several other recurring memberships and access-related products at select centers, includinga Tennis Membership that
bundles a base membership with tennis and a Pool Pass that provides access to the outdoor pool area at select centers.

Digital On-hold Memberships. We offer Digital On-hold memberships for members who do not currently wish to access our centers, but still want to maintain certain member
benefits, including our Life Time Digital membership, and the right to convert back to a Center membership without paying an enrollment fee. The majority of our Digital On-
hold memberships cost $15 per month.

Digital Memberships. We launched Life Time Digital direct-to-consumer in December 2020 to bring our “Healthy Way of Life” programs, services and content to consumers
virtually. Life Time Digital features include live streaming fitness classes, remote goal-based personal training, nutrition and weight loss support, curated award-winning health
and fitness and wellness content. Currently, our digital membership is included with both our Center and Digital On-hold memberships at no additional charge or it can be
purchased separately as a digital-only membership. We currently report our Digital memberships within our Digital On-hold membership totals.

Human Capital

As of December 31, 2022, we employed over 34,000 Life Time team members, including 26,000 part-time employees and over 8,800 certified fitness professionals, ranging
from personal trainers to studio performers. On average, our centers are generally staffed with approximately 180 to 240 full-time and part-time employees depending on center
activity levels.

Our team members are at the heart of our Company. Since our founding in 1992, we have believed that creating and sustaining a trusted community requires a high level of
passion and commitment from our team. Our team members are dedicated to providing the best programs and experiences in the best facilities, and we know this happens by
hiring and inspiring the best people. By consistently delivering extraordinary experiences, we have built a highly trusted, premium lifestyle brand that embraces all aspects of
healthy living, healthy aging and healthy entertainment. We call this collective approach and lens to physical, mental and social well-being “Healthy Way of Life” (“HWOL”).

To build our HWOL brand, we aim to recruit, train, promote and empower team members through our culture of care and such initiatives as the Life Time Inclusion Council
and Life Time University. Our culture of care encourages our team members to live out HWOL in their personal and professional lives. We believe in supporting our team
members throughout their journey from casting, onboarding, training, certification, career-path planning and employee resource or affinity groups. We also offer numerous
supportive programs, including education, training and surveys.

Diversity, Equity and Inclusion at Life Time

At Life Time, we are committed to inspiring healthy, happy lives for everyone in our communities. We aspire to create healthy environments and workspaces that recognize,
empower and celebrate the unique talents, backgrounds and perspectives of individuals so team members feel welcomed, respected, supported and valued. We believe inclusion
is at the heart of our team members’ and members’ sense of belonging, and so our diversity, equity and inclusion (“DEI”) efforts are focused on making Life Time “A Place for
Everyone.”

To help create “A Place for Everyone” at Life Time, we created the Life Time Inclusion Council, which is comprised of a small group of core team members, along with a
larger group of ambassadors representing each of our club locations and many corporate divisions. Our inclusion council works through committees to identify and incubate
areas for growth within our organization with respect to DEI. Among other initiatives, Life Time has supported mentoring, coaching, engagement forums, inclusive leadership
feedback and DEI learning.
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Development and Training

Our recruiting and talent acquisition teams seek diverse and highly skilled team members who promote a friendly and inviting environment and uphold consistency in
performance and excellence in hospitality. Through this casting, we select team members whom we believe are the best fitness professionals in the industry to empower, educate
and entertain our members. Additionally, all center team members are required to participate in a training and certification program that is specifically designed for their role
and in education that promotes health and safety and reinforces our non-discrimination and anti-harassment policies. We also provide comprehensive training through our Life
Time Education platform that is comprised of both an externally licensed school branded as Life Time Academy (“LTA”) and an internal team member education and
certification division that we call Life Time University (“LTU”). LTA offers a certification for entry-level professionals to prepare for a career with Life Time or within the
health, fitness and wellness industry. LTU delivers certification, learning, education and development opportunities for all team members. Life Time Education supports the
culture of Life Time through programs in service, inclusion and diversity and personal and professional growth. Team members also receive ongoing mentoring and continuing
education, and we require an annual re-certification before any team member is permitted to work or to advance to other positions within our Company.

Our personal trainers, registered dietitians, massage therapists and cosmetologists are required to maintain a professional license or one of their industry’s top certifications.
Compensation and Benefits

We believe that supporting our team members to be successful in their roles enables them to provide extraordinary experiences to our members. We offer a wide range of
benefits designed to holistically support our team members in all areas of their lives. In addition to paid time off, paid sick leave, parental leave, adoption assistance, subsidized
medical, dental and vision insurance, company paid life insurance, short and long-term disability, and a center membership, we also provide:

*  Employee Assistance Program — Offers confidential assistance with personal, legal, work, financial and other life issues on a 24-hours-a-day, 7-days-a-week basis; and

* Life Time Mind (“LT Mind”) - LT Mind is a holistic performance coaching program proprietary to Life Time aimed at helping team members optimize their
performance, achieve their goals and enhance their well-being. Offerings for team members include online training and virtual mental resiliency coaching.

We are not a party to a collective bargaining agreement with any of our employees. We believe our continued efforts to build a diverse, equitable and inclusive environment for
our team members has created a positive environment where they can thrive while delivering an uncompromising member experience, and we believe relations with our
employees are good.

Information Systems

In addition to our standard operating and administrative systems, we use an integrated and proprietary member management system to manage the flow of member information
within and between each of our centers and our corporate office. We have designed and developed our proprietary system to allow us to easily collect and process information.
Our system enables us to, among other things, enroll new members with an electronic membership agreement, capture digital pictures of members for identification purposes
and capture and maintain specific member information, including usage. The system allows us to streamline the collection of membership dues electronically, thereby offering
additional convenience for our members while at the same time reducing our corporate overhead and accounts receivable. In addition, we use a customer relationship
management system to enhance our marketing campaigns and management oversight regarding daily sales and marketing activities.

Competition

We consider the following groups to be the primary participants in the health, fitness and wellness industry:

*  health center operators, including, but not limited to, Equinox Holdings, Inc., The Bay Club Company, ClubCorp, LA Fitness International, LLC and 24 Hour Fitness
Worldwide, Inc.;

*  the YMCA and similar non-profit organizations or community centers;
*  physical fitness and recreational facilities established by local governments, hospitals and businesses;

* local salons, cafes and businesses offering similar ancillary services;
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« small fitness clubs and studios and other boutique fitness offerings, including Anytime Fitness, Snap Fitness, Planet Fitness, Orange Theory, Barre3, Crunch Fitness and
others;

*  racquet, tennis, pickleball and other athletic centers;

*  rental unit and condominium amenity centers;

*  country clubs;

» digital fitness and health services, including online personal training and fitness coaching;

*  the home-use fitness equipment industry;

»  athletic event operators and related suppliers; and

*  providers of wellness and other health and wellness-orientated products and services.
The health, fitness and wellness industry is highly competitive. While competition in the industry varies from market to market, it may be impacted by various factors, including
the breadth and price of membership offerings and other products and services, the flexibility of membership options, the overall quality of the offering, name or brand
recognition and economies of scale. We believe that our brand, our comprehensive product offering and focus on services, amenities and value provide us with a distinct
competitive advantage, positioning us well to compete in the health, fitness and wellness industry.

Intellectual Property

Our business depends on the quality and reputation of our brand. We file a substantial number of our trademarks and service marks with the United States Patent and Trademark
Office, including for Life Time and many of our branded studio classes and service offerings. We consider our brand to be one of our most important assets and certain of our
trademarks and service marks to be of material importance to our business and actively defend and enforce such trademarks and service marks. Examples include LIFE TIME®,
EXPERIENCE LIFE®, LIFECAFE®, LIFESPA®, LIFE TIME HEALTHY WAY OF LIFE®, LIFE TIME WORK® and LIFE TIME LIVING®. Solely for convenience, our
trademarks, service marks or tradenames may appear in this Annual Report without the corresponding ® or TM symbols, but such references are not intended to indicate in any
way that we will not assert, to the fullest extent, our rights to such trademarks, service marks and tradenames.

Governmental Laws and Regulations

Our operations and business practices are subject to laws and regulations at federal, state, provincial and local levels, including consumer protection laws related to our
advertising, marketing and sales efforts, health and safety regulations and licensing requirements related to our training, cafe, spa, aquatics, child care and ancillary health and
fitness-related products and services, environmental laws and regulations, including those related to the handling, use, remediation and storage of hazardous materials, the
emission, release and discharge of hazardous materials into the environment, and the health and safety of our employees, fair housing laws, accessibility laws, regulations related

to the collection, use and security of personal information about our members, guests and purchasers, and wage and hour and other labor and employment laws. In addition,
from time to time we have been required to investigate and remediate contamination at some of our sites under such environmental laws and regulations.

In particular, within the health, fitness and wellness industry, state statutes regulate the sale and terms of our membership contracts. State statutes often require that we:

* include certain terms in our membership contracts, including the right to cancel a membership, in most cases, within three to 10 days after joining, and receive a refund of
enrollment fees paid;

*  escrow funds received from pre-opening sales or post a bond or proof of financial responsibility; and

» adhere to price or financing limitations.
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Seasonality of Business

Seasonal trends have an effect on our overall business. Generally, we have experienced greater membership growth at the beginning of the year. We also typically experience
increased levels of membership in certain centers during the summer pool season. During the summer months, we also experience a slight increase in our in-center business
activity with summer programming and operating expenses due to our outdoor aquatics operations and kids programming. We typically experience an increased level of
membership attrition during the third and fourth quarters as the summer pool season ends and we enter the holiday season. This can lead to a sequential decline in memberships
during those quarters.

Life Time Foundation

We believe in giving back to our communities in ways that empower people to live happy, healthy lives. In 2003, we formed the Life Time Foundation with a focus on inspiring
healthier families. In 2010, we further focused on helping children reach their full potential by collaborating with school food leaders to help them serve wholesome, nourishing,
minimally processed food in schools across the United States. Since 2010, Life Time Foundation has positively impacted over 1.7 million children across the country. In 2022,
we launched a new grant program to spark exercise and healthy movement in our nation’s youth. The program complements the Life Time Foundation’s work in improving
youth nutrition. The “Get Kids Moving” program impacted over 25,000 children in 2022.

Available Information

We file annual, quarterly and special reports and other information with the SEC. Our filings with the SEC are available to the public on the SEC’s website at
http://www.sec.gov. Those filings are also available to the public on, or accessible through, our investor relations website at www.ir.lifetime.life under the “Filings” tab. The
information we file with the SEC or contained on or accessible through our corporate website or any other website that we may maintain is not part of this Annual Report.

Item 1A. RISK FACTORS
Risks Relating to Our Business Operations and Competitive Environment

We may be unable to attract and retain members and we may not effectively optimize revenue per center membership, either of which could have a negative effect on our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

The success of our business depends on our ability to attract and retain members and to optimize our revenue per center membership. There are numerous factors that could
lead to a decline in membership levels or sales of in-center services or that could prevent us from increasing membership and optimizing our revenue per center membership,
any of which could adversely impact our business and results of operations. These factors include changing desires and behaviors of consumers and our ability to anticipate and
respond to shifts in consumer preferences, changing consumer confidence, changes in discretionary spending trends and general economic conditions, market or center maturity
or saturation, a decline in our ability to deliver quality service, direct and indirect competition in our trade areas, a decline in the public’s interest in health and fitness, as well as
social fears such as terror or health threats. As we have emerged and grown out of the COVID-19 pandemic, we have implemented a new pricing strategy in an effort to
optimize the number of memberships per club and the price for such memberships. This strategy reflects at least initially a lower number of memberships paying on average
higher membership dues, which benefits us as we bring on new members but also increases the adverse impact on our results of operations if we were to lose these
memberships.

All of our members are able to cancel their membership at any time upon providing advance notice. We must therefore continually engage existing members and attract new
members in order to maintain our membership levels and sales from in-center services and earn the membership dues that we charge our members. We are executing on several
strategies to elevate and broaden our member experiences and drive additional revenue per center membership. Elevating our member experiences requires investment in our
team members, programs, products, services and centers. These investments may impact our short-term results of operations and cash flows as our investments in our business
may be made more quickly than we see the returns on our investments. Additionally, we cannot be certain that these strategies will attract and retain members or deliver higher
revenue per center membership.
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QOur business could be adversely affected by strong competition in the highly competitive health, fitness and wellness industry.

We compete with numerous industry participants as detailed in “Item 1—Business—Competition” of this Annual Report. Competitors compete with us to attract members in
our markets. Competitors may also attempt to copy all or portions of our business model, which could erode our market share and brand recognition or impair our business and
results of operations. It is also possible that competitors could introduce new products and services or new ways to provide those products and services that negatively impact
consumer preference or willingness to pay for our business model. Certain competitors may have advantages over us including greater name recognition and/or resources, and
non-profit and government organizations may be able to obtain land and construct centers at a lower cost and collect membership fees without paying taxes, thereby allowing
them to charge lower prices. Additionally, consolidation in the health, fitness and wellness industry could result in increased competition among participants. Furthermore, due
to the increased number of low-cost health center and fitness center alternatives, we may face increased competition during periods when we increase our prices, discretionary
spending declines or unemployment increases. This competition may limit our ability to attract and retain members or to optimize our revenue per center membership, each of
which could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our business, results of operations and prospects may be adversely affected by the environments in which we operate, including with respect to the macroeconomy, the
political climate, global pandemics or other health crises, severe weather, natural disasters, hostilities, gun violence and social unrest.

The macroeconomic environment in which we operate can adversely impact our business, results of operations and prospects, including with respect to inflation, interest rates,
labor and supply chain issues, as well as a potential economic recession. For example, the inflation rate has remained elevated, which impacts our expenses in several areas,
including wages, construction costs and other operating expenses. These inflationary impacts pressure our margin performance, increase our capital expenditures and may cause
us to delay new center construction. The rising interest rate environment has also increased the cost of our term loan facility and our revolving credit facility and may result in
increased cap rates on future sale-leaseback transactions. Additionally, our business could be sensitive to reductions in discretionary consumer spending and in a depressed
economic and consumer environment, consumers and businesses may postpone spending in response to tighter credit, negative financial news and/or declines in income or asset
values, which could have a negative effect on the demand for our services and products.

Global pandemics or other health crises can also adversely impact our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. We experienced a significant reduction
in membership levels, revenue per center membership, center activity and new center growth related to the COVID-19 pandemic, including the response of governmental
authorities to community transmission of COVID-19, which required closure of our centers in March 2020 and the suspension of significant real estate development and
construction projects. Several of our centers are still recovering from those negative impacts, depending in large part on when the governmental operating restrictions on our
centers were lifted, similar to how our new centers take several years to mature to expected performance. Failure by these centers to recover as we expect could materially and
adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. Each of our centers and in-center businesses may continue to be impacted differently based upon
considerations such as applicable government restrictions, community transmission and the sentiment of members or team members in particular geographic locations. We
cannot be certain that we will not need to close our centers, restrict operations within our centers or suspend or reduce the level of real estate or construction activities again
related to continued community transmission of the coronavirus or its variants or another pandemic or health crisis. The COVID-19 pandemic or any other pandemic or health
crises may also lead to significant economic shifts across our areas of operation, which may reduce or change consumer demand in our industry.

Severe weather, natural disasters, shifting climate patterns, hostilities, gun violence, social unrest or terrorist activities (or expectations about them) can adversely affect our
members, consumer spending and confidence levels, supply availability and costs, as well as the local operations in impacted markets, all of which could have an adverse effect
on our results of operations and financial condition. We may also be forced to temporarily close centers due to any number of unforeseen circumstances, including as a result of
fire, flood, technical difficulties, shortage of employees, loss of power, a health and safety incident, social unrest, terrorist incident, natural disaster or an active shooting or other
violence. The severity and impact of center closures and center damage or destruction, and the cost to operate our centers, could increase as the climate and social environment
changes. That severity and impact could also be greater in the various geographical locations across the country where we operate multiple centers and as we expand. Any
prolonged closures may adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition and may also result in longer term reductions in revenue as a result of termination of
memberships at the affected centers. Our receipt of proceeds under any insurance we maintain with respect to some of these risks may be delayed or the proceeds may be
insufficient to cover our losses fully.
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We may incur rising or higher costs related to our business, including for construction of new centers, employees and maint e and operation of our existing centers. If
we are not able to pass these cost increases through to our members, our financial results may be adversely affected.

Our centers require significant upfront and ongoing investment. If our investment is higher than we had planned, including due to the macroeconomy as detailed above, or if our
investment takes longer to execute due to any number of reasons, we may need to outperform our operational plan to achieve our targeted return. Over the longer term, we
believe that we can offset cost increases by increasing our membership dues and other fees and improving profitability through cost efficiencies, but market and economic
pressures and higher costs in regions where we are opening new centers may be difficult to offset in the short term. Additionally, while we have been a company focused on
environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) matters from our formation, as we continue to develop and execute on our ESG initiatives, we could incur additional costs or
risks that adversely impact our business.

Our results of operations are subject to I and quarterly variations in our revenues and results of operations.

We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience, seasonal and quarterly variations in our revenues and results of operations. These variations are primarily related to
increased membership during the first quarter, as members tend to exercise more regularly at the beginning of each calendar year as a part of achieving goals that were set for
the upcoming year. We also experience increased membership in certain centers during the summer pool season and a slight increase in in-center business activity with summer
programming and operating expenses due to our outdoor operations. We then typically experience decreased membership and in-center business activity in the third and fourth
quarters.

Our quarterly results of operations may also fluctuate significantly as a result of a variety of other factors, including the timing of new center openings, changes in pricing and
revenues mix and changes in operating expenses. As a result of these seasonal and quarterly fluctuations, we believe that comparisons of our operating results between different
quarters within a single year are not necessarily meaningful and that these comparisons cannot be relied upon as indicators of our future performance.

QOur dependence on third-party suppliers for equipment and certain products and services could result in disruptions to our business and could adversely affect our
business, results of operations and financial condition.

Equipment and certain products and services needed for us to operate our business efficiently and to consistently meet our business requirements, including our exercise
equipment and certain of our software and hardware, are sourced from third-party suppliers. The ability of these third-party suppliers to successfully provide reliable and high-
quality services is subject to economic, technical and operational uncertainties that are beyond our control. Any disruption to our suppliers’ operations, or any inability by us to
identify and enter into agreements with alternative suppliers on a timely basis and on acceptable terms, could impact our supply chain and our ability to service our centers and
elevate our brand. Transitioning to new suppliers could be time-consuming and expensive and may result in interruptions in our operations. If any of these events occurs, it
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Risks Relating to Our Brand

QOur business depends on the quality and reputation of our brand, and any deterioration in the quality or reputation of our brand or the health, fitness and wellness
industry could materially adversely affect our market share, business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our brand and our reputation are among our most important assets. Our ability to attract and retain members and expand our business depends, in part, upon the external
perceptions of Life Time, the quality of our centers and services and our corporate and management integrity. Any adverse incidents, including any involving the potential
safety of our members, guests or employees, physical or sexual abuse or other harm to a child at any of our children play areas or events or negative publicity regarding us, our
competitors or the health, fitness and wellness industry, may damage our brand and our reputation, cause a loss of consumer confidence in Life Time and our industry and could
have an adverse effect on our market share, business, results of operations and financial condition.

Use of social media platforms, and email, text messaging, phone and social media marketing, may adversely impact our reputation, business, results of operations, and
financial condition or subject us to fines or other penallties.

There has been a substantial increase in the use of social media platforms. Negative commentary about us or calls for collective action against us, such as boycotts, may be

posted on social media platforms or similar devices at any time to a broad audience and may harm our brand, reputation or business without affording us an opportunity for
redress or correction in a timely manner
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or at all. Consumers value readily available information about health, fitness and wellness and often act on such information without further investigation and without regard to
its accuracy.

We also use email, text messaging, phone and social medial platforms as marketing tools. As laws and regulations rapidly evolve to govern the use of these platforms and
devices, the failure by us, our employees or third parties acting at our direction to abide by applicable laws and regulations in the use of these platforms and devices could
adversely impact our business, results of operations and financial condition or subject us to fines or other penalties.

Our intellectual property rights may be inadequate to protect our business or may be infringed, misappropriated or challenged by others. We may also become involved in
costly litigation or be required to pay royalties or fees.

We attempt to protect our intellectual property rights through a combination of patent, trademark, copyright and trade secret laws, as well as licensing agreements and third-
party nondisclosure and assignment agreements. Our failure to obtain or maintain adequate protection of our intellectual property rights for any reason, whether in the United
States or internationally, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We rely on our trademarks, trade names and brand names to distinguish our products and services from the products and services of our competitors, and we have registered or
applied to register many of these trademarks. There is no assurance that our trademark applications will be approved in the United States or internationally. Third parties may
also oppose our trademark applications, or otherwise challenge our use of the trademarks. In the event that our trademarks are successfully challenged, we could be forced to
rebrand our products or services, which could result in loss of brand recognition, and could require us to devote resources to advertising and marketing new brands and to
replacing products. In particular, although we own a United States federal trademark registration for use of the LIFE TIME® mark in the field of health and fitness centers, we
are aware of entities in certain locations around the country and internationally that use LIFE TIME FITNESS, LIFE TIME or other similar marks in connection with goods and
services related to health, fitness and wellness, including dietary food supplements. The rights of these entities in such marks may predate our rights. Accordingly, if we open
any centers or otherwise operate in the areas in which these parties operate, we may be required to pay royalties or other fees or may be prevented from using the mark in such
areas. Furthermore, if any third party were to successfully seek cancellation of our federal trademark registrations, we may be prevented from using such marks throughout the
United States.

Further, there is no assurance that competitors or other businesses will not infringe on our trademarks or other intellectual property rights or that we will not have disputes with
third parties to enforce our intellectual property rights, protect our trademarks, determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others or defend ourselves from
claims of infringement, invalidity, misappropriation or unenforceability. In the event of any such infringement or claimed infringement, the value of our brand may be harmed
and we may be required to incur substantial costs and divert resources to pursue, or defend against, any claim. Additionally, any damage to our brand or reputation could cause
membership levels to decline and make it more difficult to attract new members. If we were to fail to successfully defend a claim against us, we may have to pay significant fees
(and fines and penalties) and enter into royalty or licensing agreements, we may be prevented from using the intellectual property within certain markets in connection with
goods and services that are material to our business or we may be unable to prevent a third party from using our intellectual property. Any such failure to successfully protect
our intellectual property rights, or to defend against any claims or infringement, invalidity, misappropriation or unenforceability, for any reason, could have an adverse effect on
our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Risks Relating to the Growth of Our Business

If we are unable to identify and acquire or lease suitable sites for centers or if we face increased construction and development costs, our revenue growth rate and profits
may be negatively impacted. Our center profitability may decline as we open new centers.

To successfully expand our business, we must identify and acquire or lease sites that meet the site selection criteria we have established. We may face significant competition
for sites that meet our criteria, and as a result, we may lose those sites, our competitors could copy our format or we could be forced to pay significantly higher prices for those
sites. Additionally, as we partner with real estate developers in mall/retail and residential tower locations, their timeline and ability to move forward may differ from ours. If we
are unable to cost-effectively identify and acquire or lease sites for new centers, our revenue growth rate and profits may be negatively impacted. Additionally, if our analysis of
the suitability of a site is incorrect or if we do not anticipate all of the challenges relating to the expansion of our operations, we may not be able to expand profitably or recover
our capital investment in developing and building the new center on the timeline or at the rate we expected. Any of these results could have a negative impact on our revenue
growth rate and profits.
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Our current focus for new centers continues to include wealthier demographic locations, including in urban and coastal markets and at mall/retail and residential tower locations.
If we are unable to leverage our brand and what we bring to these markets and locations, we may be required to pay relatively higher costs for land or lease payments. We could
also have increased construction costs and higher development costs to offer more luxurious amenities and features within the new centers. We have also experienced escalating
construction costs more generally due to inflation. The higher gross invested capital and higher occupancy costs at these centers would require increases in the value of sale-
leaseback transactions or higher operating profits per center to produce our targeted level of return. At the same time, however, a result of opening new centers is that our center
operating margins may be lower than they have been historically while the centers build membership base. We expect both the increase in pre-opening expenses and the lower
revenue volumes characteristic of newly opened centers to affect our operating margins at these new centers.

Opening new centers in existing markets may attract some memberships away from other centers in those markets, thereby leading to diminished revenue and profitability. In
addition, as a result of new center openings in existing markets, and because older centers will represent an increasing proportion of our center base over time, our same-center
revenue increases may be lower in future periods than in the past.

Delays in new center openings could have an adverse effect on our growth.

A significant amount of time and expenditure of capital is required to develop and construct new centers. If we are forced to halt development or construction or if we delay
construction starts due to escalating construction costs or to manage capital expenditures or are otherwise significantly delayed in opening new centers, we could face increased
costs and our competitors may be able to open new centers in the same market before we open our centers or improve centers currently open. This change in the competitive
landscape could negatively impact our pre-opening sales of memberships and increase our investment costs. In addition, delays in opening new centers could hurt our ability to
meet our growth objectives and could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. Our ability to open new centers on schedule and on budget or
at all depends on a number of factors, many of which are beyond our control. These factors include:

*  obtaining acceptable financing including executing sale-leaseback transactions to fund construction of new sites;
*  obtaining entitlements, permits and licenses necessary to complete construction of the new center on schedule and to operate the center;
*  securing access to and the costs of labor and materials necessary to develop and construct our centers;

* delays or cost increases due to material shortages, labor issues, design changes, weather conditions, acts of God, pandemics or epidemics, discovery of contaminants,
accidents, deaths or injunctions;

*  recruiting, training and retaining qualified employees; and
«  general economic conditions.

Our growth and changes in the industry could place strains on our management, employees, information systems and internal controls, which may adversely impact our
business.

Our plans for current and future expansion and development, including an increase in the number of our centers, development of new businesses and memberships, expansion of
our “Healthy Way of Life” ecosystem and acquisitions of other businesses, as well as changes in the industry, may place significant demands on our administrative, operational,
financial, technological and other resources. Any failure to manage growth and development effectively could seriously harm our business. To be successful, we will need to
continue to develop technologically and implement management information systems and improve our operating, administrative, financial and accounting systems and controls.
We will also need to train new employees and maintain close coordination among our executive, accounting, finance, legal, human resources, risk management and operations
functions. These processes are time-consuming and expensive, increase management responsibilities and divert management attention.

We may incur significant costs in the development and implementation of new or re-imagined businesses or strategies with no guarantee of success.
In order to elevate and broaden member experiences, increase our revenue per center membership, remain competitive, respond to consumer demands and expand our business,

we have developed, and expect to continue to develop and re-imagine, in-center, digital and ancillary businesses and strategies as well as co-working and living spaces. We may
incur significant costs in
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the development or refinement of these businesses and strategies, some of which may be outside of our core competency. In addition, we cannot guarantee that these businesses
or strategies will be successful and contribute to earnings, and any of these businesses or strategies may lose money and have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and operating results.

We may be unable to successfully acquire or invest in suitable businesses or, if we do acquire or invest in them, that may disrupt our business, we may be unable to
successfully integrate the businesses into our existing business or the acquired assets may be subject to impairment, any of which may have an adverse effect on our results
of operations and financial condition.

In order to remain competitive and to expand our business, we have acquired or invested in, and expect to continue to acquire or invest in, complementary businesses and
centers. We may not be able to find suitable acquisition candidates or joint venture partners in the future. If we do find suitable candidates, we may not be in a financial position
to pursue the transactions or we may not be able to conduct effective due diligence or execute the transactions on favorable terms or at all. We may also have to incur debt or
issue equity securities to pay for any acquisition or investment, which could adversely affect our financial condition or dilute our stockholders.

If we do acquire other businesses, we cannot provide any assurances that we will be able to successfully integrate those businesses and integrating those businesses into our
existing business may place significant demands on our administrative, operational, financial and other resources and may require significant management time, which may
disrupt our other businesses. We may also need to invest significant capital into the acquired businesses or centers to deliver experiences consistent with the Life Time brand.
Our ability to acquire and integrate larger or more significant companies is unproven. Any failure to integrate an acquired business or center into our existing business could
have an adverse effect on our existing business, results of operations and financial condition.

Additionally, as we have acquired other businesses, we have recorded assets, liabilities and intangible assets at fair value at the time of acquisition. If the fair value of the long-
lived assets or intangible assets were determined to be lower than the carrying value, the assets would be subject to impairment, which could adversely affect our financial
results.

Risks Relating to Our Technological Operations
We rely on technology and may need to adapt to significant and rapid technological change in order to deliver connected and digital experiences and to compete effectively.

Technology is a key component of our business model and we regard it as crucial to our success moving forward. We increasingly use electronic and digital means to interact
with our members, provide services and products to our members and collect, maintain and store individually identifiable information. We use an integrated and proprietary
member management system to manage the flow of member information within each of our centers and between centers and our corporate office. We also continue to invest in
our mobile application and systems, which enable us to, among other things, enroll new members with an electronic membership agreement, streamline the collection of
membership dues electronically, capture digital pictures of members for identification purposes, offer online reservations, offer live streaming classes and capture and maintain
specific member information, including usage. While we seek to offer our members best-in-class technology solutions to ensure a smooth customer experience, we operate in an
environment that has undergone, and continues to experience, significant and rapid technological change. To remain competitive, we must continue to maintain, enhance and
improve the functionality, capacity, accessibility, reliability and features of our automated member interfaces and other technology offerings.

Our growth and success will depend, in part, on our ability to continue to elevate and broaden our member experiences, including through developing our omni-channel
ecosystem, licensing leading technologies, systems and use rights, enhancing our existing platforms and services and creating new platforms and services, and to respond to
member demands, technological advances and emerging industry standards and practices on a cost-effective and timely basis. The adoption of new technologies or market
practices may require us to devote significant additional resources to improve and adapt our services. We may also need to secure and maintain the rights to use music with our
content, which can be costly depending on the method we use to provide our content and may involve many third parties and navigating complex and evolving legal issues.
Keeping pace with these ever-increasing technological and use requirements can be expensive, and we may be unable to make these improvements to our technology
infrastructure or obtain the necessary use rights in a timely manner or at all. If we are unable to anticipate and respond to the demand for new services, products and technologies
on a timely and cost-effective basis, or to adapt to and leverage technological advancements and changing standards as successfully as our competitors, we may be unable to
compete effectively, which could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition. Furthermore, we may rely on the ability of our
members to have the necessary hardware products (smartphones, tablets, watches, etc.) to support our new product offerings. To the extent our members are not prepared to
invest or lack the necessary resources or infrastructure, the success of any new initiatives may be compromised.
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If we fail to properly maintain the operations, integrity and security of our systems and data or the data of our members, guests and employees, to comply with applicable
privacy laws, or to strategically implement, upgrade or consolidate existing information systems, our reputation and business could be adversely affected.

The operations, integrity and security of our systems and data and the data of our members, guests and employees is critical to us. Despite the security measures we have in
place and our continuous assessment and improvements, our facilities and systems, and those of our third-party service providers, may be vulnerable to security breaches, acts
of cyber terrorism, demands for ransom, vandalism or theft, computer viruses, misplaced or lost data, programming and/or human errors or other similar events. Because such
attacks are increasing in sophistication and frequently change in nature, we and our third-party service providers may be unable to anticipate these attacks or implement
adequate preventative measures, and any compromise of our systems, or those of our third-party providers, may not be discovered and remediated promptly. Changes in
consumer behavior following a security breach or perceived breach, act of cyber terrorism or sabotage, vandalism or theft, computer viruses, loss or corruption of data or
programming or human error or other similar event affecting us, a competitor, large retailer or financial institution may materially and adversely affect our business, which in
turn may materially and adversely affect our reputation, results of operations and financial condition. Our receipt of proceeds under any insurance we maintain with respect to
some of these risks may be delayed or the proceeds may be insufficient to cover our losses fully, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

Additionally, the collection, maintenance, use, disclosure and disposal of individually identifiable data by our businesses are regulated at the federal, state and foreign levels as
well as by certain financial industry groups, such as the Payment Card Industry Security Standards Council, NACHA, Canadian Payments Association and individual credit
card issuers. Some of this data is sensitive and could be an attractive target of a criminal attack by malicious third parties with a wide range of motives and expertise. Federal,
state and foreign regulators and financial industry groups have and may continue to also consider new privacy and security requirements that may apply to our businesses.
Compliance with evolving privacy and security laws, requirements and regulations may result in cost increases due to necessary systems changes, new limitations or constraints
on our business models and the development of new administrative processes. They also may impose further restrictions on our collection, disclosure and use of individually
identifiable information that are housed in one or more of our databases. Noncompliance with privacy laws, financial industry group requirements or a security breach involving
the misappropriation, loss or other unauthorized disclosure of personal, sensitive and/or confidential information, whether by us or by one of our vendors, could have adverse
effects on our business, operations, brand, reputation and financial condition, including decreased revenue, fines and penalties, increased financial processing fees,
compensatory, statutory, punitive or other damages, adverse actions against our licenses to do business and injunctive relief.

Moreover, any failure or unforeseen issues, such as bugs, data inconsistencies, outages, fires, floods, changes in business processes and other interruptions with our systems or
the systems of third-party vendors could adversely impact our business and member experiences and cause us to lose members. Disruptions or failures that affect our billing and
other administrative functions could also have an adverse effect on our results of operations. Correcting any disruptions or failures that affect our systems could be difficult,
time-consuming and expensive. Additionally, if we need to move to different third-party systems, or otherwise significantly modify our systems, our operations and member
experiences could be interrupted and negatively impacted.

Risks related to our acceptance of ACH, credit card, debit card and digital payments could harm our brand or our results of operations.

We accept payments through ACH, credit card, debit card and digital transactions. For such transactions, we pay interchange and other fees, which may increase over time.
Additionally, if we or any of our processing vendors have problems with our billing software, or the billing software malfunctions, it could have an adverse effect on our
member satisfaction and could cause one or more of the major companies to disallow our continued use of their payment products. If our billing software fails to work properly
and, as a result, we do not automatically charge our members’ credit cards, debit cards or bank accounts on a timely basis or at all, we could lose membership revenue, which
would harm our results of operations.

If we fail to adequately control fraudulent ACH, credit card, debit card and digital transactions, we may face civil liability, diminished public perception of our security

measures and significantly higher ACH, credit card and debit card related costs, each of which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.
The termination of our ability to process payments through ACH transactions or on any major credit or debit card would significantly impair our ability to operate our business.
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Risks Relating to Our Capital Structure and Lease Obligations

Our sub ial indebtedness and lease obligations, and the restrictive covenants in the documents governing such indebtedness and lease obligations, could adversely
affect our financial condition and prevent us from growing our business, taking certain actions, responding to changes in the economy or our industry or fulfilling our
obligations under our indebtedness and lease obligations.

As of December 31, 2022, we had total consolidated indebtedness outstanding of approximately $1,840 million, as detailed in Note 8—Debt, to our consolidated financial
statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report. For the year ended December 31, 2022, our interest expense, net of interest income was $114 million. Our annual
debt service obligation is expected to be approximately $121.5 million for 2023. Despite our level of indebtedness, we and our subsidiaries may still incur substantially more
debt, including secured debt. This could further exacerbate the risks described below and impair our ability to operate our business.

We also have significant property lease obligations. As of December 31, 2022, we had 156 leased properties, including 122 center leases (of which 11 are ground leases) and
centers under construction. For the year ended December 31, 2022, our rent expense was $245 million. In addition to minimum lease payments, some of our center leases
provide for additional rental payments based on a percentage of net sales, or “percentage rent,” if sales at the respective centers exceed specified levels, as well as the payment
of common area maintenance charges, real property insurance and real estate taxes. Many of our leases also have defined escalating rent provisions over the initial term and any
extensions. As we continue to execute on our asset light approach, including sale-leaseback transactions, we expect to lease, rather than own, the majority of our new centers in
the future.

The indentures governing our secured and unsecured notes and the credit agreement governing our senior secured credit facility contain a number of covenants imposing
significant restrictions on our business, including we are required to comply with a first lien net leverage ratio covenant under the revolving portion of our senior secured credit
facility. These restrictions may affect our ability to operate our business and may limit our ability to take advantage of potential business opportunities as they arise. Similarly,
since as a lessee we do not completely control the land and improvements underlying our operations, we may not be able to take certain actions that we desire or the lessors
under our leases could take certain actions to disrupt our rights in the centers we lease. Our ability to comply with these covenants may be affected by circumstances and events
beyond our control, such as prevailing economic conditions, pandemics or epidemics and changes in regulations, and there is no assurance that we will be able to comply with
such covenants.

Specifically, our high level of indebtedness and lease obligations, and the restrictions imposed thereby, could have material consequences, including:

»  making it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our indebtedness, and if we fail to comply with these requirements, an event of default could
result;

*  limiting our ability to obtain or guarantee additional indebtedness or make certain investments, which could impact our ability or flexibility to fund or execute on future
working capital, capital expenditures, our growth strategy including the development and construction of new centers, investments or acquisitions or other general
corporate requirements or business opportunities;

e requiring a substantial portion of our cash flows to be dedicated to debt service and lease obligations instead of other purposes, thereby reducing the amount of cash
flows available for working capital, capital expenditures, our growth strategy, investments or acquisitions and other general corporate purposes or business opportunities,
and restricting our ability to pay dividends or make distributions on our capital stock;

*  limiting our ability to incur liens, to sell assets, including capital stock of restricted subsidiaries, to agree to payment restrictions affecting our restricted subsidiaries, to
consolidate, merge, sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets or to enter into transactions with our affiliates;

* increasing our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;
»  limiting our flexibility in planning for and reacting to changes in the industry in which we compete and to changing business and economic conditions;
*  placing us at a disadvantage compared to other, less leveraged competitors and affecting our ability to compete; and

*  increasing our cost of borrowing or limiting our ability to refinance indebtedness.
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Additionally, a breach of any of the restrictive covenants could result in an event of default under the applicable indebtedness. Such a default may allow the creditors to
accelerate the related indebtedness and may result in the acceleration of any other indebtedness that is subject to an applicable cross-acceleration or cross-default provision. An
event of default under the credit agreement governing our senior secured credit facility would permit the lenders thereunder to terminate all commitments to extend further
credit under the facilities. Furthermore, if we were unable to repay the amounts due and payable under our secured indebtedness, those lenders or holders, as applicable, could
proceed against the collateral granted to them, including our available cash, to secure that indebtedness, subject to the provisions of the applicable intercreditor agreement. In the
event our lenders or holders of our secured or unsecured notes accelerate the repayment of our borrowings, we and our subsidiaries may not have sufficient assets to repay that
indebtedness. Similarly, a number of our leases, including those pursuant to the sale-leaseback transactions, may be terminated in the event of a breach and certain other
circumstances. The occurrence of any one of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and ability to grow our
business or satisfy our obligations.

Rates under our senior secured credit facility are variable and currently use LIBOR as a benchmark for establishing certain interest rates.

Borrowings under the revolving portion of our senior secured credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) and the term loan portion of our senior secured credit facility (the
“Term Loan Facility” and, together with the Revolving Credit Facility, the “Credit Facilities”) are at variable rates of interest and expose us to interest rate risk. If interest rates
were to increase, our debt service obligations on the variable rate indebtedness would increase even though the amount borrowed remained the same, and our net income and
cash flows, including cash available for servicing our indebtedness, would correspondingly decrease. Assuming no prepayments of the Term Loan Facility and that the
Revolving Credit Facility is fully drawn (and to the extent that LIBOR is in excess of the floor rate applicable to the Term Loan Facility), each one percentage point change in
interest rates would result in an approximately $7.5 million change in annual interest expense on the indebtedness under the Credit Facilities. In the future, we may enter into
interest rate swaps that involve the exchange of floating for fixed rate interest payments in order to reduce interest rate volatility or risk. However, we may not maintain interest
rate swaps with respect to any of our variable rate indebtedness, and any swaps we enter into may not fully or effectively mitigate our interest rate risk.

In addition, certain of our financial arrangements, including the Credit Facilities, use the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) (or metrics derived from or related to
LIBOR), as a benchmark for establishing the interest rate. While the Credit Facilities have a built-in mechanism to transition automatically from LIBOR as its benchmark, the
consequences of the end of LIBOR and any related developments cannot be entirely predicted and could have an adverse impact on the market value for or value of our LIBOR-
linked securities, loans and other financial obligations or extensions of credit held by or due to us. Changes in market interest rates may influence our financing costs, returns on
financial investments and the valuation of derivative contracts and could reduce our earnings and cash flows.

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service all of our indebtedness and lease obligations and may be forced to take other actions to satisfy our obligations,
which may not be successful.

We depend on cash flow from operations to pay our indebtedness and lease obligations. We also expect that we will need to refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness on or
before maturity, including the need to repay, refinance, replace or otherwise extend the maturity of the Term Loan Facility and our secured notes before the maturity of our
unsecured notes. Our ability to make scheduled payments on our indebtedness and lease obligations, to refinance our debt obligations or to negotiate favorable terms on new or
expiring leases depends on our financial condition and operating performance, which are subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to certain financial,
business, market, legislative, regulatory, environmental and other factors beyond our control. Our inability to generate sufficient cash flows to satisfy our debt and lease
obligations, or to refinance our indebtedness at comparable interest rates and on commercially reasonable terms or at all, or to renew our leasehold interests on their expiration
or on terms that are as favorable as the current terms, would materially and adversely affect our business, financial position and results of operations. We could also face
substantial liquidity problems and be forced to reduce or delay investments and capital expenditures or to dispose of material assets or operations, seek additional debt or equity
capital or restructure our indebtedness. We may not be able to effect any such alternative measures on commercially reasonable terms or at all and, even if successful, those
alternative actions may not allow us to meet our operating needs or our scheduled debt service obligations. If we cannot make scheduled payments on our debt and lease
obligations, we will be in default, and holders of our secured and unsecured notes could declare all outstanding principal and interest to be due and payable, our landlords could
declare us in breach and terminate the applicable lease(s), and the lenders under the Credit Facilities and our secured notes could foreclose against the assets securing their
borrowings and we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation.
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QOur ability to raise capital in the future may be limited.

Our business and operations may consume resources faster than we anticipate. We may need or choose to raise additional funds through the issuance of new equity securities,
debt or a combination of both. Additional financing may not be available on favorable terms, or at all. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable
to fund our capital requirements. If we issue new debt securities, the debt holders would have rights senior to common stockholders to make claims on our assets, and the terms
of any debt could further restrict our operations, including our ability to pay dividends on our common stock. If we issue additional equity securities, existing stockholders will
experience dilution, and the new equity securities could have rights senior to those of our common stock. Because our decision to issue securities in any future offering will
depend on market conditions and other factors beyond our control, we cannot predict or estimate the amount, timing or nature of our future offerings. Thus, our stockholders
bear the risk of our future securities offerings reducing the market price of our common stock and diluting their interest.

Risks Relating to Our Human Capital

If we cannot retain our key employees, hire additional highly qualified employees and optimize our support structure, we may not be able to successfully manage our
businesses, expand our margins and pursue our strategic objectives. We may also continue to face increased labor costs that could reduce our profitability.

We are highly dependent on the services of our senior management team and other key employees at both our corporate headquarters and our centers. Competition for such
employees is intense. Our inability to attract, retain, train and motivate qualified employees, including due to a significant portion of the equity awards granted to key employees
now being vested and exercisable, could reduce member satisfaction, harm our brand and reputation and adversely affect our operating efficiency and financial results. We have
implemented several initiatives to rewire the corporate and management support of our centers to operate more effectively and efficiently. Failure to operate as planned under
these new structures could adversely affect our business and reduce our expected margin expansion from these initiatives.

Staffing shortages, including for our centers and for key corporate and technology resources, could also hinder our ability to implement our business strategy and increase our
labor costs. Payroll costs are a major component of the operating expenses at our centers. We have experienced and may continue to experience a labor market that requires
higher wages, which places pressure on our profitability and margin expansion initiatives. Increases in minimum wage rates could also result in increased costs for us, which
may adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Attempts by labor organizations to organize groups of our employees or changes in labor laws could disrupt our operations or increase our labor costs.

Although none of our employees are currently covered under collective bargaining agreements, we may become subject to collective bargaining agreements, similar agreements
or regulations enforced by governmental entities in the future. Changes in the federal regulatory scheme could make it easier for unions to organize groups of our employees.
Unionization could hinder our ability to cross-train and cross-promote our employees due to prescribed work rules and job classifications. Labor regulations could also lead to
higher wage and benefit costs, changes in work rules that raise operating expenses and legal costs, and limit our ability to take cost saving measures. If relationships with our
employees or other personnel become adverse, our centers could experience labor disruptions such as strikes, lockouts and public demonstrations. These or similar agreements,
legislation or changes in regulations could disrupt our operations, reduce our profitability or interfere with the ability of our management to focus on executing our business and
operating strategies.

Risks Relating to Legal Compliance and Risk Management

We are subject to extensive goveri tal laws and regulations, and changes in these laws and regulations could have a negative effect on our results of operations and
financial condition.

Our operations are subject to various United States and foreign national, federal, state, provincial and local laws and regulations, including but not limited to the following:
*  consumer protection laws related to the advertising, marketing and sale of our products and services;
»  statutes that regulate the sale and terms of our membership contracts;

*  health or safety regulations related to various center operations, such as our Dynamic Personal Training, LifeCafe, LifeSpa, Life Time Swim and Life Time Kids;
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»  regulation or licensing of ancillary health, fitness and wellness-related products and services;

« licensing or other regulation of our service providers, such as cosmetologists, massage therapists and registered dietitians;
« environmental and workplace safety laws and regulations;

e laws and regulations on fair housing and accessibility;

* laws and regulations governing privacy and security of information; and

« wage and hour or other employment related laws and regulations.

Any changes in such laws or regulations or any failure by us to comply with such laws or regulations, including by any of our team members, could have an adverse effect on
our results of operations and financial condition. Additionally, as we expand our business and “Healthy Way of Life” ecosystem, including potentially offering our digital
membership or other services internationally, we could be exposed to new or incremental regulatory, economic and political risks in addition to those we already face in the
United States and Canada.

We could be subject to claims related to the construction or operation of our facilities and in the use or condition of our premises, facilities, equipment, services, activities
or products, which could have a negative effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Use of our premises, facilities, equipment, services, activities or products pose potential health or safety risks to members and guests. Claims may be asserted against us for loss,
injury or death suffered by someone (including a minor child) using our premises, facilities, equipment, services, activities or products. We could also face claims in connection
with the construction and remodel of our centers and other facilities, as well as claims related to environmental matters or remediation. While we carry insurance generally
applicable to such claims, we face exposure for losses within any self-insured retention or for uninsured damages.

We could also face claims for economic or other damages by members, guests or employees, including consumer protection, wage and hour, health center contract, or other
statutory or common law claims arising from our business operations. Such claims may be uninsured or the proceeds of our insurance coverages for such claims may be
insufficient to cover our losses fully. Depending upon the outcome, these matters may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

We could be subject to claims related to our health, fitness and wellness-related offerings or other claims, and the value and reputation of our brand may suffer.

We offer directly or through third parties a variety of health, fitness and wellness-related products and services, such as nutritional products, blood screenings and other fitness
assessments, health and fitness content and services, chiropractic services and medi-spa services. There is no assurance that there will be no claims against us related to these
services and products, including regarding the ingredients in, manufacture of or results of using our nutritional products, our provision of other health, fitness and wellness-
related services or our relationships with third parties. Furthermore, there is no assurance that any rights we have under indemnification provisions and/or insurance policies will
be sufficient to cover any losses that might result from such claims. Any publicity surrounding such claims may negatively impact the value of our brand.

In the ordinary course of conducting our business, we are exposed to claims that can have significant adverse effects upon our financial position, results of operations and cash
flows, including wage and hour claims and class action claims. See “Item 3—Legal Proceedings” in this Annual Report. At any given time, there may be one or more civil
actions initiated against us. If one or more of these pending lawsuits, or any lawsuits in the future, are adjudicated in a manner adverse to our interests, or if a settlement of any
lawsuit requires us to pay a significant amount, the result could have an adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows. In addition, any litigation,
regardless of the outcome, may distract our management from the operation of our business.
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We may not be able to maintain the required type or level of insurance coverage on acceptable terms or at an acceptable cost.
We may not be able to maintain insurance, including general liability and property insurance, on acceptable terms or maintain a level of insurance that would provide adequate
coverage against potential third-party liability, health and safety and other claims. An increase in the number of claims against health and fitness center operators generally or

against us in particular may cause the cost of insurance for the industry as a whole or us in particular to rise, and comprehensive insurance coverage may become more difficult
to attain. Any gaps in insurance or any increase in the cost of insurance may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Adbverse developments in applicable tax laws could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our effective tax rate
could also change materially as a result of various evolving factors, including changes in income tax law or changes in the scope of our operations.

We are subject to taxation in the United States at the federal level and by certain states and municipalities and foreign jurisdictions because of the scope of our operations. While
our existing operations have been implemented in a manner we believe is in compliance with current prevailing laws, one or more taxing jurisdictions could seek to impose
incremental or new taxes on us. In addition, jurisdictions in which we operate are actively considering significant changes to current tax laws, including increasing the corporate
income tax rate in the United States. Any adverse developments in tax laws or regulations, including legislative changes, judicial holdings or administrative interpretations,
could have a material and adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Finally, changes in the scope of our operations, including expansion to
new products or new geographies, could increase the amount and type of taxes to which we are subject, and could increase our effective tax rate.
Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Common Stock
Our share price may change significantly, and stockholders may not be able to resell our common stock at or above the price per share paid or at all.
The stock market has experienced volatility, and the trading price of our common stock has also experienced volatility. Stock volatility often has been unrelated or
disproportionate to the operating performance of particular companies. Additionally, the development of a trading market on the NYSE for our common stock and how active
and liquid that market may become may be impacted by the fact that certain of our existing stockholders who were stockholders before the IPO, who we collectively refer to as
the “Voting Group,” collectively held as of December 31, 2022, approximately 84.3% of the voting power of our common stock. If an active and liquid trading market does not
develop or continue, stockholders may have difficulty selling any of the shares of common stock that they purchased. Stockholders may also not be able to resell our common
stock at or above the price per share paid due to a number of factors, such as those listed in other portions of this “Risk Factors” section and the following:

«  results of operations that vary from the expectations of securities analysts and investors;

* if securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or if they downgrade our common stock or our industry;

»  results of operations that vary from those of our competitors;

«  changes in expectations as to our future financial performance and growth, including financial estimates and investment recommendations by securities analysts and
investors;

* investor perceptions of the investment opportunity associated with our common stock relative to other investment alternatives;
*  the public’s response to press releases or other public announcements by us or third parties, including our filings with the SEC;
»  guidance, if any, that we provide to the public, any changes in this guidance or our failure to meet this guidance; and

»  changes in accounting principles.
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These broad market and industry fluctuations may materially adversely affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual operating performance. In
addition, price volatility may be greater if the public float and trading volume of our common stock remain low.

In the past, following periods of market volatility, stockholders have instituted securities class action litigation. If we were involved in securities litigation, it could have a
substantial cost and divert resources and the attention of executive management from our business regardless of the outcome of such litigation.

We are controlled by certain of our stockholders, whose interests may not be aligned with yours.

The Voting Group is party to an amended and restated stockholders agreement with the Company (the “Stockholders Agreement”) and collectively held as of December 31,
2022 approximately 84.3% of the voting power of our common stock. The Voting Group includes investment funds affiliated with Leonard Green & Partners, L.P. and its
affiliates (“LGP”) and TPG Inc. and its affiliates (“TPG”), which collectively hold approximately 52.4% of the voting power of our common stock. Pursuant to the terms of the
Stockholders Agreement, certain members of the Voting Group are entitled to designate individuals to be included in the slate of nominees recommended by our board of
directors for election to our board of directors, subject to certain stock ownership thresholds set forth in the Stockholders Agreement, and the members of the Voting Group have
agreed to vote their shares of our common stock in favor of the election of such nominees. As a result, the Voting Group has the ability to elect all of the members of our board
of directors, and thereby, control our management and affairs, including virtually all matters requiring stockholder approval. The directors so elected have the authority, subject
to the terms of our indebtedness and applicable rules and regulations, to issue additional stock, implement stock repurchase programs, declare dividends and make other
decisions. Even if the Voting Group were to own or control less than a majority of our total outstanding shares of common stock, they will be able to influence the outcome of
corporate actions so long as they own a significant portion of our total outstanding shares of common stock.

It is possible that members of the Voting Group may have interests that are different from other stockholders and may vote in a way with which other stockholders may
disagree and that may be adverse to other stockholders’ interests. Further, members of the Voting Group may have differing views from each other, none of which may align
with other stockholders’ interests. In addition, the Voting Group’s concentration of ownership could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control or otherwise
discouraging a potential acquirer from attempting to obtain control of us, which could cause the market price of our common stock to decline or prevent our stockholders from
realizing a premium over the market price for their common stock.

Additionally, certain of the members of the Voting Group are in the business of making investments in companies and may from time to time acquire interests in businesses that
directly or indirectly compete with certain portions of our business or supply us with goods and services. Such members of the Voting Group may also pursue acquisition

opportunities that may be complementary to our business and, as a result, those acquisition opportunities may not be available to us or may be more expensive for us to pursue.

We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the NYSE rules and the rules of the SEC. As a result, we qualify for and are currently relying on exemptions from
certain corporate governance requirements that provide protection to stockholders of other companies.

As a result of the Voting Group owning a majority of our common stock, we are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the corporate governance standards of the
NYSE. Under these rules, a “controlled company” may elect not to comply with certain corporate governance requirements, including:

*  the requirement that a majority of our board of directors consist of “independent directors” as defined under the rules of the NYSE;

» the requirement that we have a compensation committee that is composed entirely of directors who meet the NYSE independence standards for compensation committee
members with a written charter addressing the committee’s purpose and responsibilities;

*  the requirement that our director nominations be made, or recommended to our full board of directors, by our independent directors or by a nominations committee that
consists entirely of independent directors and that we adopt a written charter or board resolution addressing the nominations process; and

*  the requirement for an annual performance evaluation of the nominating and corporate governance and compensation committees.
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We are currently relying on certain of the exemptions listed above, including that we do not currently have a nominating and corporate governance committee or compensation
committee that consists entirely of independent directors. We may also elect to rely on additional exemptions for so long as we remain a “controlled company.” As a result, in
the future our board of directors and those committees may have more directors who do not meet the NYSE’s independence standards than they would if those standards were
to apply. The independence standards are intended to ensure that directors who meet those standards are free of any conflicting interest that could influence their actions as
directors. Accordingly, stockholders may not have the same protections afforded to stockholders of other companies that are subject to all of the corporate governance
requirements of the NYSE.

Future sales, or the perception of future sales, by us or our existing stockholders in the public market could cause the market price for our common stock to decline.

The sale of our common stock in the public market, or the perception that such sales could occur, could harm the prevailing market price of our common stock. These sales, or
the possibility that these sales may occur, also might make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that we deem appropriate.

As of December 31, 2022, we had a total of 194,271,493 shares of common stock outstanding and the Voting Group held 163,820,107 shares, or approximately 84.3%, of our
common stock. The shares of our common stock held by the Voting Group are “restricted securities” under Rule 144 of the Securities Act and subject to certain restrictions on
resale. Restricted securities may be sold in the public market only if they are registered under the Securities Act or are sold pursuant to an exemption from registration such as
Rule 144. The Voting Group has certain registration rights under the Stockholders Agreement. Registration of any of these outstanding shares of common stock would result in
such shares becoming freely tradable without compliance with Rule 144 upon effectiveness of the registration statement.

If the Voting Group exercises its registration rights, the market price of our common stock could drop significantly if the holders of these shares sell them or are perceived by
the market as intending to sell them. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to raise additional funds through future offerings of our common stock or other

securities.

In addition, our shares of common stock subject to outstanding awards or reserved for future issuance under our 2021 Incentive Award Plan and our 2021 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan will become eligible for sale in the public market once those shares are issued, subject to provisions relating to various vesting agreements.

In the future, we may also issue our securities in connection with investments or acquisitions. The amount of our common stock issued in connection with an investment or
acquisition could constitute a material portion of our then-outstanding common stock. Any issuance of additional securities in connection with investments or acquisitions may

result in additional dilution to our stockholders and the securities issued may have rights that are senior to our common stock.

Some provisions of our charter documents and Delaware law may have anti-takeover effects that could discourage an acquisition of us by others, even if an acquisition
would be beneficial to our stockholders, and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws, as well as provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the
“DGCL”), could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us or increase the cost of acquiring us, even if doing so would benefit our stockholders, including transactions
in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These provisions include:
«  establishing a classified board of directors such that not all members of the board are elected at one time;
« allowing the total number of directors to be determined exclusively (subject to the rights of holders of any series of preferred stock to elect additional directors) by
resolution of our board of directors and granting to our board the sole power (subject to the rights of holders of any series of preferred stock or rights granted pursuant to
the Stockholders Agreement) to fill any vacancy on the board;

»  limiting the ability of stockholders to remove directors without cause;

« authorizing the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock by our board of directors, without further stockholder approval, to thwart a takeover attempt;
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«  prohibiting stockholder action by written consent (and, thus, requiring that all stockholder actions be taken at a meeting of our stockholders), if the Voting Group
collectively ceases to own, or no longer has the right to direct the vote of, at least 50% of the voting power of our common stock;

»  eliminating the ability of stockholders to call a special meeting of stockholders, except for LGP and TPG, so long as the Voting Group collectively owns, or has the right
to direct the vote of, at least 50% of the voting power of our common stock;

«  establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon at annual stockholder
meetings;

*  requiring the approval of the holders of at least two-thirds of the voting power of all outstanding stock entitled to vote thereon, voting together as a single class, to amend
or repeal our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or amended and restated bylaws if the Voting Group collectively ceases to own, or no longer has the right
to direct the vote of, at least 50% of the voting power of our common stock; and

» electing not to be governed by Section 203 of the DGCL.

These provisions could discourage, delay or prevent a transaction involving a change in control of our Company. They could also discourage proxy contests and make it more
difficult for stockholders to elect directors of their choosing and cause us to take corporate actions other than those which the stockholders desire.

We are exposed to risks relating to evaluations of controls required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

As a public company, we are required to evaluate our internal control over financial reporting in a manner that meets the standards of publicly traded companies required by
Section 404(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (“Section 404” and the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act,” respectively). Our internal control over financial reporting is currently
managed by an internal financial reporting team with support from a third-party service provider. The process of designing and implementing effective internal controls that we
manage is a continuous effort that requires us to anticipate and react to changes in our business and the economic and regulatory environments and to expend significant
resources to maintain a system of internal controls that is adequate to satisfy our reporting obligations as a public company. If we are unable to establish or maintain appropriate
internal financial reporting controls and procedures, it could cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations on a timely basis, result in material misstatements in our
consolidated financial statements and harm our results of operations. In addition, this Annual Report is our first that we are required, pursuant to Section 404, to furnish a report
by management on, among other things, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. The rules governing the standards that must be met for our
management to assess our internal control over financial reporting are complex and require significant documentation, testing and possible remediation. Our independent
registered public accounting firm may be required to issue an attestation report on effectiveness of our internal controls. We may encounter problems or delays in completing
the remediation of any deficiencies identified by our independent registered public accounting firm in connection with the issuance of their attestation report.

Our testing, or the subsequent testing by our independent registered public accounting firm, may reveal deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting that are
deemed to be material weaknesses. A material weakness in our internal controls could result in our failure to detect a material misstatement of our annual or quarterly
consolidated financial statements or disclosures. We may not be able to conclude on an ongoing basis that we have effective internal control over financial reporting in
accordance with Section 404. If we are unable to conclude that we have effective internal control over financial reporting, investors could lose confidence in our reported
financial information, which could have a material adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock.

We became a public company in October 2021 and are incurring increased costs as a result of operating as a publicly traded company, and our management is required to
devote substantial time to public company compliance initiatives.

As a publicly traded company, we are incurring additional legal, accounting, insurance and other expenses that we did not previously incur. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act,
the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the rules of the SEC, and the stock exchange on which our common stock is listed, have imposed various
requirements on public companies. Our management and other personnel devote a substantial amount of time to these compliance initiatives as well as investor relations.
Moreover, these rules and regulations increase our legal and financial compliance costs and make some activities more time-consuming and costly.
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QOur ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may become subject to limitation.

As of December 31, 2022, we had U.S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $393.8 million ($82.7 million tax effected) and $295.6 million ($16.9
million tax effected), respectively, and disallowed interest expense carryforwards under Section 163(j) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), of
approximately $143.4 million ($35.3 million tax effected). Our ability to utilize our federal net operating carryforwards and disallowed interest expense carryforwards (the “Tax
Attributes”) may become limited under Section 382 of the Code. The limitation applies if we experience an “ownership change,” which is generally defined as a greater than 50
percentage point change (by value) in the ownership of our equity by certain stockholders over a rolling three-year period. The amount of the annual limitation is generally
equal to the product of the applicable long-term tax exempt-rate (as published by the Internal Revenue Service for the month in which the “ownership change” occurred) and the
value of our outstanding stock immediately prior to the “ownership change.” If we have a net unrealized built-in gain in our assets immediately prior to the “ownership change,”
the annual limitation may be increased as certain gains are, or are treated as, recognized during the five-year period beginning on the date of the “ownership change.” Similar
provisions of state tax law may also apply to limit the use of our state net operating loss carryforwards. We may undergo an “ownership change” due to future transactions in
our stock, which may be outside of our control, and we cannot predict whether any future “ownership change” would result in a significant limitation on our ability to use our
Tax Attributes to offset our taxable income and adversely affect our future cash flows.

Non-U.S. holders who own more than 5% of our common stock may be subject to U.S. federal income tax on gain realized on the sale or other taxable disposition of such
stock.

Because we have significant ownership of real property located in the United States, we may be a “United States real property holding corporation” (“USRPHC”) for U.S.
federal income tax purposes, but we have made no determination to that effect. There can be no assurance that we do not currently constitute or will not become a USRPHC. As
a result, any beneficial owner of our common stock that is neither a “U.S. person” nor an entity treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes (a “Non-U.S.
Holder”) may be subject to U.S. federal income tax on gain realized on a sale or other taxable disposition of our common stock if such Non-U.S. Holder has owned, actually or
constructively, more than 5% of our common stock at any time during the shorter of the five-year period ending on the date of the sale or other taxable disposition or the Non-
U.S. Holder’s holding period in such stock.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

Item 2. PROPERTIES

We operate distinctive, resort-like athletic country club destinations in both affluent suburban and urban locations centered around major metropolitan areas in the United States
and Canada. As of December 31, 2022, we operated 161 centers in 29 states and one Canadian province, 57 of which were owned (including ground leases) and 104 of which
were leased. During 2022, we opened 10 new centers. Our luxurious athletic country clubs total approximately 16 million square feet in the aggregate and measure
approximately 99,000 square feet on average. They offer expansive fitness floors, spacious locker rooms, group fitness studios, indoor and outdoor pools and bistros, indoor and
outdoor tennis courts, pickleball courts, basketball courts, LifeSpa personal care services, LifeCafe healthy restaurants and child care and Kids Academy learning spaces.
Excluding renewal options, the terms of our leased centers, including ground leases, expire at various dates from January 2024 through December 2049. Including renewal
options, only seven of our 104 leases expire in the next 15 years. The majority of our leases have renewal options and a few grant us the right to purchase the property. Of our
57 owned properties, 24 are pledged as collateral under our senior secured credit facility as well as our secured notes, and 13 are pledged as collateral under our mortgage notes.

Our corporate headquarters, located in Chanhassen, Minnesota next to our Chanhassen center, is comprised of two 105,000 square foot, free-standing, three-story buildings that
we own.
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The table below contains information about our centers as of December 31, 2022:

Number of Number of Total Number Aggregate
Owned Centers Leased Centers of Centers Square Feet
United States:
Alabama 0 1 1 103,647
Arizona 2 4 6 638,776
California 3 2 5 453,933
Colorado 3 3 6 657,557
Florida 1 3 4 315,898
Georgia 3 4 7 668,827
Illinois 7 6 13 1,456,901
Indiana 2 0 2 122,956
Iowa 0 1 1 110,376
Kansas 1 1 2 222,190
Maryland 0 4 4 348,983
Massachusetts 0 6 6 687,568
Michigan 2 5 7 682,638
Minnesota 13 9 22 1,997,354
Missouri 0 2 2 236,990
Nebraska 0 1 1 115,030
Nevada 1 1 2 261,673
New Jersey 1 5 6 683,135
New York 2 7 9 686,346
North Carolina 1 3 4 375,252
Ohio 1 5 6 508,297
Oklahoma 0 2 2 237,769
Pennsylvania 0 3 3 310,170
Tennessee 0 2 2 228,625
Texas 10 17 27 2,668,283
Utah 0 1 1 108,925
Virginia 1 4 5 510,131
Washington 0 1 1 39,597
Wisconsin 0 1 1 126,423
Canada:
Ontario 3 0 3 400,435
Total Centers 57 104 161 15,964,685

In a few of our centers, we sublease space to third parties. The square footage figures above include those subleased areas. The center square footage figures exclude areas used
for tennis courts, outdoor swimming pools, outdoor play areas and stand-alone Life Time Work, Life Time Sport and Life Time Swim locations.

In addition to the centers listed in the table above, as of December 31, 2022, we had incurred$456 million of capital expenditures invested in future center development,

including 12 centers under construction. We also operate six facilities that we classify as satellite locations. These include tennis-only facilities that we own in Oakdale,
Minnesota; Centennial, Colorado; and Plano, Texas; along with leased small centers in Austin, Texas; Battery Park, New York; and Hackensack, New Jersey.
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Other Property Data:

December 31,
2022 2021 2020
(Number of centers)

Center age:

Open 1 to 12 months 10 6 3
Open 13 to 48 months 18 23 27
Open 48+ months 133 122 119
Total centers 161 151 149
Center ownership:
Own 32 33 34
Own/ground lease 11 11 11
Own/mortgaged outside of Credit Facilities 13 18 18
Joint venture 1 1 1
Leased 104 88 85
Total centers 161 151 149

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Life Time, Inc. et al. v. Zurich American Insurance Company— On August 19, 2020, Life Time, Inc., several of its subsidiaries and a joint venture entity, Bloomingdale Life
Time Fitness LLC (collectively, the “Life Time Parties™), filed a complaint against Zurich American Insurance Company (“Zurich”) in the Fourth Judicial District of the State
of Minnesota, County of Hennepin (Case No. 27-CV-20-10599) (the “Action”), seeking declaratory relief and damages under a property/business interruption insurance policy
with respect to Zurich’s failure to provide certain coverage to the Life Time Parties related to the closure or suspension by governmental authorities of their business activities
due to the spread or threat of the spread of COVID-19. On March 15, 2021, certain of the Life Time Parties filed a First Amended Complaint in the Action adding claims
against Zurich under a Builders’ Risk policy related to the suspension of multiple construction projects. The parties are currently in discovery. The Action is subject to many
uncertainties, and the outcome of the matter is not predictable with any assurance.

Other Legal Proceedings—We are also engaged in other proceedings incidental to the normal course of business. Due to their nature, such legal proceedings involve inherent
uncertainties, including but not limited to, court rulings, negotiations between affected parties and governmental intervention. We will establish reserves for matters that are
probable and estimable in amounts we believe are adequate to cover reasonable adverse judgments. Based upon the information available to us and discussions with legal

counsel, it is our opinion that the outcome of the various legal actions and claims that are incidental to our business will not have a material adverse impact on our consolidated
financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Such matters are subject to many uncertainties, and the outcomes of individual matters are not predictable with assurance.

Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
PART II

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information

Our common stock is listed on the NYSE under the symbol “LTH” and began trading on October 7, 2021. Prior to that date, there was no public market for our common stock.
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Holders

As of March 6, 2023, there were 26 holders of record of our common stock. The number of holders of record is based upon the actual number of holders registered at such date
and does not include holders of shares in “street name” or persons, partnerships, associates, corporations or other entities identified in security position listing maintained by
depositories.

Dividends

We do not currently expect to pay any cash dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. Instead, we anticipate that all of our earnings in the foreseeable future
will be used to support our operations and to finance the growth and development of our business. Any determination to declare or pay dividends in the future will be at the
discretion of our board of directors and will depend upon our results of operations, cash requirements, financial condition, contractual restrictions, restrictions imposed by
applicable laws and other factors that our board of directors may deem relevant. In addition, our business is conducted through our subsidiaries. Dividends, distributions and
other payments from, and cash generated by, our subsidiaries will be our principal sources of cash to repay indebtedness, fund operations and pay dividends. Accordingly, our
ability to pay dividends to our stockholders is dependent on the earnings and distributions of funds from our subsidiaries. The covenants in the indentures governing our secured
and unsecured notes and the credit agreement governing our senior secured credit facility significantly restrict the ability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends or otherwise
transfer assets to us.

Purchases of Equity Securities

During the fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, we did not purchase any of our equity securities that are registered under Section 12(b) of the Exchange
Act.

Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the change in total cumulative stockholder return on our common stock for the period from the close of trading on October 7, 2021, which was
the first day our common stock began to trade publicly on the NYSE, to the end of fiscal 2022 relative to the performance of the S&P 500 Index, the S&P 400 Index and the
Russell 2000 (Total Return) Index. We include a comparison against the Russell 2000 (Total Return) Index because there is no published industry or line-of-business index for
our industry, and we do not have a readily definable peer group that is publicly traded. The graph assumes $100.00 is invested at the closing price of $17.75 for our common
stock on October 7, 2021.

The stock price performance shown below is not indicative of future performance. The performance graph shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or considered to be “filed”
with the SEC for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that Section, and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference
into any of the Company’s filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.
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Item 6. [RESERVED]

Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations together with our consolidated financial statements and the related
notes and other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual Report. Some of the information included in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this
Annual Report, including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, includes forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You
should review the “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors” sections of this Annual Report for a discussion of important factors that
could cause actual results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.

Overview
Initial Public Offering

On October 12, 2021, Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. consummated its initial public offering (“IPO”) of 39.0 million shares of its common stock at a public offering price of
$18.00 per share, resulting in total gross proceeds of $702.0 million before deducting the underwriting discounts and other offering expenses. The shares of its common stock
began trading on the NYSE under the symbol “LTH” on October 7, 2021. A registration statement on Form S-1 relating to the offering of these securities was declared effective
by the SEC on October 6, 2021. Additionally, on November 1, 2021, Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. consummated the sale of nearly 1.6 million additional shares of its
common stock at the IPO price of $18.00 per share pursuant to the partial exercise by the underwriters of their over-allotment option, resulting in total gross proceeds of
approximately $28.4 million before deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions.

Business

Life Time, the “Healthy Way of Life Company,” is a leading lifestyle brand offering premium health, fitness and wellness experiences to a community of nearly 1.4 million
individual members, who together comprise more than 776,000 memberships, as of December 31, 2022. Since our founding over 30 years ago, we have sought to continuously
innovate ways for our members to lead healthy and happy lives by offering them the best places, programs and performers. We deliver high-quality experiences through our
omni-channel physical and digital ecosystem that includes more than 160 centers—distinctive, resort-like athletic country club destinations—across 29 states in the United
States and one province in Canada. Our track record of providing differentiated experiences to our members has fueled our strong, long-term financial performance. In 2022, we
generated $1,823 million of revenue, a net loss of $2 million and $282 million in Adjusted EBITDA. In 2021, a year in which we experienced an initial recovery from the
impacts of COVID-19, we generated $1,318 million of revenue, a net loss of $579 million and $80 million in Adjusted EBITDA. In 2020, which was significantly impacted due
to the closure of our clubs by governmental authorities during the COVID-19 pandemic, we generated $948 million of revenue, a net loss of $360 million and $(63) million in
Adjusted EBITDA.

Our luxurious athletic country clubs, which are located in both affluent suburban and urban locations, total approximately 16 million square feet in the aggregate. As of
December 31, 2022, we had 12 new centers under construction, and we believe we have significant opportunities to continue expanding our portfolio of premium centers with
18 to 20 new centers over the next two years in increasingly affluent markets. We offer expansive fitness floors with top-of-the-line equipment, spacious locker rooms, group
fitness studios, indoor and outdoor pools and bistros, indoor and outdoor tennis courts, pickleball courts, basketball courts, LifeSpa, LifeCafe and our childcare and Kids
Academy learning spaces. Our premium service offerings are delivered by over 34,000 Life Time team members, including over 8,800 certified fitness professionals, ranging
from personal trainers to studio performers.

Our members are highly engaged and draw inspiration from the experiences and community we have created, as demonstrated by the 86 million visits to our centers in 2022,
69 million visits to our centers in 2021 and 48 million visits to our centers in 2020 despite the COVID-19 pandemic. We believe that no other company in the United States
delivers the same quality and breadth of health, fitness and wellness experiences that we deliver, which enabled us to consistently grow our annual membership dues and in-
center revenues for 20 consecutive years, prior to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, and now again as we emerge from the pandemic. We have been focused on returning
to consistent annual growth in our membership dues and in-center revenue. For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, our recurring membership dues and
enrollment fees represented 71%, 71% and 70%, respectively, of our total Center revenue, while our in-center revenue, consisting of Dynamic Personal Training, LifeCafe,
LifeSpa, Life Time Swim and Life Time Kids, among other services,
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represented 29%, 29% and 30%, respectively, of our total Center revenue. Our average revenue per center membership increased to $2,528 for the year ended December 31,
2022 as compared to $2,098 for the year ended December 31, 2021 and $1,317 for the year ended December 31, 2020, which demonstrates the significant value that our
members place on engaging with Life Time. As we continued to enhance and broaden the premium experiences for our members, we have strategically increased our
membership dues across most of our new and existing centers, particularly for our new member join rates. We believe we can continually refine our pricing as we deliver
exceptional experiences and find the optimal balance among the number of memberships per center, the member experience and maximizing our return for each center. We
expect average revenue per center membership to continue to increase compared to prior year as we add new members and open new centers in increasingly affluent markets.
We also expect our revenue to grow as our mature centers continue to ramp in their performance after the adverse effects from the COVID-19 pandemic.

With the strong recovery of our membership dues revenue, we have also been able to focus on margin expansion. We have begun to see margin improvements and believe we
have opportunities to continue to expand margins in 2023. We believe we can capture these opportunities as we benefit from higher dues revenue and as we continue to optimize
the roll-out of our strategic initiatives and improve the efficiency of our club operations and corporate office.

We offer a variety of convenient month-to-month memberships with no long-term contracts. We define a membership for our centers in two ways: Center memberships and
Digital On-hold memberships. A Center membership is defined as one or more adults, plus any juniors under the age of 14. Our base memberships provide individuals general
access (with some amenities excluded) to a selected home center and all centers with the same or lower base monthly dues rate. Our optimized pricing for a Center membership
is determined center-by-center based on a variety of factors, including geography, market presence, demographic nature, population density, competition, initial investment in
the center and available services and amenities. Among our base memberships, our standard multi-center access memberships include general access to our centers, including
the locker rooms (with locker and towel service), fitness floor, any child center and other benefits such as the Life Time app. Our signature multi-center access memberships
provide the benefits of a standard membership along with certain products, services or spaces that would otherwise be accessible only upon payment of additional dues or fees,
such as small group training and court time for certain racquet sports at certain centers. Certain of our centers are accessible only with a signature membership. Digital On-
hold memberships do not provide access to our centers and are for those members who want to maintain certain member benefits including our Life Time Digital membership
and the right to convert to Center membership without paying enrollment fees.

We have implemented several strategic initiatives as we continue to evolve our premium lifestyle brand in ways that elevate and broaden our member experiences and allow our
members to integrate health, fitness and wellness into their lives with greater ease and frequency. We believe these initiatives are driving significant increases in center usage
and higher memberships. These strategic initiatives include pickleball, Dynamic Personal Training, small group training such as Alpha, GTX and Ultra Fit, and our ARORA
community focused on members aged 55 years and older, where we have experienced a significant increase in our unique participants or total sessions. We also continue to
enhance our digital platform to deliver a true omni-channel experience for our members. Our Life Time Digital offering delivers live streaming fitness classes, remote goal-
based personal training, nutrition and weight loss support and curated award-winning health, fitness and wellness content. In addition, our members are able to purchase a wide
variety of equipment, wearables, apparel, beauty products and nutritional supplements via our digital health store. We are continuing to invest in our digital capabilities in order
to strengthen our relationships with our members and more comprehensively address their health, fitness and wellness needs so that they can remain engaged and connected
with Life Time at any time or place. Elevating our member experiences and delivering a connected and digital environment requires investment in our team members,
programs, products, services and centers. These investments may impact our short-term results of operations and cash flows as our investments in our business may be made
more quickly than we see the returns on our investments.

We also continue to expand our “Healthy Way of Life” ecosystem in response to the desire of our members to holistically integrate health and wellness into every aspect of their
daily lives. In 2018, we launched Life Time Work, an asset-light branded co-working model that offers premium work spaces in close proximity to our centers and integrates
ergonomic furnishings and promotes a healthy working environment. Life Time Work members also generally receive access to all of our resort-like athletic destinations across
the United States and Canada. At December 31, 2022, 11 Life Time Work locations were open and operating. Additionally, we have opened our first two Life Time Living
locations, which offer luxury wellness-oriented residences in close proximity to one of our athletic country clubs. Our Life Time Living offering is generating interest from new
property developers and presenting opportunities for new center development that we had not previously had. As we expand our footprint with new centers and nearby work
and living spaces, as well as strengthen our digital capabilities, we expect to continue to grow our omni-channel platform to support the “Healthy Way of Life” journey of our
members.
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We have continued to actively monitor the macroeconomic environment and its impact on our business, including with respect to inflation, interest rates, labor and supply chain
issues, as well as a potential economic recession The inflation rate continued to be elevated in 2022, which had an impact on our expenses in several areas, including wages,
construction costs and other operating expenses. These inflationary impacts have resulted in pressure on our margin performance and an increase in our capital expenditures.
The rising interest rate environment has also increased the cost of our Term Loan Facility and Revolving Credit Facility and may result in increased cap rates on future sale-
leaseback transactions. We anticipate fiscal year 2023 will continue to be a dynamic macroeconomic environment, including elevated levels of inflation and interest rates. We
remain focused on providing exceptional experiences to our members, while also focusing on center efficiencies and expense control given our recovery of a significant portion
of our center memberships and membership dues.

Components of Our Results of Operations

Total revenue

Total revenue consists of center revenue and other revenue (each defined below).

Center revenue

Center revenue consists of membership dues, enrollment fees and revenue generated within a center, which we refer to as in-center revenue. In-center revenue includes fees for
Dynamic Personal Training, aquatics and kids programming and other member services, as well as sales of products at our cafés, and sales of products and services offered at
our spas and tennis and pickleball programs.

Other revenue

Other revenue includes revenue generated from our businesses outside our centers, which are primarily media, athletic events and related services. Our media revenue includes
our magazine, Experience Life®, our athletic events revenue includes endurance activities such as running and cycling, and our related services revenue includes revenue from
our race registration and timing businesses. Other revenue also includes revenue generated from our Life Time Work and Life Time Living locations.

Center operations expenses

Center operations expenses consist of direct expenses related to the operation of our centers, such as salaries, commissions, payroll taxes, benefits, real estate taxes and other
occupancy costs (excluding rent), utilities, repairs and maintenance, supplies and pre-opening expenses.

Rent expense

Rent expense consists of both cash and non-cash expense related to our operating leases booked on straight-line basis over the lease term in accordance with GAAP.
Non-cash rent expense

Non-cash rent expense reflects the non-cash portion of our annual GAAP operating lease expense that is greater or less than the cash operating lease payments. Non-cash rent
expense for our open properties represents non-cash expense associated with properties that were operating at the end of each period presented. Non-cash rent expense for our
properties under development represents non-cash expense associated with properties that are still under development at the end of each period presented.

General, administrative and marketing expenses

General, administrative and marketing expenses include:

*  Costs relating to our centralized support functions, such as accounting, information systems, procurement, real estate and development and member relations, as well as
share-based compensation expense.

*  Marketing expenses, which primarily consist of marketing department costs and media and advertising costs to support and grow Center membership levels, in-center
businesses, new center openings and our businesses outside of our centers.
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* Indirect support costs related to the operation of our centers, including payroll-related expenses associated with our regional center management structure and in-center
business support.

Depreciation and amortization expense
Consists of depreciation and amortization for our depreciable long-live assets, including assets related to our owned centers.
Other operating (income) expenses

Consists primarily of expenses related to our other revenue, which is generated from our businesses outside of our centers. In addition, we record other non-recurring operating
expenses that we believe are not indicative of our core operating performance, as a component of other operating expenses.

Interest expense, net of interest income

Interest expense, net of interest income consists primarily of cash interest expense on borrowings and non-cash interest expense which includes the amortization of debt issuance
costs, partially offset by interest earned.

Equity in earnings (loss) of affiliates
Includes investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries which we account for using the equity method of accounting.
Benefit from income taxes

The benefit from income taxes consists of an estimate for U.S. federal, state and foreign income taxes based on enacted rates, as adjusted for allowable credits, deductions,
uncertain tax positions, changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities and changes in the tax law.

Net loss

Net loss consists of our total revenue, less our total operating expenses, and then adjusted for other (income) expenses and benefit from income taxes, as set forth on our
consolidated statements of operations.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

This discussion and analysis includes certain financial measures that are not presented in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States
(“GAAP”), including Adjusted EBITDA and free cash flow before growth capital expenditures and ratios related thereto. These non-GAAP financial measures are not based on
any comprehensive set of accounting rules or principles and should not be construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or non-recurring items.
In addition, these non-GAAP financial measures should be read in conjunction with our financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP. The reconciliations of the
Company’s non-GAAP financial measures to the corresponding GAAP measures should be carefully evaluated. We use Adjusted EBITDA as an important performance metric
for the Company. In addition, free cash flow before growth capital expenditures is an important liquidity metric we use to evaluate our ability to make principal payments on our
indebtedness and to fund our capital expenditures and working capital requirements.

Adjusted EBITDA

We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) before interest expense, net, provision for (benefit from) income taxes and depreciation and amortization, excluding the
impact of share-based compensation expense, (gain) loss on sale-leaseback transactions, capital transaction costs, legal settlements, asset impairment, severance and other items
that are not indicative of our ongoing operations, including incremental costs related to COVID-19.

Management uses Adjusted EBITDA to evaluate the Company’s performance. We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is an important metric for management, investors and
analysts as it removes the impact of items that we do not believe are indicative of our core operating performance and allows for consistent comparison of our operating results
over time and relative to our peers. We use Adjusted EBITDA to supplement GAAP measures of performance in evaluating the effectiveness of our business strategies, and to
establish annual budgets and forecasts. We also use Adjusted EBITDA or variations thereof to establish short-term incentive compensation for management.
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Free Cash Flow Before Growth Capital Expenditures

We define free cash flow before growth capital expenditures as net cash provided by (used in) operating activities less center maintenance capital expenditures and corporate
capital expenditures. We believe free cash flow before growth capital expenditures assists investors and analysts in evaluating our liquidity and cash flows, including our ability
to make principal payments on our indebtedness and to fund our capital expenditures and working capital requirements. Our management considers free cash flow before growth
capital expenditures to be a key indicator of our liquidity and we present this metric to our board of directors. Additionally, we believe free cash flow before growth capital
expenditures is frequently used by analysts, investors and other interested parties in the evaluation of companies in our industry. We also believe that investors, analysts and
rating agencies consider free cash flow before growth capital expenditures as a useful means of measuring our ability to make principal payments on our indebtedness and
evaluating our liquidity, and management uses this measurement for one or more of these purposes.

Adjusted EBITDA and free cash flow before growth capital expenditures should be considered in addition to, and not as a substitute for or superior to, financial measures
calculated in accordance with GAAP. These are not measurements of our financial performance under GAAP and should not be considered as alternatives to net income (loss)
or any other performance measures derived in accordance with GAAP or as an alternative to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities as a measure of our liquidity and
may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of other businesses. Adjusted EBITDA and free cash flow before growth capital expenditures have limitations as
analytical tools, and you should not consider these measures in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our operating results or cash flows as reported under GAAP.
Furthermore, we compensate for the limitations described above by relying primarily on our GAAP results and using Adjusted EBITDA and free cash flow before growth
capital expenditures only for supplemental purposes. See our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report for our GAAP results.

Non-GAAP Measurements and Key Performance Indicators

We prepare and analyze various non-GAAP performance metrics and key performance indicators to assess the performance of our business and allocate resources. For more
information regarding our non-GAAP performance metrics, see “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” above. These are not measurements of our financial performance under
GAAP and should not be considered as alternatives to any other performance measures derived in accordance with GAAP.
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Set forth below are certain GAAP and non-GAAP measurements and key performance indicators for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020. The following
information has been presented consistently for all periods presented.

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020

($ in thousands, except for Average Center revenue per center
membership data)
Membership Data

Center memberships 725,206 649,373 500,948
Digital On-hold memberships 51,470 74,767 248,641
Total memberships 776,676 724, 140 749,589

Revenue Data

Membership dues and enrollment fees 70.7% 70.5% 70.0%
In-center revenue 29.3% 29.5% 30.0%
Total Center revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Membership dues and enrollment fees $ 1,251,693 $ 907,111 $ 651,116
In-center revenue 517,827 379,523 278,850
Total Center revenue $ 1,769,520 $ 1,286,634 $ 929,966
Average Center revenue per center membership () $ 2,528 % 2,098 $ 1,317
Comparable center sales ) 33.0% 35.3% (52.2)%
Center Data
Net new center openings ) 10 2 3
Total centers (end of period) ® 161 151 149
Total center square footage (end of period) @ 16,000,000 15,000,000 14,800,000
GAAP and Non-GAAP Financial Measures
Net loss $ (1,793)  $ (579,369) $ (360,192)
Net loss margin ®) 0.1)% (44.0)% (38.0)%
Adjusted EBITDA © $ 281,724  § 80,299 $ (62,966)
Adjusted EBITDA margin (© 15.5% 6.1 % (6.6) %
Center operations expense $ 1,068,208 $ 844,098 $ 660,046
Pre-opening expenses (7) 12,399 7,021 7,463
Rent 245,226 209,823 186,257
Non-cash rent expense (open properties) () 27,737 9,959 24,480
Non-cash rent expense (properties under development) ®) 10,797 12,643 12,625
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 200,969 (20,029) (95,981)
Free cash flow before growth capital expenditures () 19,226 (143,630) (197,441)

(1) We define Average Center revenue per center membership as Center revenue less Digital On-hold revenue, divided by the average number of Center memberships for the
period, where the average number of Center memberships for the period is an average derived from dividing the sum of the total Center memberships outstanding at the
beginning of the period and at the end of each month during the period by one plus the number of months in each period.

(2) We measure the results of our centers based on how long each center has been open as of the most recent measurement period. We include a center, for comparable center
sales purposes, beginning on the first day of the 13th full calendar month of the center’s operation, in order to assess the center’s growth rate after one year of operation.
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(3) Net new center openings is calculated as the number of centers that opened for the first time to members during the period, less any centers that closed during the period.
Total centers (end of period) is the number of centers operational as of the last day of the period. As of December 31, 2022, all of our 161 centers were open.

(4) Total center square footage (end of period) reflects the aggregate fitness square footage, which we use as a metric for evaluating the efficiencies of a center as of the end of
the period. The square footage figures exclude areas used for tennis courts, outdoor swimming pools, outdoor play areas and stand-alone Work, Sport and Swim locations.
These figures are approximations.

(5) Net loss margin is calculated as net loss divided by total revenue.

(6) We present Adjusted EBITDA as a supplemental measure of our performance. We define Adjusted EBITDA as net income (loss) before interest expense, net, provision for
(benefit from) income taxes and depreciation and amortization, excluding the impact of share-based compensation expense, (gain) loss on sale-leaseback transactions,
capital transaction costs, legal settlements, asset impairment, severance and other items that are not indicative of our ongoing operations, including incremental costs related
to COVID-19.

Adjusted EBITDA margin is calculated as Adjusted EBITDA divided by total revenue.

The following table provides a reconciliation of net loss, the most directly comparable GAAP measure, to Adjusted EBITDA:

Year Ended December 31,

($ in thousands) 2022 2021 2020

Net loss $ (1,793) $ (579,369) $ (360,192)
Interest expense, net of interest income @ 113,537 224,516 128,394

Benefit from income taxes (825) (140,344) (127,538)
Depreciation and amortization 228,883 235,124 247,693

Share-based compensation expense 37,291 334,339 —
COVID-19 related expenses (credits)(© 3,056 (1,589) 49,183

(Gain) loss on sale-leaseback transactions (9 (97,632) 2,380 (7,235)
Capital transaction costs (©) 255 2,904 96

Legal settlements — (44) 345

Asset impairments (&) — — 7,475

Other ® (1,048) 2,382 (1,187)
Adjusted EBITDA $ 281,724 $ 80,299 $ (62,966)

(a) During the year ended December 31, 2021, we incurred a non-cash expense of $41.0 million related to the extinguishment of our related party secured loan and
$28.6 million related to the write-off of debt discounts and issuance costs of our prior term loan facility, our previous senior unsecured notes and our related party
secured loan. In June 2020, we closed on an approximate $101.5 million secured loan from an investor group comprised solely of our stockholders or their affiliates.
The secured loan carried an interest rate of 12.0% and was scheduled to mature in June 2021. In January 2021, we extinguished the related party secured loan plus
accrued interest with a book value of $108.6 million by converting the loan into approximately 5.4 million shares of our Series A Preferred Stock, which had a fair
value of $149.6 million, as determined by an independent third-party valuation, at the time of conversion. Accordingly, we booked a $41.0 million loss upon
conversion.

(b) Share-based compensation expense recognized during the year ended December 31, 2022 is associated with stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units and
our employee stock purchase plan (“ESPP”) that launched on December 1, 2022. A significant portion of the share-based compensation expense that we recognized
during the year ended December 31, 2021 is associated with stock options that were granted prior to 2021. As of the effective date of the IPO in October 2021, these
stock options became fully vested, and they became exercisable either immediately or on April 4, 2022, subject to continued service through such date. Accordingly,
during the period from the effective date of the IPO through April 4, 2022, we recognized share-based compensation expense associated with these stock options in
an amount equal to the proportion of the total service period that passed from the respective grant dates associated with each of these stock option awards through
April 4, 2022. Because the exercisability of these stock options was contingent upon the occurrence of a change of control or an initial public offering, no share-
based compensation expense associated with these stock options was recognized prior to the IPO.
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©

(d

©

®

(8)
(h)

Represents the incremental net expenses (credits) we recognized related to the COVID-19 pandemic. We adjust for these costs (credits) as they do not represent costs
(credits) associated with our normal ongoing operations. We believe that adjusting for these costs provides a more accurate and consistent representation of our
actual operating performance from period to period. For the year ended December 31, 2022, COVID-19 related expenses primarily consisted of sitedevelopment cost
write-offs and legal-related costs in pursuit of our claim against Zurich. For more information regarding this claim, see Item 3, Legal Proceedings, in this Annual
Report. For the year ended December 31, 2021, COVID-19 related credits primarily consisted of the recovery of certain qualifying expenses under the CARES Act,
partially offset by COVID-19 legal-related costs in pursuit of our claim against Zurich. For the year ended December 31, 2020, COVID-19 related expenses
consisted of $27.0 million for site development cost write-offs for sites no longer deemed viable as a result of the economic downturn caused by COVID-19, $12.0
million for the employee portion of health care coverage which is normally paid by employees but was paid by us during this period on behalf of our employees, and
$10.2 million of emergency leave and non-working payroll, which includes subsequent recovery of certain expenses under the CARES Act, severance and charitable
contributions made to support our employees who were directly impacted by COVID-19.

We adjust for the impact of gains or losses on the sale-leaseback of our properties as they do not reflect costs associated with our ongoing operations. For details on
the gain on sale-leaseback transactions that we recognized during the year ended December 31, 2022, see “Sale-Leaseback Transactions” within Note 9, Leases, to
our consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Represents one-time costs related to capital transactions, including debt and equity offerings that are non-recurring in nature but excluding direct costs related to the
IPO which were netted against the proceeds of the IPO.

We adjust for the impact of large class action and unusual legal settlements paid or recoveries received. These are non-recurring in nature and do not reflect costs
associated with our normal ongoing operations.

Represents non-cash asset impairments of our long-lived and intangible assets.

Includes costs associated with severance and other transactions that are unusual and non-recurring in nature.

(7) Represents non-capital expenditures associated with opening new centers which are incurred prior to the commencement of a new center opening. The number of centers
under construction or development, the types of centers and our costs associated with any particular center opening can vary significantly from period to period.

®)

©

Reflects the non-cash portion of our annual GAAP operating lease expense that is greater or less than the cash operating lease paymentsNon-cash rent expense for our open

properties represents non-cash expense associated with properties that were operating at the end of each period presented. Non-cash rent expense for our properties under
development represents non-cash expense associated with properties that are still under development at the end of each period presented.

Free cash flow before growth capital expenditures, a non-GAAP financial measure, is calculated as net cash provided by (used in) operating activities less center

maintenance capital expenditures and corporate capital expenditures.

The following table provides a reconciliation from net cash provided by (used in) operating activities to free cash flow before growth capital expenditures:

Year Ended December 31,
($ in thousands) 2022 2021 2020
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 200,969 $ (20,029) $ (95,981)
Center maintenance capital expenditures (98,111) (61,932) (32,111)
Corporate capital expenditures (83,632) (61,669) (69,349)
Free cash flow before growth capital expenditures $ 19,226  $ (143,630) $ (197.,441)
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Factors Affecting the Comparability of our Results of Operations

Impact of COVID-19 on our Business
Overview

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of COVID-19 as a pandemic, the United States declared a National Public Health Emergency and we
closed all of our centers based on orders and advisories from federal, state and local governmental authorities regarding COVID-19. Throughout this Annual Report, including
this “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” when we refer to “COVID-19,” such as when we describe the “impact

of COVID-19” on our operations, we mean the coronavirus-related orders issued by governmental authorities affecting our operations and/or the presence of coronavirus in our
centers, including COVID-19 positive members or team members.

We re-opened our first center on May 8, 2020 and continued to re-open our centers as state and local governmental authorities permitted, subject to operating processes and
protocols that we developed in consultation with an epidemiologist (MD/PhD) to provide a healthy and clean environment for our members and team members and to meet
various governmental requirements and restrictions. Our centers were also impacted in 2021 as a result of the Delta variant and then again later in 2021 and into 2022 with the
Omicron variant. The performance of our centers has improved significantly as our centers have ramped back from the adverse impacts of COVID-19, but our improvement
has varied depending on various factors, including how early we were able to re-open them, whether we were required to close them again, their geographic location and
applicable governmental restrictions.

We have experienced a slightly faster recovery in our membership dues revenue compared to our in-center revenue. We expect membership dues revenue to remain a higher
percentage of our total revenue in the near term and return to more historical levels over time. We continue to be encouraged by our improved business performance, the traction
of our strategic initiatives and the diminishing negative impacts from COVID-19.

Operations

As of December 31, 2022, total memberships were 776,676, an increase of 7.3% compared to 724,140 at December 31, 2021. Center memberships were 725,206, an increase of
11.7% compared to 649,373 at December 31, 2021. Digital On-hold memberships were 51,470, a decrease of 31.2% compared to 74,767 at December 31, 2021. Center
memberships and Digital On-hold memberships were 500,948 and 248,641, respectively, at December 31, 2020, a time in which our business was significantly impacted by
COVID-19.

As 2022 progressed, we experienced a significant decrease in COVID-19-related restrictions on our operations. While we are still utilizing certain of the processes we
implemented to provide a healthy and clean environment for our members and team members, we are no longer subject to the stricter requirements such as face coverings,
vaccine mandates or negative test results. We will continue to monitor governmental orders regarding the operations of our centers, as well as our center operating processes and
protocols.

Cash Flows and Liquidity

We believe that the combination of our current cash position, our availability under the revolving portion of the Credit Facilities, the actions we have taken with respect to our
debt and equity and strengthening our balance sheet, as well as the actions we have taken to reduce our cash outflows, leave us well-positioned to manage and grow our
business as we emerge from the adverse impacts of COVID-19.

Investment in Business

We have continued to invest in our business to elevate and broaden our member experiences and drive additional revenue per center membership, including improving our in-
center services and products, such as pickleball, Dynamic Personal Training, small group training and our ARORA community, introducing new types of memberships,
providing concierge-type member services and expanding our omni-channel offerings. Elevating our member experiences requires investment in our team members, programs,
products, services and centers. These investments may impact our short-term results of operations and cash flows as our investments in our business may be made more quickly
than we achieve additional revenue per center membership. While we remain focused on providing exceptional experiences to our members and growing our revenue, we are
also focused on center efficiencies and expense control given our recovery of a significant portion of our center memberships and membership dues.
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Impact of Our Asset-light, Flexible Real Estate Strategy on Rent Expense

Our asset-light, flexible real estate strategy has allowed us to expand our business by leveraging operating leases and sale-leaseback transactions. Approximately 65% of our
centers are now leased, including approximately 90% of our new centers opened within the last five years, versus a predominantly owned real estate strategy prior to 2015. Rent
expense, which includes both cash and non-cash rent expense, will continue to increase as we lease more centers and will therefore impact the comparability of our results of
operations. The impact of these increases is dependent upon the timing of our centers under development and the center openings and terms of the leases for the new centers or
sale-leaseback transactions.

Macroeconomic Trends

We have been actively monitoring the macroeconomic environment and its impact on our business, including with respect to inflation, interest rates, labor and supply chain
issues, as well as a potential economic recession. See “—Overview—Business” for additional information.

Share-Based Compensation

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we recognized share-based compensation expense associated with stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units and our
ESPP that launched on December 1, 2022, totaling approximately $37.3 million. During the year ended December 31, 2021, we recognized share-based compensation expense
associated with stock options, restricted Series A Preferred Stock, restricted stock and restricted stock units totaling approximately $334.3 million, a significant portion of
which is associated with stock options that were granted prior to 2021. As of the effective date of the IPO, these stock options became fully vested, and they became exercisable
either immediately or on April 4, 2022, subject to continued service through such date. Accordingly, during the period from the effective date of the IPO througlApril 4, 2022,
we recognized share-based compensation expense associated with these stock options in an amount equal to the proportion of the total service period that passed from the
respective grant dates associated with each of these stock option awards through April 4, 2022. Because the exercisability of these stock options was contingent upon the
occurrence of a change of control or an initial public offering, no share-based compensation expense associated with these stock options was recognized prior to the IPO. For
more information on our share-based compensation arrangements, see Note 10, Stockholders’ Equity, to our consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this
Annual Report.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Ultimate
results could differ from those estimates. In recording transactions and balances resulting from business operations, we use estimates based on the best information available.
We revise the recorded estimates when better information is available, facts change, or we can determine actual amounts. These revisions can affect operating results. We have
identified below the following accounting policies and estimates that we consider to be critical.

Impairment of Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

We assess the recoverability of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, such as our Life Time trade name, on an annual basis, or more often if circumstances warrant.
We assess the recoverability of goodwill by estimating the fair value of the reporting unit to which the goodwill relates and comparing this fair value to the net book value of the
reporting unit. We assess the recoverability of the Life Time trade name through the use of the relief from royalty valuation method. If the fair value of goodwill or indefinite-
lived intangible assets is less than net book value, we reduce the book value accordingly and record a corresponding impairment loss. Our policy is to test goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment on October 1 of each year. The valuation of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets requires assumptions and estimates
of many critical factors, including revenue and market growth, operating margins, membership trends, strategic initiatives, royalty rates and discount rates. A significant change
in the factors noted above could cause us to reduce the estimated fair value of some or all of our reporting units or indefinite-lived intangible assets and recognize a
corresponding impairment of our goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets in connection with a future impairment test. Adverse changes in strategy, market conditions or
assumed market capitalization may result in an impairment of goodwill. Based upon our review and analysis, no material impairments of goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible
assets were deemed to have occurred during any of the periods presented.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We test long-lived asset groups for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the net book value of the asset group may not be recoverable. A long-lived asset
group may include property and equipment, finite-lived intangible assets and/or operating lease right-of-use assets. We consider a history of consistent and significant operating
losses, or the inability to recover net book value over the remaining useful life, to be our primary indicators of potential impairment. Judgments regarding existence of
impairment indicators are based on factors such as operational performance (including revenue and expense growth rates), market conditions and expected holding period of the
primary asset associated with each asset group. We evaluate long-lived asset groups for impairment at the lowest levels for which there are identifiable cash flows, which is
generally at an individual center or ancillary business level. The determination of whether impairment has occurred is based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows
directly related to that center or ancillary business, compared to the carrying value of the related assets. If an impairment has occurred, the amount of impairment recognized is
determined by estimating the fair value of these assets and recording a loss if the carrying value is greater than the fair value. Worsening operational performance, market
conditions or change in expected holding periods of each asset may cause us to re-evaluate the assumptions used in management’s analysis. Based upon our review and analysis,
no material impairments of long-lived assets were deemed to have occurred during any of the periods presented.

Sale-Leaseback Arrangements

We assess each of our sale-leaseback arrangements to determine whether a sale has occurred under Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”), as well as assess whether the classification of the lease and/or the payment terms associated with the renewal options preclude sale
accounting under ASC 842, Leases (“ASC 842”). These assessments involve a determination of whether or not control of the underlying property has been transferred to the
buyer. If we determine control of the underlying property has been transferred to the buyer, we account for the arrangement as a sale and leaseback transaction. If we determine
control of the underlying property has not been transferred to the buyer, we account for the arrangement as a financing transaction. Since our adoption of ASC 842, we have
accounted for each of our sale-leaseback arrangements as a sale and leaseback transaction.

For each sale-leaseback arrangement we have entered into with an unrelated third party since our adoption of ASC 842, the measurements associated with the gain or loss
recognized on the sale and the lease-related right-of-use assets and liabilities have been adjusted for off-market terms. These off-market adjustments are based on the difference
between the sale price of the property and its fair value. The determination of the fair value of the property related to our sale-leaseback arrangements requires subjectivity and
estimates, including the use of multiple valuation techniques and uncertain inputs, such as market price per square foot and assumed capitalization rates or the replacement cost
of the assets, where applicable. Where real estate valuation expertise is required, we obtain independent third-party appraisals to determine the fair value of the underlying asset.
While determining fair value requires a variety of input assumptions and judgment, we believe our estimates of fair value are reasonable.
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Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2022 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2021

The following table sets forth our consolidated statements of operations data (amounts in thousands) and data as a percentage of total revenue for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,
As a Percentage of Total
Revenue
2022 2021 2022 2021
Revenue:
Center revenue $ 1,769,520 $ 1,286,634 97.1 % 97.6 %
Other revenue 53,037 31,419 29 % 24 %
Total revenue 1,822,557 1,318,053 100.0 % 100.0 %
Operating expenses:
Center operations 1,068,208 844,098 58.6 % 64.0 %
Rent 245,226 209,823 134 % 159 %
General, administrative and marketing 213,976 480,543 11.7 % 36.5 %
Depreciation and amortization 228,883 235,124 12.6 % 179 %
Other operating (income) expenses (44,355) 43,653 2.4) % 33 %
Total operating expenses 1,711,938 1,813,241 939 % 137.6 %
Income (loss) from operations 110,619 (495,188) 6.1 % (37.6) %
Other income (expense):
Interest expense, net of interest income (113,537) (224,516) 6.2) % (17.0) %
Equity in earnings (loss) of affiliates 300 9) — % — %
Total other expense (113,237) (224,525) (6.2) % (17.0) %
Loss before income taxes (2,618) (719,713) (0.1) % (54.6) %
Benefit from income taxes (825) (140,344) — % (10.6) %
Net loss $ (1,793) $ (579,369) 0.1) % (44.0) %

Total revenue. The $504.5 million increase in Total revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended December 31, 202 primarily reflects the
strong growth in our membership dues and in-center revenues, which was driven by our pricing strategy, continued center membership recovery and higher utilization of our in-
center offerings by our members after the adverse impacts of COVID-19 and supported by strategic investments in our business, as well as the opening of 10 new centers during
the year ended December 31, 2022.

With respect to the $482.9 million increase in Center revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2021:

e 71.4% was from membership dues and enrollment fees, which increased $344.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2021. This increase reflects the improvement in our Center memberships, which increased to 725,206 as of December 31, 2022 from 649,373 as of
December 31, 2021, and the strong growth in our membership dues for the reasons noted above for Total revenue; and

e 28.6% was from in-center revenue, which increased $138.3 million as compared to the year ended December 31, 2021. This increase was recognized across all of our

primary in-center businesses and reflects the higher utilization of our services by our members as our operations continue to improve after the adverse impacts of
COVID-19, which has been supported by our strategic investments in our business.

47



Table of Contents

The $21.6 million increase in Other revenue for the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 was primarily driven by our athletic
events business, as we experienced a higher level of event participation during the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 when
COVID-19 had reduced our event participation rates. Also, we were able to produce more of our iconic events during the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year
ended December 31, 2021 when COVID-19 restrictions forced the cancellation of certain of our events.

Center operations expenses. The $224.1 million increase in Center operations expenses for the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended December 31,
2021 was primarily driven by increased staffing requirements resulting from increased usage of our centers and strategic investments in our business during the year ended
December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2021, the opening of 10 new centers during the year ended December 31, 2022, as well as higher labor and
utility costs due to inflation during the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2021.

Rent expense. The $35.4 million increase in Rent expense for the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 was primarily driven by our
taking possession of nine properties since June 30, 2021 for future centers where we started incurring GAAP rent expense, most of which is non-cash, and the sale-leaseback of
nine centers during the year ended December 31, 2022.

General, administrative and marketing expenses. The $266.5 million decrease in General, administrative and marketing expenses for the year ended December 31, 2022 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 was primarily driven by a $283.3 million decrease in share-based compensation expense and a $6.2 million decrease in
incentive compensation expense, partially offset by a $6.9 million increase in overhead costs that were primarily labor-related to enhance and broaden our member services and
experiences, a $6.9 million increase in marketing and information technology expenses and a $2.3 million increase in public company-related expenses. For the year ended
December 31, 2022, General, administrative and marketing expenses included approximately $33.5 million of share-based compensation expense as compared to approximately
$316.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. A significant portion of the share-based compensation expense recognized during the year ended December 31, 2021 is
associated with stock options that were granted prior to 2021. As of the effective date of the IPO in October 2021, these stock options became fully vested, and they became
exercisable either immediately or on April 4, 2022, subject to continued service through such date. Accordingly, during the period from the effective date of the IPO through
April 4, 2022, we recognized share-based compensation expense associated with these stock options in an amount equal to the proportion of the total service period that passed
from the respective grant dates associated with each of these stock option awards through April 4, 2022.

Depreciation and amortization. The $6.2 million decrease in Depreciation and amortization for the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended December 31,
2021 consisted of $6.3 million lower depreciation, driven by the timing of sale-leaseback transactions, partially offset by $0.1 million higher amortization, driven by a facility
license associated with an outdoor enthusiast and bicycling event that we acquired during the third quarter of 2021.

Other operating (income) expenses. Other operating income for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $44.4 million as compared to Other operating expenses of $43.7 million
for the year ended December 31, 2021. The $88.1 million change was primarily attributable to the recognition of a $97.5 million gain on sale-leaseback transactions associated
with nine properties that were completed during the year ended December 31, 2022, partially offset by higher costs associated with our athletic events business, as we
experienced a higher level of event participation and we were able to produce more of our iconic events during the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2021.

Interest expense, net of interest income. The $111.0 million decrease in Interest expense, net of interest income for the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year
ended December 31, 2021 was primarily driven by a $41.0 million non-cash expense that was recognized during the year ended December 31, 2021 in connection with the
conversion of a related-party secured loan into Series A Preferred Stock, write-offs of debt issuance costs and original issuance discount costs totaling $28.6 million and a $5.7
million prepayment penalty related to the partial pay down of our Term Loan Facility, both of which were recognized during the year ended December 31, 2021 in connection
with extinguished debt instruments, as well as a lower average level of outstanding borrowings during the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2021.

Benefit from income taxes. The benefit from income taxes was$0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to $140.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021. The effective tax rate was 31.5% and 19.5% for those same periods, respectively. The decrease in benefit from income taxes for the year ended
December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 was primarily driven by a decrease in our loss before income taxes, partially offset by a decrease in the
valuation allowance associated with certain of our deferred tax assets.
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Net loss. As a result of the factors described above, net loss decreased by$577.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended December 31,
2021.

Year Ended December 31, 2021 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2020

The following table sets forth our consolidated statements of operations data (amounts in thousands) and data as a percentage of total revenue for the periods indicated:

Year Ended December 31,
As a Percentage of Total

Revenue
2021 2020 2021 2020

Revenue:

Center revenue $ 1,286,634 $ 929,966 97.6 % 98.1 %

Other revenue 31,419 18,413 24 % 1.9 %

Total revenue 1,318,053 948,379 100.0 % 100.0 %
Operating expenses:

Center operations 844,098 660,046 64.0 % 69.6 %

Rent 209,823 186,257 159 % 19.6 %

General, administrative and marketing 480,543 149,898 36.5 % 158 %

Depreciation and amortization 235,124 247,693 179 % 26.1 %

Other operating 43,653 63,634 33 % 6.7 %

Total operating expenses 1,813,241 1,307,528 137.6 % 137.8 %

Loss from operations (495,188) (359,149) (37.6) % (37.8) %
Other expense:

Interest expense, net of interest income (224,516) (128,394) (17.0) % (13.5) %

Equity in loss of affiliates 9) (187) — % — %

Total other expense (224,525) (128,581) (17.0) % (13.5) %

Loss before income taxes (719,713) (487,730) (54.6) % (51.3) %
Benefit from income taxes (140,344) (127,538) (10.6) % (13.3) %
Net loss $ (579,369) $ (360,192) (44.0) % (38.0) %

Total revenue. The $369.7 million increase in Total revenue for the year endedDecember 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 primarily reflects the
adverse economic impact that our center closures had on our business during the year ended December 31, 2020, and the timing of the subsequent reopening of our centers, as
well as pricing initiatives we implemented at the majority of our centers during the year ended December 31, 2021, which resulted in higher average Center membership dues
being charged to new members during the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020.

With respect to the $356.6 million increase in Center revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020:

e 71.8% was from membership dues and enrollment fees, which increased$256.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2020. This increase reflects the adverse economic impact that our center closures, which resulted from COVID-19, had on our business during the year
ended December 31, 2020 and the timing of the subsequent reopening of our centers, as well as pricing initiatives we implemented at the majority of our centers during
the year ended December 31, 2021, which resulted in higher average Center membership dues being charged to new members during the year ended December 31, 2021
as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020; and

*  28.2% was from in-center revenue, which increased $100.6 million as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020. This increase was recognized across all of our
primary in-center businesses and reflects the adverse economic impact that our center closures, which resulted from COVID-19, had on our business during the year
ended December 31, 2020 as well as the timing of the subsequent reopening of our centers.
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The $13.0 million increase in Other revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily driven by our athletic
events business, as we were able to produce several of our iconic events during the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 when
COVID-19 restrictions forced the cancellation of most of our events.

Center operations expenses. The $184.1 million increase in Center operations expenses for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended December 31,
2020 was primarily driven by increased staffing requirements resulting from the subsequent reopening of our centers and the addition of six new centers. Center operations
expenses for the year ended December 31, 2021 also includes $12.9 million of share-based compensation expense, a significant portion of which is associated with stock
options that were granted prior to 2021. For more information regarding share-based compensation expense that we recognized during the year ended December 31, 2021, see
“—QGeneral, administrative and marketing expenses” below.

Rent expense. The $23.5 million increase in Rent expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily driven by the
sale-leaseback of two centers occurring during the year ended December 31, 2021, the sale-leaseback of three centers that occurred during the fourth quarter 02020, and our
taking possession of nine properties during the year ended December 31, 2021 for future centers where we started incurring GAAP rent expense, most of which is non-cash.

General, administrative and marketing expenses. The $330.6 million increase in General, administrative and marketing expenses for the year endedDecember 31, 2021 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily driven by a $316.8 million increase in share-based compensation expense, a $16.4 million increase in general and
administrative costs, primarily driven by the return of corporate team members who were furloughed during the year ended December 31, 2020 as well as other costs to support
revenue growth, and a $5.7 million increase in marketing expenses, partially offset by a $9.9 million decrease in corporate COVID-19 related expenses. A significant portion of
the share-based compensation expense that we recognized during the year ended December 31, 2021 was associated with stock options that were granted prior to 2021. As of
the effective date of the IPO in October 2021, these stock options became fully vested, and they became exercisable either immediately or on April 4, 2022, subject to

continued service through such date. Accordingly, during the period from the effective date of the IPO through December 31, 2021, we recognized share-based compensation
expense associated with these stock options in an amount equal to the proportion of the total implied service period that passed from the respective grant dates associated with
each of these stock option awards through December 31, 2021. Because the exercisability of these stock options was contingent upon the occurrence of a change of control or
an initial public offering, no share-based compensation expense associated with these stock options was recognized prior to the IPO.

Depreciation and amortization. The $12.6 million decrease in Depreciation and amortization for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended

December 31, 2020 consists of $9.3 million and $3.3 million lower depreciation and amortization, respectively. The decrease in depreciation for the year endedDecember 31,
2021 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily driven by the timing of sale-leaseback transactions, as well as the reduction in the carrying value of
certain fixed assets associated with some of our leased centers and some of our ancillary businesses that resulted from impairment charges that we recognized during the fourth
quarter of 2020.

Other operating expenses. The $19.9 million decrease in Other operating expenses for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 was
primarily attributable to $30.3 million of project cost write-offs recognized during the year December 31, 2020 for sites that were no longer deemed viable for construction as a
result of COVID-19, partially offset by approximately $6.0 million higher costs associated with our athletic events business during the year ended December 31, 2021 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 as well as a $4.6 million increase in share-based compensation expense. The increase in costs associated with our athletic events
resulted from our ability to produce several of our iconic events during the year endedDecember 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 when COVID-19
restrictions forced the cancellation of most of our events. A significant portion of the share-based compensation expense is associated with stock options that were granted prior
to 2021. For more information regarding share-based compensation expense that we recognized during the year ended December 31, 2021, see “—General, administrative and
marketing expenses” above.

Interest expense, net of interest income. The $96.1 million increase in Interest expense, net of interest income for the year endedDecember 31, 2021 as compared to the year
ended December 31, 2020 was primarily driven by a $41.0 million non-cash expense recognized related to the conversion of our related party secured loan into Series A
Preferred Stock, write-offs of debt issuance costs and original issuance discount costs associated with extinguished debt instruments totaling $28.6 million and a $5.7 million
prepayment penalty related to partial pay down of our Term Loan Facility Additionally, the increase also reflects a
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relatively higher effective weighted average interest rate on an increased average level of outstanding borrowings during the year endedecember 31, 2021 as compared to the
year ended December 31, 2020.

Benefit from income taxes. The benefit from income taxes was$140.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to $127.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020. The effective tax rate was 19.5% and 26.1% for those same periods, respectively. The change in benefit from income taxes was primarily attributable to: (i)
an increase in our loss before income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the year endedDecember 31, 2020; (ii) a $41.0 million loss related to the
extinguishment of our related party secured loan that we recognized for GAAP purposes during the year ended December 31, 2021 that was not recognized for tax purposes; and
(iii) the recognition during the year ended December 31, 2021 of an increase in the valuation allowance to reduce the deferred tax asset associated with our net operating losses.

Net loss. As a result of the factors described above, net loss increased by $219.2 million for the year endedDecember 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended December 31,
2020.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liquidity

Our principal liquidity needs include the development of new centers, lease requirements and debt service, investments in our business and technology and expenditures
necessary to maintain and update or enhance our centers and associated fitness equipment and member experiences. We have primarily satisfied our historical liquidity needs
with cash flow from operations, drawing on the Revolving Credit Facility and through sale-leaseback transactions.

We have taken significant actions to improve our liquidity. During 2022, we completed sale-leaseback transactions associated with nine properties. During 2021, we refinanced
a significant portion of our outstanding debt and we completed a sale-leaseback transaction associated with two properties. For information regarding the refinancing actions we
took during 2021, see Note 8, Debt, to our consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report. For more information regarding the sale-leaseback
transactions that were consummated during 2022 and 2021, see Note 9, Leases, to our consolidated financial statements in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report. We continue to
explore potential sale-leaseback opportunities for a number of our properties.

Additionally, on October 12, 2021, we completed our IPO of 39.0 million shares of our common stock at a public offering price of $18.00 per share, resulting in total gross
proceeds of $702.0 million before deducting the underwriting discounts and other offering expenses. Additionally, on November 1, 2021, we consummated the sale of nearly 1.6
million additional shares of our common stock at the TPO price of $18.00 per share pursuant to the partial exercise by the underwriters of their over-allotment option, resulting
in total gross proceeds of approximately $28.4 million before deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions. On October 13, 2021, we paid down $575.7 million
(including a $5.7 million pre-payment penalty) of our Term Loan Facility with a portion of the net proceeds we received from the IPO. We used the remaining net proceeds
from the IPO, along with the additional net proceeds of approximately $27.1 million from the sale of the additional nearly 1.6 million shares of common stock, for general
corporate purposes. We believe the steps we have taken to strengthen our balance sheet and to reduce our cash outflows leave us well-positioned to manage our business.

As the opportunity arises or as our business needs require, we may seek to raise capital through additional debt financing or through equity financing. There can be no assurance
that any such financing would be available on commercially acceptable terms, or at all. To date, we have not experienced difficulty accessing the credit and capital markets;
however, volatility in these markets, particularly in light of the rising interest rate environment and any continued impacts of COVID-19 may increase costs associated with
issuing debt instruments or affect our ability to access those markets, which could have an adverse impact on our ability to raise additional capital, to refinance existing debt
and/or to react to changing economic and business conditions. In addition, it is possible that our ability to access the credit and capital markets could be limited at a time when
we would like or need to do so.

As of December 31, 2022, there were $20.0 million of outstanding borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility and there were $31.4 million of outstanding letters of credit,

resulting in total availability under our Revolving Credit Facility of $423.6 million. Total cash and cash equivalents, exclusive of restricted cash, at December 31, 2022 was
$25.2 million, resulting in total cash and availability under our Revolving Credit Facility of $448.8 million.
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The following table sets forth our consolidated statements of cash flows data (amounts in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 200,969 $ (20,029) $ (95,981)
Net cash used in investing activities (243,542) (269,919) (6,115)
Net cash provided by financing activities 36,798 288,399 87,395
Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents (353) ) (55)
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents $ (6,128) § (1,558) § (14,756)

Operating Activities

The $221.0 million increase in net cash provided by operating activities for the year December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 was primarily the
result of higher profitability, before the impact of non-cash share-based compensation expense, due to the recovery from the impact of COVID-19 on our business.

The $76.0 million decrease in net cash used in operating activities for the year December 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily the result of
higher profitability, before the impact of non-cash share-based compensation expense, due to the recovery from the impact of COVID-19 on our business.

Investing Activities

Investing activities consist primarily of purchasing real property, constructing new centers, acquisitions and purchasing new fitness equipment. In addition, we invest in capital
expenditures to maintain and update our existing centers. We finance the purchase of our property and equipment through operating cash flows, proceeds from sale-leaseback
transactions, construction reimbursements and draws on our Revolving Credit Facility.

The $26.4 million decrease in net cash used in investing activities for the year December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 was primarily driven by a
higher amount of proceeds that we received from sale-leaseback transactions, partially offset by a higher level of new center construction activity during the year ended
December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2021.

The $263.8 million increase in net cash used in investing activities for the year December 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily driven by a
relatively higher level of new center construction activity and lower amount of proceeds we received from sale-leaseback transactions during the year ended December 31, 2021
as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020. Cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 also included a $9.1 million payment we made in
connection with the acquisition of the assets associated with an outdoor enthusiast and bicycling event.

The following schedule reflects capital expenditures by type of expenditure (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020
Growth capital expenditures, net of construction reimbursements (V) $ 409,435 $ 205,308 $ 164,157
Center maintenance capital expenditures 98,111 61,932 32,111
Corporate capital expenditures 83,632 61,669 69,349
Total capital expenditures $ 591,178  § 328,909 § 265,617

(1) Growth capital expenditures include new center land and construction, growth initiatives, major remodels of acquired centers and the purchase of previously leased centers.

The $262.3 million increase in total capital expenditures for the year endedDecember 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 was primarily driven by
higher growth capital expenditures for new centers, continued investments in technology and corporate capital expenditures related to Life Time Work.
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The $63.3 million increase in total capital expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily driven by higher
growth capital expenditures for new centers and center maintenance capital expenditures due to the reopening of our centers after the COVID-19 pandemic and our desire to
deliver the best places for our members as they returned.

Financing Activities

The $251.6 million decrease in net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2021 was primarily
driven by net proceeds we received from borrowings under our Term Loan Facility and our secured and unsecured notes during the year ended December 31, 2021.

The $201.0 million increase in net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2020 was primarily
driven by the $702 million of gross proceeds we received in connection with the IPO, offset by repayments of our Term Loan Facility and Revolving Credit Facility.

Cash Requirements

Our cash requirements within the next twelve months include accounts payable, construction accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities.
Our cash requirements greater than twelve months from various contractual obligations and commitments include:

Debt Obligations and Interest Payments

Refer to Note 8, Debt, to our consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report for further detail of our debt and the timing of expected future
principal and interest payments. We expect to pay approximately $129.7 million of interest in the next 12 months and approximately $281.4 million of interest beyond 12
months.

Operating and Finance Leases

Refer to Note 9, Leases, to our consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report for further detail of our lease obligations and the timing of
expected future payments.

Deferred Compensation Obligations

Refer to Note 14, Executive Nonqualified Plan, to our consolidated financial statements included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report for further detail of our deferred
compensation plans.

Contracted Services

Contracted services include agreements with third-party service providers forsoftware licenses and support, and marketing services. We expect to pay approximately $12.2
million for contracted services in the next 12 months and approximately $10.7 million beyond 12 months.

Capital Expenditures
Our primary capital expenditure requirements include growth capital expenditures, which include new center land and construction, growth initiatives and major remodels of
acquired centers, as well as maintenance capital expenditures to keep our centers operational and meeting our standards. As of December 31, 2022, we had 12 centers under

construction and $456 million of capital expenditures invested in future center development.

We expect to satisfy our short-term and long-term obligations through a combination of cash on hand, funds generated from operations, sale-leaseback transactions, the
borrowing capacity available under our Revolving Credit Facility and additional debt and equity financing as needed.
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Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business that include changes in interest rates and changes in foreign currency exchange rates. Information relating
to quantitative and qualitative disclosures about these market risks is set forth below.

Interest rate risk

Our cash consists primarily of an interest-bearing account at a large United States bank with limited interest rate risk. At December 31, 2022, we held no investments in
marketable securities.

We incur interest at variable rates under our Revolving Credit Facility. At December 31, 2022 there were $20.0 million of outstanding borrowings on the Revolving Credit
Facility and there were $31.4 million of outstanding letters of credit, resulting in total revolver availability 0f$423.6 million, which was available at intervals ranging from 30 to
180 days at interest rates ranging from LIBOR plus 4.00% or base rate plus 3.00%. Our Term Loan Facility is also subject to variable rates of LIBOR plus 4.75% or base rate
plus 3.75% and had an outstanding balance of $273.6 million at December 31, 2022.

Assuming no prepayments of the Term Loan Facility and that the Revolving Credit Facility is fully drawn (and that LIBOR is in excess of the floor rate applicable to the Term
Loan Facility), each one percentage point change in interest rates would result in an approximately $7.5 million change in annual interest expense on the indebtedness under the
Credit Facilities. We plan to replace LIBOR with Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) no later than June 30, 2023, and our Credit Facilities have a built-in
mechanism to transition automatically from LIBOR to SOFR.

Foreign currency exchange risk

We operate primarily in the United States with three centers operating in Canada. Given our limited amount of operations outside of the United States, fluctuations due to
changes in foreign currency exchange rates would not have a material impact on our business.
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Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Our internal
control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may
not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December
31, 2022, utilizing criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control—2013 Integrated Framework.

Based on our assessment, our management concluded that, as of December 31, 2022, our internal control over financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.

Management’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm,
as stated in their report appearing on the following page, in which they expressed an unqualified opinion.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Life Time Group Holdings, Inc.
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion,
the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control
— Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as
of and for the year ended December 31, 2022, of the Company and our report dated March 8, 2023, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over
financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk,
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those
policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company;
and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 8, 2023
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the stockholders and the Board of Directors of Life Time Group Holdings, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows, for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022, and
the related notes (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 8, 2023, expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our
audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be
communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging,
subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are
not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Sale-Leaseback Transactions — Refer to Notes 2 and 9 to the financial statements
Critical Audit Matter Description

As described in Note 9 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements, the Company entered into and consummated sale-leaseback transactions involving nine properties
with unrelated third parties during the year ended December 31, 2022. Under these transactions, the Company sold properties with a combined net book value of $285.8 million
for cash proceeds of $375.0 million, which was reduced by transactions costs of $1.8 million, for net cash proceeds of $373.2 million. The estimated fair value of the properties
sold was $385.1 million. Accordingly, the aggregate sales price associated with these arrangements was increased, for accounting purposes, by a total of $10.1 million, which
resulted in the recognition of a gain of $97.5 million on these transactions. The Company determined that the transactions qualified as sale-leaseback transactions in accordance
with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 842, Leases.

We identified management’s evaluation of whether the sale-leaseback transactions transferred control, was recognized timely, and at fair value, as a critical audit matter.

Management applies judgment in assessing relevant lease terms, provisions, and other conditions, including repurchase rights, included in the Company’s sale and lease
agreements to determine whether or not
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the control of the real estate property has transferred from the Company, the timing of the transaction, and the determination of fair value. Auditing these assessments made by
management involved challenging auditor judgment due to the extent of specialized skills or knowledge required.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
Our audit procedures related to sale-leaseback transactions included the following, among others:
»  Utilizing professionals with skills and knowledge to assist in: (i) assessing management’s application of ASC Topic 842 and (ii) evaluating relevant lease terms,
provisions and other conditions included in the Company’s sale-leaseback agreements to assess the appropriateness of the conclusion that a transfer of control has

occurred.

*  Evaluating whether the Company appropriately accounted for the sale by recognizing the transaction price for the sale at the time control is transferred, derecognizing the
carrying amount of the asset, and accounting for the lease in accordance with ASC Topic 842.

«  Utilizing professionals with specialized skills and knowledge in valuation to assist, for certain transactions, with assessing whether the overall transaction was at fair
value.

*  Recalculating the operating lease right-of-use asset and liability based on the terms of the agreement and calculated incremental borrowing rate.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 8, 2023

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2002.
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ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Center operating supplies and inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Income tax receivable
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Goodwill
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Intangible assets, net
Other assets

Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Construction accounts payable
Deferred revenue
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Current maturities of debt
Current maturities of operating lease liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current portion
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion
Deferred income taxes, net
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock, $0.01 par value per share, 500,000 shares authorized, 194,271 and 193,060 shares issued and outstanding,

respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

LIFE TIME GROUP HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share data)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

2022 2021
25,509 $ 31,637
13,381 6,464
45,655 41,007
45,743 48,883

748 3,533
131,036 131,524
2,901,242 2,791,464
1,233,176 1,233,176
2,116,761 1,864,528
173,404 174,241
69,744 61,742
6,625,363 $ 6,256,675
73,973 $ 71,308
125,031 83,311
36,859 33,871
154,427 147,920
15,224 23,527
51,892 46,315
457,406 406,252
1,805,698 1,775,719
2,162,424 1,909,883
41,393 55,213
34,181 18,216
4,501,102 4,165,283

1,943 1,931
2,784,416 2,743,560
(652,876) (651,083)

(9,222) (3.,016)
2,124,261 2,091,392
6,625,363 $ 6,256,675
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LIFE TIME GROUP HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Revenue:
Center revenue $ 1,769,520 $ 1,286,634 $ 929,966
Other revenue 53,037 31,419 18,413
Total revenue 1,822,557 1,318,053 948,379
Operating expenses:
Center operations 1,068,208 844,098 660,046
Rent 245,226 209,823 186,257
General, administrative and marketing 213,976 480,543 149,898
Depreciation and amortization 228,883 235,124 247,693
Other operating (income) expenses (44,355) 43,653 63,634
Total operating expenses 1,711,938 1,813,241 1,307,528
Income (loss) from operations 110,619 (495,188) (359,149)
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense, net of interest income (113,537) (224,516) (128,394)
Equity in earnings (loss) of affiliates 300 9) (187)
Total other expense (113,237) (224,525) (128,581)
Loss before income taxes (2,618) (719,713) (487,730)
Benefit from income taxes (825) (140,344) (127,538)
Net loss $ (1,793) $ (579,369) $ (360,192)
Loss per common share — basic and diluted $ 0.01) $ 3.73) $ (2.48)
Weighted-average common shares outstanding — basic and diluted 193,570 155,470 145,137

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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LIFE TIME GROUP HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020
Net loss $ (1,793) $ (579,369) $ (360,192)
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax of $0 (6,206) 214 1,422
Comprehensive loss $ (7,999) $ (579,155) $ (358,770)

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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LIFE TIME GROUP HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In thousands)
Retained Accumulated
Common Stock Additional Stockholder Earnings/ Other
Paid-in Note (Accumulated Comprehensive Total
Shares Amount Capital Receivable Deficit) Loss Equity

Balance at December 31, 2019 141,596 $ 1,416 $ 1,479,941 §$ (15,000) $ 288,478 $ (4,652) $ 1,750,183

Net loss — — — — (360,192) — (360,192)

Other comprehensive income — — — — — 1,422 1,422

Issuance of common stock 3,600 36 89,964 — — — 90,000
Balance at December 31, 2020 145,196 1,452 1,569,905 (15,000) (71,714) (3,230) 1,481,413

Net loss — — — — (579,369) — (579,369)

Other comprehensive income — — — — — 214 214

Share-based compensation — — 334,339 — — — 334,339

Settlement of accrued compensation liabilities through the

issuance of share-based compensation awards — — 3,843 — — — 3,843

Issuance of common stock in connection with the IPO and over-

allotment exercise, net of offering costs 40,582 406 700,961 — — — 701,367

Issuance of common stock in connection with Series A Preferred

Stock conversion 6,687 67 149,518 — — — 149,585

Issuance of restricted stock in connection with restricted Series A

Preferred Stock conversion 595 6 (6) — — — —

Cancellation of stockholder note receivable — — (15,000) 15,000 — — —
Balance at December 31, 2021 193,060 1,931 2,743,560 — (651,083) (3,016) 2,091,392

Net loss — — — — (1,793) — (1,793)

Other comprehensive loss — — — — — (6,206) (6,206)

Share-based compensation — — 37,291 — — — 37,291

Stock option exercises 363 4 3,751 — — — 3,755

Equity issuance costs — — (270) — — — (270)

Issuance of common shares in connection with the vesting of

restricted stock units 848 8 (562) — — — (554)

Settlement of accrued compensation liabilities through the

issuance of share-based compensation awards — — 646 — — — 646
Balance at December 31, 2022 194271  $ 1,943 $ 2784416 § — 8 (652,876) $ (9,222) $ 2,124,261

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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LIFE TIME GROUP HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss

(In thousands)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Deferred income taxes
Share-based compensation
Non-cash rent expense
Impairment charges associated with long-lived assets
(Gain) loss on disposal of property and equipment, net
Loss on debt extinguishment
Write-off of debt discounts and issuance costs
Amortization of debt discounts and issuance costs
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Other

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Capital expenditures
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Proceeds from sale-leaseback transactions
Proceeds from the sale of land held for sale
Other

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from borrowings
Repayments of debt
Proceeds from revolving credit facility
Repayments of revolving credit facility
Repayments of finance lease liabilities
Proceeds from financing obligations
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs
Proceeds from stock option exercises
Increase in debt discounts and issuance costs
Other

Net cash provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents — end of period

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
(1,793) $ (579,369) $ (360,192)
228,883 235,124 247,693
(13,560) (139,941) (99,910)
37,291 334,339 —
38,534 22,602 37,105
2,062 2,076 37,754
(99,974) 2,746 (7,130)

— 40,993 —

— 28,568 —
7,873 9,590 12,033
3,372 26,717 37,517
(1,719) (3,474) (851)
200,969 (20,029) (95,981)
(591,178) (328,909) (265,617)
— (9,529) (100)
351,850 73,981 235,660
— — 22,971
(4,214) (5,462) 971
(243,542) (269,919) (6,115)
20,084 1,907,577 116,583
(25,644) (2,178,004) (36,385)
805,000 159,000 573,902
(785,000) (253,000) (654,902)
(1,404) (1,514) (1,343)
21,350 — —
— 701,926 90,000
3,755 — —
@3) (47,586) (460)
(1,300) — —
36,798 288,399 87,395
(353) ©) (55)
(6,128) (1,558) (14,756)
31,637 33,195 47,951
25,509 $ 31,637 $ 33,195
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LIFE TIME GROUP HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Table amounts in thousands except per share data)

1. Nature of Business and Basis of Presentation
Nature of Business

Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. (collectively with its direct and indirect subsidiaries, “Life Time,” “We,” “Our,” or “the Company”) is a holding company incorporated in the
state of Delaware. Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. changed its name from LTF Holdings, Inc. effective on June 21, 2021. As a holding company, Life Time Group Holdings,
Inc. does not have its own independent assets or business operations, and all of our assets and business operations are through Life Time, Inc. and its direct and indirect
subsidiaries. We are primarily dedicated to providing premium health, fitness and wellness experiences at our athletic country club destinations and via our comprehensive
digital platform and portfolio of iconic athletic events — all with the objective of inspiring healthier, happier lives. We design, build and operate our athletic country club
destinations that are distinctive and large, multi-use sports and athletic, professional fitness, family recreation and spa centers in a resort-like environment. As of December 31,
2022, we operated 161 centers in 29 states and one Canadian province.

COVID-19 Impact

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) as a pandemic, the United States declared a National Public Health
Emergency and we closed all of our centers based on orders and advisories from federal, state and local governmental authorities regarding COVID-19. We re-opened our first
center on May 8, 2020 and continued to re-open our centers as state and local governmental authorities permitted. With the exception of our three Canadian centers, which were
temporarily closed during a portion of January 2022, all of our centers were open during 2022.

Initial Public Offering

On October 12, 2021, Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. consummated its initial public offering (“IPO”) 0£39.0 million shares of its common stock at a public offering price of
$18.00 per share, resulting in total gross proceeds of $702.0 million, which was reduced by underwriting discounts and other offering and issuance expenses of $28.0 million, of
which approximately $0.3 million was recognized during 2022, for net proceeds of $674.0 million. The shares of the Company’s common stock began trading on the New York
Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) under the symbol “LTH” on October 7, 2021. A registration statement on Form S-1 relating to the offering of these securities was declared
effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on October 6, 2021.

Upon consummation of the IPO, the 5.4 million shares of Series A Preferred Stock (as defined in Note 10, Stockholders’ Equity) then outstanding automatically converted into
approximately 6.7 million shares of common stock of Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. Also upon consummation of the IPO, the0.5 million shares of restricted Series A
Preferred Stock then outstanding converted into approximately 0.6 million restricted shares of common stock of Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. For more information
regarding the Series A Preferred Stock, see Note 10, Stockholders” Equity.

On October 13, 2021, we used a portion of the $674.0 million of net proceeds we received in connection with the IPO to pay down $75.7 million (including a $5.7 million
prepayment penalty) of our Term Loan Facility (as defined in Note 8, Debt). For more information regarding our Term Loan Facility, see Note 8, Debt.

On November 1, 2021, Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. consummated the sale of nearly1.6 million additional shares of its common stock at the IPO price of §8.00 per share
pursuant to the partial exercise by the underwriters of their over-allotment option, resulting in total gross proceeds of approximately $28.4 million, which was reduced by
underwriting discounts and other offering expenses of $1.3 million, for net proceeds of $27.1 million. We used these net proceeds, as well as the remaining portion of the net
proceeds we received in connection with the IPO after the partial pay down of our Term Loan Facility, for general corporate purposes.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation.

We account for all of our investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries using the equity method of accounting. We apply this method of accounting to our investments when we
have the ability to exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies of the investee. Our share of the investee’s earnings (losses) associated with our
investments in
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LIFE TIME GROUP HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Table amounts in thousands except per share data)

unconsolidated subsidiaries is included in Equity in earnings (loss) of affiliates in our consolidated statements of operations. $e “Other Assets” within Note 2 below for
additional information regarding our investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Segment Reporting

Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which separate financial information is available and that is regularly reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision
Maker (“CODM”) in deciding how to allocate resources to an individual segment and in assessing performance. The Company’s CODM is our Founder, Chairman and CEO.
Our CODM assesses financial performance and allocates resources based on the consolidated financial results at the total entity level. Accordingly, we have determined that we
have one operating segment and one reportable segment.

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) requires us to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. In recording transactions and balances resulting from business
operations, we use estimates based on the best information available. We revise the recorded estimates when better information is available, facts change or we can determine
actual amounts. These revisions can affect our consolidated operating results.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2021, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued Accounting Standard Update (“ASU”) 2021-10, “Government Assistance (Topic 832):
Disclosures by Business Entities about Government Assistance,” to increase the transparency of government assistance, including with respect to the disclosure of the types of
assistance an entity receives, an entity’s method of accounting for government assistance and the effect of the assistance on an entity’s financial statements. The amendments are
to be applied either (1) prospectively to all applicable transactions that are reflected in financial statements at the date of initial application and new transactions that are entered
into after the date of initial application or (2) retrospectively to those transactions. We adopted this ASU as of January 1, 2022 and applied it prospectively. The adoption of this
ASU did not have any impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

New Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting.” ASU
2020-04 provides optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to contract modifications, hedging relationships, and other transactions affected by reference rate
reform if certain criteria are met. In response to the concerns about structural risks of interbank offered rates (“IBORs”) and, particularly, the risk of cessation of the London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”), regulators in several jurisdictions around the world have undertaken reference rate reform initiatives to identify alternative reference rates
that are more observable or transaction-based and less susceptible to manipulation. ASU 2020-04 provides companies with optional guidance to ease the potential accounting
burden associated with transitioning away from reference rates that are expected to be discontinued. In January 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-01, “Reference Rate Reform
(Topic 848): Scope,” which provides implementation guidance associated with ASU 2020-04 and clarifies certain optional expedients in Topic 848. In December 2022, the
FASB issued ASU 2022-06, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848,” which defers the sunset date of Topic 848 from December 31,
2022 to December 31, 2024, after which entities will no longer be permitted to apply the relief in Topic 848. We plan to replace LIBOR with Term Secured Overnight
Financing Rate (“SOFR”) no later than June 30, 2023. We are still evaluating the impact of ASU 2020-04, but do not expect that the adoption of this ASU will have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects the transaction price consideration that we

expect to receive in exchange for those goods or services. We defer the revenue associated with any unsatisfied performance obligation until the obligation is satisfied (i.e.,
when control of the product is transferred to the customer or a service has been completed).
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Center Revenue

Center revenue consists of center membership and digital membership dues, enrollment fees and revenue generated within a center, which we refer to as in-center revenue. In-
center revenue includes fees for Dynamic Personal Training, aquatics, and kids programming, as well as sales of products at our cafés, and sales of products and services offered
at our spas and tennis and pickleball programs.

Revenue from product sales is generally recognized at the point of sale to the customer; however, revenue from our various service offerings received in advance of service
delivery is deferred and subsequently recognized when the services are provided. Dynamic Personal Training revenue received in advance of training sessions, as well as the
related sales commissions, are initially deferred and subsequently recognized when the sessions are delivered. Upon recognition, sales commissions associated with Dynamic
Personal Training sessions are included in Center operations in our consolidated statements of operations. Throughout the estimated redemption period associated with prepaid
sessions, we also recognize Dynamic Personal Training breakage revenue and the related commissions, using a method that is proportionate to the pattern of redemptions. We
estimate breakage based on historical redemption patterns.

Generally, we receive a one-time enrollment fee at the time a member joins. The enrollment fees are generally nonrefundable after seven days. Enrollment fees and related
direct expenses are deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over an estimated average membership life, which is based on historical membership experience. If the
direct expenses related to the enrollment fees exceed the enrollment fees for any center in a month, the amount of direct expenses in excess of the enrollment fees are expensed
in the current period instead of deferred over the estimated average membership life.

Other Revenue

Other revenue includes revenue generated outside of our centers, which are primarily media, athletic events and related services. Our media revenue includes our magazine,
Experience Life®, and the related advertising revenue is recognized over the duration of the advertising placement. Our athletic events revenue includes endurance activities
such as running and cycling, and our related services revenue includes revenue from our race registration and timing businesses. Athletic event revenue and race registration
revenue is recognized upon the completion of the event. Other revenue also includes revenue generated from our digital memberships and our Life Time Work and Life Time
Living locations.

For more information regarding revenue, see Note 6, Revenue.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We classify all unrestricted cash accounts and highly liquid debt instruments purchased with original maturities of three months or less as cash and cash equivalentsRestricted
cash of $0.3 million, which is used as collateral for our self-insured workers’ compensation and general liabilities claims under our captive insurance policy, was included in
cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2022.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable is presented net of allowance for doubtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $0.9 million and $0.9 million at December 31, 2022 and
2021, respectively.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value and are removed from the balance on a first-in-first-out basisThe reserve for obsolescence was approximately
$1.4 million and $1.3 million at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Property and Equipment

Property, equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded at cost. Improvements are capitalized while repair and maintenance costs are charged to operations when
incurred.

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over
the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful life of the improvement. Accelerated depreciation methods are used for tax reporting purposes.
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Site development capitalization commences when acquisition of a particular property is deemed probable by management. Should a specific project be subsequently deemed not
viable for construction, any capitalized costs related to that project are charged to operations at the time of that determination. Upon completion of a project, the site
development costs are classified as property and depreciated over the useful life of the asset. We capitalize interest during the construction period of our centers and this
capitalized interest is included in the cost of the building. Unpaid construction costs are included in Construction accounts payable on our consolidated balance sheets.

Business Combinations and Asset Acquisitions

We account for business combinations in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 805, “Business Combinations” (“ASC 805”). ASC 805 requires the
acquiring entity in a business combination to recognize all the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the transaction and establishes the acquisition-date fair value as the
measurement objective for all assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. The total consideration transferred in a business combination is allocated to the
assets acquired and liabilities assumed, including amounts attributable to non-controlling interests, when applicable, based on their respective estimated fair values as of the date
of acquisition. Goodwill recognized in a business combination represents the excess of consideration transferred over the estimated fair value of the net assets acquired in a
business combination. Certain provisions within ASC 805 prescribe, among other things, the determination of acquisition-date fair value of consideration paid in a business
combination (including contingent consideration) and the exclusion of transaction and acquisition-related restructuring costs from acquisition accounting.

When an acquisition does not meet the definition of a business combination because either: (i) substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a
single identifiable asset, or group of similar identified assets, or (ii) the acquired entity does not have an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to
the ability to create outputs, we account for the acquisition as an asset acquisition. In an asset acquisition, goodwill is not recognized, but rather, any excess purchase
consideration over the fair value of the net assets acquired is allocated on a relative fair value basis to the identifiable net assets as of the acquisition date and any direct
acquisition-related transaction costs are capitalized as part of the purchase consideration. For more information on the outdoor enthusiast and bicycling event that we acquired
during the year ended December 31, 2021, which we accounted for as an asset acquisition, see Note 5, Goodwill and Intangibles.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We test long-lived asset groups for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the net book value of the asset group may not be recoverable. We consider a history
of consistent and significant operating losses, or the inability to recover net book value over the remaining useful life, to be our primary indicators of potential impairment.
Assets are grouped and evaluated for impairment at the lowest level for which there are identifiable cash flows, which is generally at an individual center or ancillary business
level. The determination of whether impairment has occurred is based on an estimate of undiscounted future cash flows directly related to that center or ancillary business,
compared to the carrying value of these assets. If an impairment has occurred, the amount of impairment recognized is determined by estimating the fair value of these assets
and recording a loss if the carrying value is greater than the fair value.

During 2022, 2021, and 2020, we determined that certain projects were no longer deemed viable for construction, and that the previously capitalized site development costs
associated with these projects were impaired. During 2020, we also determined that the operating lease right-of-use assets and certain of the fixed assets associated with some of
our leased centers and some of our ancillary businesses were also impaired. Accordingly, we recognized impairment charges of $2.1 million, $2.1 million and $37.8 million
associated with these long-lived assets during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively, which are included in Other operating (income) expenses in our
consolidated statements of operations.

Goodwill

We test goodwill for impairment on an annual basis, or more often if circumstances warrant, by estimating the fair value of the reporting unit to which the goodwill relates and
comparing this fair value to the net book value of the reporting unit. Our policy is to test goodwill for impairment on October 1 of each year. If fair value of a reporting unit is
less than its carrying value, we reduce the carrying value accordingly and record a corresponding impairment loss. We have two reporting units: Centers and Corporate
Businesses. At both December 31, 2022 and 2021, out of the total goodwill balance of $1,233.2 million recognized on our consolidated balance sheets, $1,230.9 million has
been allocated to our Centers reporting unit and $2.3 million has been allocated to our Corporate Businesses reporting unit. At December 31, 2022, the estimated fair value of
our Centers reporting unit is in excess of its carrying value.
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Based upon our review and analysis,no goodwill impairments were deemed to have occurred during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020For more
information on goodwill, see Note 5, Goodwill and Intangibles.

Leases

We lease some of our centers, offices and other facilities, as well as other equipment. Excluding renewal options that are not reasonably certain to be exercised, our leases have
remaining contractual terms that primarily range from one year to 27 years. Most of the leases contain renewal options and escalation clauses, and certain of them include
contingent rental payments, determined based on a percentage of center-specific revenue and/or other center-specific financial metrics over contractually specified levels. Our
property leases require payment of real estate taxes, insurance and common area maintenance, in addition to rent. Our lease agreements do not contain any material residual
value guarantees.

Lease Cost

Lease cost associated with operating leases and short-term leases is recognized on a straight-line basis from the date we take possession of the property through the end of the
lease term. Finance lease right-of-use assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the underlying assets or the lease term. Interest
associated with finance lease liabilities is recognized using the effective interest rate method. Variable lease payments not recognized in the measurement of operating and
finance lease liabilities are expensed as incurred. For more information regarding lease cost included in our consolidated statements of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, see Note 9, Leases.

Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets and Liabilities

The measurement of each of our operating lease liabilities represents the present value of the remaining lease payments over the remaining lease term, discounted using an
appropriate incremental borrowing rate. The measurement of each of our operating lease right-of-use assets represents the related operating lease liability measurement
increased by, if applicable, prepaid rent, the fair value associated with the acquisition of a leasehold right and/or the fair value associated with the acquisition of a favorable
lease, and decreased by, if applicable, lease incentives, impairment charges and/or the fair value associated with the acquisition of an unfavorable lease.

For more information regarding the operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities that are recognized on our December 31, 2022 and 2021 consolidated balance sheets, see
Note 9, Leases.

Finance Lease Right-of-Use Assets and Liabilities

The measurement of each of our finance lease right-of-use assets and liabilities represents the present value of the remaining lease payments associated with the arrangement
over the remaining lease term, discounted using an appropriate incremental borrowing rate.

Finance lease right-of-use assets are included in Other assets on our consolidated balance sheets. The current and long-term portions of our finance lease liabilities are included
in Accrued expenses and other current liabilities and Other liabilities, respectively, on our consolidated balance sheets. For more information regarding the finance lease right-
of-use assets and liabilities that are recognized on our December 31, 2022 and 2021 consolidated balance sheets, see Note 9, Leases.

Sale-Leaseback Arrangements

We assess each of our sale-leaseback arrangements to determine whether a sale has occurred under ASC Topic 606:Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASC 606”), and
we assess whether the classification of the lease and/or the payment terms associated with the renewal options preclude sale accounting under ASC 842, Leases (“ASC 842”).
These assessments involve a determination of whether control of the underlying property has been transferred to the buyer. If we determine control of the underlying property
has been transferred to the buyer, we account for the arrangement as a sale and leaseback transaction. If we determine control of the underlying property has not been
transferred to the buyer, we account for the arrangement as a financing transaction. Since our adoption of ASC 842, we have accounted for each of our sale-leaseback
arrangements as a sale and leaseback transaction.
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For each sale-leaseback arrangement we have entered into with an unrelated third party since our adoption of ASC 842, the measurements associated with the gain or loss
recognized on the sale and the lease-related right-of-use assets and liabilities have been adjusted for any off-market terms. These off-market adjustments are based on the
difference between the sales price of the property and its fair value. When the sales price is less than the underlying property’s fair value, we recognize the difference as an
increase to the sales price and as an increase in the operating lease right-of-use asset. When the sales price is greater than the underlying property’s fair value, we recognize the
difference as a reduction to the sales price and as a financing obligation that is separate from the operating lease liability. We then allocate the payments due under the lease
between those associated with the operating lease liability and those associated with the financing obligation, in a manner that results in a zero balance at the end of the initial
lease term for both liabilities. The financing obligation is amortized using the effective interest method, and interest is calculated using the same incremental borrowing rate as
that used for purposes of measuring the related operating lease liability.

We account for sale-leaseback arrangements with related parties at their contractually stated terms. Accordingly, under these arrangements, the measurements associated with
the gain or loss recognized on the sale and the lease-related right-of-use assets and liabilities are not adjusted for off-market terms.

The determination of the fair value of the property related to our sale-leaseback arrangements is subjective and requires estimates, including the use of multiple valuation
techniques and uncertain inputs, such as market price per square foot and assumed capitalization rates or the replacement cost of the assets, where applicable. Where real estate
valuation expertise is required, we obtain independent third-party appraisals to determine the fair value of the underlying asset. While determining fair value requires a variety of
input assumptions and judgment, we believe our estimates of fair value are reasonable.

For more information regarding sale-leaseback transactions that were consummated during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, see Note 9, Leases.
Build-to-Suit Lease Arrangements

For some of our centers, we enter into build-to-suit lease arrangements related to the design and construction of a new center on the property. We evaluate build-to-suit lease
arrangements by first determining whether or not we control the underlying asset being constructed prior to the commencement date of the lease. If we determine that we do not
control the underlying asset during the construction period, we account for the arrangement as either an operating lease or a finance lease. If we determine that we control the
underlying asset during the construction period, we initially account for the arrangement as a financing transaction. For each of our build-to-suit arrangements, we have
determined that we either: (1) do not control the underlying asset currently under construction as of December 31, 2022; or (2) we did not control the underlying constructed
asset prior to the commencement date of the lease. Accordingly, we are accounting for each of our build-to-suit arrangements as an operating lease.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets at December 31, 2022 and 2021 include trade names, customer relationships anda facility license associated with an outdoor enthusiast and bicycling even.
For more information on intangible assets, see Note 5, Goodwill and Intangibles.

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Intangible assets that are determined to have an indefinite useful life, such as trade names, are not amortized but instead tested for impairment at least annually. Our policy is to
test indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment on October 1 of each year. We also evaluate these assets for impairment between annual tests if an event occurs or
circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangible asset below its carrying amount. If such a review should indicate
that the carrying amount of indefinite-lived intangible assets is not recoverable, we reduce the carrying amount of such assets to fair value. Based upon our review and analysis,
no indefinite-lived intangible asset impairments were deemed to have occurred during any of the periods presented.

Finite-Lived Intangible Assets
Finite-lived intangible assets are stated at cost, net of accumulated amortization, which is recorded on a straight-line or accelerated basis over the life of the asset. We review

finite-lived intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. If such a
review should indicate that
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the carrying amount of finite-lived intangible assets is not recoverable, we reduce the carrying amount of such assets to fair value. Based upon our review and analysisno
finite-lived intangible asset impairments were deemed to have occurred during any of the periods presented.

Other Assets

Other assets at December 31, 2022 and 2021 primarily consists of our executive nonqualified plan assets, our investments in unconsolidated subsidiaries, rent deposits and
unamortized debt issuance costs associated with the revolving portion of our senior secured credit facility.

Investments in Unconsolidated Subsidiaries

In 1999, we, together with two unrelated organizations, formed an Illinois limited liability company named Bloomingdale LIFE TIME Fitness L.L.C. (“Bloomingdale LLC”)
for the purpose of constructing and operating a center in Bloomingdale, Illinois. We currently account for our investment in Bloomingdale LLC using the equity method of
accounting.

In December 2019, we formed both a Delaware limited liability company named Dallas-Montfort Holdings, LLC (“D-M Holdings”) and a Delaware limited liability company
named Dallas-Montfort Property, LLC, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of D-M Holdings. Also in December 2019, we and an unrelated organization each became a holder
of 50% of the membership interests in D-M Holdings in exchange for a cash capital contribution. These capital contributions were made in connection with the acquisition of a
property in Texas. There was no operating activity associated with D-M Holdings during the years endedDecember 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020. We currently account for our
investment in D-M Holdings using the equity method of accounting.

In addition to our investments in Bloomingdale LLC and D-M Holdings, we also have investments in various other unconsolidated subsidiaries. The amounts we have currently
invested in each of these unconsolidated subsidiaries is not material. We currently account for each of these investments using the equity method of accounting.

Debt Discounts and Issuance Costs
Debt discounts and issuance costs are amortized over the periods of the related debt financing. We recognize and present issuance costs associated with revolving debt
arrangements as an asset and include the unamortized costs in Other assets on our consolidated balance sheets. We recognize and present unamortized discounts and issuance
costs associated with non-revolving debt as a deduction from the face amount of related indebtedness. For more information on debt discounts and issuance costs, see Note 8,
Debt.
Fair Value Measurements
The accounting guidance establishes a framework for measuring fair value and expanded disclosures about fair value measurements. The guidance applies to all assets and
liabilities that are measured and reported on a fair value basis. This enables the reader of the financial statements to assess the inputs used to develop those measurements by
establishing a hierarchy for ranking the quality and reliability of the information used to determine fair values. The guidance requires that each asset and liability carried at fair
value be classified into one of the following categories:

Level 1: Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by market data.

The carrying amounts related to cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, income tax receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate fair value.

Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis. We had no material remeasurements of such assets or liabilities to fair value during the years ended December 31, 2022 and
2021.

Financial Assets and Liabilities. At December 31, 2022, the fair value of our outstanding Term Loan Facility, Secured Notes and Unsecured Notes (each of which is defined in

Note 8, Debt) was approximately $272.3 million, $860.3 million and $425.1 million, respectively. At December 31, 2021, the fair value of our outstanding Term Loan Facility,
Secured Notes and
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Unsecured Notes was approximately $277.0 million, $957.4 million and $494.0 million, respectively. The carrying amount of our outstandirg Mortgage Notes and Construction
Loan (each of which is defined in Note 8, Debt) at December 31, 2022 and 2021 approximates fair value. The fiir value of our debt is based on the amount of future cash flows
discounted using rates we would currently be able to realize for similar instruments of comparable maturity. If our long-term debt were recorded at fair value, it would be
classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. For more information regarding our debt, see Note 8, Debt.

Fair Value Measurements on a Nonrecurring Basis. Assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis primarily relate to our goodwill, intangible
assets and other long-lived assets, which are remeasured when the derived fair value is below carrying value on our consolidated balance sheets. For these assets, we do not
periodically adjust carrying value to fair value except in the event of impairment. If we determine that impairment has occurred, the carrying value of the asset would be reduced
to fair value and the difference would be recorded as a loss within operating income in our consolidated statements of operations. For information regarding impairment charges
associated with our long-lived assets that we recognized during each of the periods presented, see the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets section within this footnote.

Marketing Expenses

Marketing expenses, which are included in General, administrative and marketing in our consolidated statements of operations, primarily consist of marketing department costs
and media and advertising costs to support and grow our Center membership levels, in-center businesses, new center openings and our ancillary businesses. Marketing expenses
are recognized as incurred. Marketing expenses for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 were $39.3 million, $37.1 million and $31.4 million, respectively.

Litigation

We are currently engaged in a material litigation matter with an insurance provider involving a complaint we filedseeking declaratory relief and damagesassociated with a
property/business interruption insurance claim. We are also engaged in various other legal matters incidental to the normal course of business. Due to their nature, such legal
proceedings involve inherent uncertainties, including but not limited to court rulings, negotiations between affected parties and governmental intervention. We establish
reserves for matters that are probable and estimable in amounts we believe are adequate to cover reasonable adverse outcomes. A gain contingency is an uncertain situation that
will be resolved in the future, possibly resulting in a gain. We do not allow the recognition of a gain contingency prior to settlement of the underlying event. If we were to have
a gain contingency, we would disclose it in the notes to the financial statements. Based upon the information available to us and discussions with legal counsel, it is our opinion
that the outcome of the various legal actions and claims that are incidental to our business will not have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial position, results
of operations or cash flows. Such matters are subject to many uncertainties, and the outcomes of individual matters are not predictable with assurance. For more information on
our legal matters, see Note 12, Commitments and Contingencies.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences
of events that have been included in the financial statements. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial
statements and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates
on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

We record net deferred tax assets to the extent we believe these assets will more likely than not be realized. In making such determination, we consider all available positive and
negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent financial operations. In the event
we were to determine that we would be able to realize our deferred income tax assets in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, we would make an adjustment to the
valuation allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes.

Our income tax returns are periodically audited by U.S. federal, state and local and Canadian tax authorities At any given time, multiple tax years may be subject to audit by
various tax authorities. In evaluating the exposures associated with our various tax filing positions, we may record a liability for such exposures. We recognize, measure, present
and disclose a liability for unrecognized tax benefits related to certain tax positions that we have taken or expect to take in our income tax returns. We recognize a tax position
when it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including
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resolutions of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits. We adjust our liability for unrecognized tax benefits in the period in which an uncertain
tax position is effectively settled, that statute of limitations expires for the relevant taxing authority to examine the tax position or when more information becomes available.
Our liability for unrecognized tax benefits, including penalties and interest, is included in Other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. We recognize adjustments to our
liability for unrecognized tax benefits, including penalties and interest, within Benefit from income taxes in our consolidated statements of operations. For more information on
income taxes, see Note 7, Income Taxes.

Share-Based Compensation

We account for share-based compensation related to instruments issued to employees and non-employees in accordance withASC 718, “Compensation - Stock Compensation”
(“ASC 718”). We recognize compensation expense associated with each share-based award over the requisite service period based on the estimated grant-date fair value of the
award. We have estimated the fair value of the majority of the stock options to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
This pricing model requires management to make assumptions and to apply judgment to determine the fair value of equity awards. These assumptions and judgments include the
expected term of stock options, expected stock price volatility and future stock option exercise behaviors. Share-based compensation expense related to restricted stock units is
recorded based on the market value of our common stock on the date of grant. We have elected to account for forfeitures as they occur.For more information on share-based
compensation, see Note 10, Stockholders’ Equity.

Loss per Share

Basic loss per share is computed by dividing loss available to common stockholders by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the period.
The numerator in the diluted loss per share calculation is derived by adding the effect of assumed common stock conversions to loss available to common stockholders. The
denominator in the diluted loss per share calculation is derived by adding shares of common stock deemed to be potentially dilutive to the weighted average number of shares of
common stock outstanding during the period. Potentially dilutive securities that are subject to performance or market conditions are considered contingently issuable shares for
purposes of calculating diluted loss per share. Accordingly, these contingently issuable shares are excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share until the performance
or market conditions have been met. Other potentially dilutive securities that do not involve contingently issuable shares are also excluded from the computation of diluted loss
per share if their effect is antidilutive.

For more information on the basic and diluted loss per share calculations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, see Notel 1, Loss Per Share.

Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 is related to foreign currency translation adjustments
associated with our Canadian operations.

3. Supplemental Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Information
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following:

December 31,

2022 2021
Property held for sale $ 4987 $ —
Construction contract receivables 8,867 14,949
Deferred membership origination costs 752 3,150
Prepaid expenses 31,137 30,784
Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 45,743 § 48,883
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Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following:

Real estate taxes
Accrued interest
Payroll liabilities
Utilities

Self-insurance accruals
Corporate accruals

Current maturities of finance lease liabilities

Other

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Decreases (increases) in operating assets and increases (decreases) in operating liabilities are as follows:

Accounts receivable

Center operating supplies and inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Income tax receivable

Other assets

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Deferred revenue
Other liabilities

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Additional supplemental cash flow information is as follows:

Net cash paid for (received from) income taxes, net of refunds received
Cash payments for interest, net of capitalized interest

Capitalized interest
Non-cash activities:

Issuance of Series A Preferred Stock (as defined in Note 10, Stockholders’ Equity) in connection
with the extinguishment of a related party secured loan

Conversion of Series A Preferred Stock to common stock

See Note 9, Leases for supplemental cash flow information associated with our lease arrangements for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020.
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December 31,

2022 2021
$ 32373 $ 32,955
36,518 35,006
19,908 23,243
7,285 7,022
21,369 18,921
29,731 24,741
796 1,374
6,447 4,658
$ 154,427 $ 147,920

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
(5,988) $ (1,736) $ 11,645
(4,699) (4,729) 8,044
2,027 (8,050) 12,545
2,784 660 4,768
796 2,363 6,010
2,990 17,189 397
6,573 38,299 (20,585)
3,028 (10,950) (8,028)
(4,139) (6,329) 22,721
3,372 § 26,717 $ 37,517

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
10,640 $ (885) $ (32,447)
105,152 125,411 111,696
15,872 3,749 4,942
— 108,591 —
— 149,585 —
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4. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following:

Depreciable December 31,
Lives 2022 2021
Land $ 360,327 $ 373,519
Buildings and related fixtures 3-44 years 1,894,007 1,988,156
Leasehold improvements 1-27 years 635,540 397,242
Construction in progress 410,985 402,803
Equipment and other 1-15 years 904,933 807,842
Property and equipment, gross 4,205,792 3,969,562
Less accumulated depreciation (1,304,550) (1,178,098)
Property and equipment, net $ 2,901,242 $ 2,791,464

Included in the construction in progress balances are site development costs which consist of legal, engineering, architectural, environmental, feasibility, other direct
expenditures incurred for certain new projects and capitalized interest.

Equipment and other includes exercise equipment, capitalized software, computers, audio visual equipment, furniture and fixtures, decor and signage, as well as café, spa,
playground and laundry equipment.

Depreciation expense, which is included in Depreciation and amortization in our consolidated statements of operations, for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020
was $226.0 million, $232.4 million and $241.6 million, respectively.

5. Goodwill and Intangibles
Goodwill

The goodwill balance was $1,233.2 million at both December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021. There were no changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during the years
ended December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021.

Intangibles

Intangible assets consisted of the following:

December 31, 2022
Accumulated
Gross Amortization Net
Intangible Assets:
Trade name $ 163,000 $ — 3 163,000
Other 16,987 (6,583) 10,404
Total intangible assets $ 179,987 $ (6,583) § 173,404
December 31, 2021
Accumulated
Gross Amortization Net
Intangible Assets:
Trade name $ 163,000 $ — 3 163,000
Other 16,327 (5,086) 11,241
Total intangible assets $ 179,327 $ (5,086) § 174,241

Other intangible assets at both December 31, 2022 and 2021 include a facility license as well as trade names and customer relationships associated with our race registration and
timing businesses.

F-21



Table of Contents

LIFE TIME GROUP HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Table amounts in thousands except per share data)

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we acquired a facility license associated with an outdoor enthusiast and bicycling event for approximately $0.2 million, of which
approximately $1.1 million was included in Accrued expenses and other current liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and which was
subsequently paid in February 2023. This license expires in April 2031. The transaction was accounted for as an asset acquisition. The facility license costs are being amortized
on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 9.8 years.

Amortization expense associated with intangible assets for the years endedDecember 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 was $1.5 million, $1.3 million and $3.8 million, respectively.
Amortization of intangible assets is included in Depreciation and amortization in our consolidated statements of operations.

As of December 31, 2022, the expected remaining amortization associated with intangible assets for the next five years was as follows:

2023 $ 1,362
2024 1,114
2025 1,114
2026 1,114
2027 1,114
6. Revenue

Revenue associated with our membership dues, enrollment fees, and certain services from our in-center businesses is recognized over time as earned. Revenue associated with
products and services offered in our cafes and spas, as well as through e-commerce, is recognized at a point in time. The following is a summary of revenue, by major revenue
stream, that we recognized during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020:

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Membership dues and enrollment fees $ 1,251,693  §$ 907,111 $ 651,116
In-center revenue 517,827 379,523 278,850
Total center revenue 1,769,520 1,286,634 929,966
Other revenue 53,037 31,419 18,413
Total revenue $ 1,822,557 $ 1,318,053 $ 948,379

The timing associated with the revenue we recognized during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020 is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020
Center Other Total Center Other Total Center Other Total
Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue Revenue

Goods and services transferred over time $ 1,546,276  $ 53,037 $ 1,599,313 § 1,121,717 $ 31,419 § 1,153,136  § 815,036 $ 18,413 §$ 833,449
Goods and services transferred at a point in
time 223,244 — 223,244 164,917 — 164,917 114,930 — 114,930

Total revenue $ 1,769,520 $ 53,037 $ 1,822,557 $§ 1,286,634 $ 31,419 $ 1,318,053 § 929,966 $ 18,413 § 948,379

Contract liabilities represent payments or consideration received in advance for goods or services that the Company has not yet transferred to the customer. Contract liabilities
consist primarily of deferred revenue for fees collected in advance for membership dues, enrollment fees, Dynamic Personal Training and other center services offerings, as well
as our media and athletic events. Contract liabilities at December 31, 2022 and 2021 were $38.9 million and $35.9 million, respectively.

Contract liabilities that will be recognized within one year are classified as deferred revenue in our consolidated balance sheets. Deferred revenue at December 31, 2022 and
2021 was $36.9 million and $33.9 million, respectively, and consists primarily of
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prepaid membership dues, enrollment fees, Dynamic Personal Training and other in-center services, as well as media and athletic events. The $.0 million increase was
primarily driven by prepayments of Dynamic Personal Training sessions that have yet to be serviced.

Contract liabilities that will be recognized in a future period greater than one year are classified as a component of Other liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets. Long-
term contract liabilities at both December 31, 2022 and 2021 were $2.0 million and consist primarily of deferred enrollment fees.

7. Income Taxes

The benefit from income taxes is comprised of:

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Current tax expense (benefit)
Federal $ 7,709 $ (528) $ (28,872)
State and local 5,314 309 1,264
Foreign — — 178
Total current tax expense (benefit) 13,023 (219) (27,430)
Deferred tax (benefit) expense
Federal (5,008) (135,789) (82,700)
State and local (8,632) (8,252) (17,181)
Foreign 80 4,100 29)
Total deferred tax benefit (13,560) (139,941) (99,910)
Non-current benefit (288) (184) (198)
Benefit from income taxes $ (825) $ (140,344) $ (127,538)

The amount of deferred tax benefit differs from the change in the year-end deferred tax balances due to the tax effect of other comprehensive income, additional paid-in capital
items or change in foreign currency exchange rates.

On March 27, 2020, Congress enacted the CARES Act to provide certain relief as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The CARES Act, among other things, includes
provisions relating to refundable payroll tax credits for employee retention, deferment of the employer’s portion of social security tax payments, net operating loss carrybacks,
alternative minimum tax credit refunds, modifications to the net interest deduction limitations and technical corrections to tax depreciation methods for qualified improvement
property. An income tax benefit of $13.4 million was recognized as a result of the favorable federal tax rate differential from the net operating loss carrybacks under the CARES
Act. The favorable federal tax rate differential is due to net operating losses generated in tax years with a federal tax rate of 21% whereas the losses were carried back to tax
years with a federal tax rate of 35%.

The Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 (the “IRA”) was signed into law on August 16, 2022. The IRA includes numerous tax provisions, clean-energy related tax incentives and
more funding for IRS enforcement and other initiatives. New corporate taxes, including a 15% corporate alternative minimum tax (“CAMT”) and a 1% excise tax on stock
repurchases by certain publicly traded corporations, were introduced in the IRA. The 15% CAMT is applied on the adjusted financial statement income of applicable
corporations and is effective for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2022. The new CAMT provision does not currently impact our consolidated financial statements,
as it is not currently applicable to us and we do not expect it to be applicable to us in the foreseeable future. The 1% excise tax is imposed on repurchases of stock by certain
publicly traded corporations beginning after December 31, 2022. The amount of repurchases subject to the excise tax is reduced by the value of new stock issued to the public
or employees during the year.

F-23



Table of Contents

LIFE TIME GROUP HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Table amounts in thousands except per share data)

The reconciliation between our effective tax rate on income before income taxes and the statutory tax rate is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020
Income tax benefit at federal statutory rate $ 610) $ (151,582) $ (102,424)
State and local income taxes, net of federal tax benefit 869 (20,575) (23,357)
Section 162(m) limitation 3,709 4,831 —
CARES Act — (1,283) (12,157)
Loss on debt extinguishment — 8,609 —
Change in valuation allowance (4,833) 16,933 9,538
Other, net 40 2,723 862
Benefit from income taxes $ (825) $ (140,344) $ (127,538)

Deferred income taxes are the result of provisions of the tax laws that either require or permit certain items of income or expense to be reported for tax purposes in different
periods than they are reported for financial reporting. The tax effect of temporary differences that gives rise to the net deferred tax liability are as follows:

Deferred tax assets:
Lease-related liabilities
Accrued equity compensation
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Net operating loss
Business interest
Other
Valuation allowance
Total deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment
Intangibles
Operating and finance lease right-of-use assets
Partnership interest
Prepaid expenses
Costs related to deferred revenue
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities

Net deferred tax liability

December 31,

2022 2021

573,543 $ 504,049
80,198 76,603
11,974 14,221
1,538 1,491
105,214 147,478
35,253 34,185
5,589 7,914
(24,633) (29,994)
788,676 755,947
(236,334) (280,816)
(42,764) (41,053)
(539,797) (477,414)
(1,677) (1,710)
(9,147) (9,002)
227) (1,046)
(123) (119)
(830,069) (811,160)
(41,393) $ (55,213)

We recognize a tax position when it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon examination, including resolutions of any related appeals or litigation
processes, based on the technical merits. We adjust our liability for unrecognized tax benefits in the period in which an uncertain tax position is effectively settled, that statute of
limitations expires for the relevant taxing authority to examine the tax position or when more information becomes available. Unrecognized tax benefits were not significant in

any of the periods presented.

We are subject to taxation in the U.S., Canada and various states. Our tax years2022, 2021, 2020 and 2019 are subject to examination by the tax authorities. With few

exceptions, we are no longer subject to U.S. federal, state or local examinations by tax authorities for years before 2019.
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As of December 31, 2022, we had a federal income tax net operating loss carryforward related to our U.S. operations of approximately $93.8 million ($82.7 million tax
effected), that can be carried forward indefinitely. As of December 31, 2022, we also had state net operating loss carryforwards totaling approximately $295.6 million ($16.9
million tax effected), of which approximately $218.0 million ($12.5 million tax effected) expires between 2026 and 2043 and approximately $77.6 million ($4.4 million tax
effected) can be carried forward indefinitely. As it relates to our Canada operations, we had an income tax net operating loss carryforward of approximately $21.3 million ($5.7
million tax effected) as of December 31, 2022, which is subject to expiration between tax years 2032 and 2042.

As of December 31, 2021, we had a federal income tax net operating loss carryforward related to our U.S. operations of approximately $54.4 million ($116.4 million tax
effected), of which approximately $75.8 million ($15.9 million tax effected) was to expire in 2038 and approximately $78.6 million ($100.5 million tax effected) could be
carried forward indefinitely. As of December 31, 2021, we also had state net operating loss carryforwards totaling approximately $436.1 million ($25.4 million tax effected), of
which approximately $356.4 million ($19.8 million tax effected) was to expire between 2026 and 2042 and approximately $79.7 million ($5.6 million tax effected) could be
carried forward indefinitely. As it relates to our Canada operations, we had an income tax net operating loss carryforward of approximately $21.4 million ($5.7 million tax
effected) as of December 31, 2021, which was subject to expiration between tax years 2032 and 2042.

As of December 31, 2022, we had a business interest carryforward of approximately $143.4 million ($35.3 million tax effected) that can be carried forward indefinitely.

As of December 31, 2021, we had a business interest carryforward of approximately $133.5 million ($34.2 million tax effected) that can be carried forward indefinitely. As of
December 31, 2021, we also had a general business credit carryforward of approximately $2.0 million that can be used to offset future U.S. federal tax liabilities and expires
between tax years 2036 and 2041.

We considered all available positive and negative evidence, including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and
recent financial operations to determine the extent to which we believe net deferred tax assets will more likely than not be realized. Based on this assessment, as of

December 31, 2022, a valuation allowance of $15.4 million has been recorded to reduce the deferred tax asset associated with the state net operating loss carryforwards and
other deferred tax assets. As of December 31, 2022, a valuation allowance of approximately $8.1 million has been recorded to reduce the deferred tax asset associated with the
Canadian net operating loss carryforward and other deferred tax assets. As of December 31, 2022, we had a foreign tax credit carryforward of approximately $1.1 million that
can be used to offset future U.S. federal tax liabilities on foreign-sourced income. We project that our foreign sourced income will not be sufficient to fully utilize the credit
carryforward. As a result, a valuation allowance of $1.1 million has been recorded as of December 31, 2022 to reduce the deferred tax asset associated with the foreign tax
credit carryforward.

As of December 31, 2021, a valuation allowance of $20.4 million was recorded to reduce the deferred tax asset associated with the state net operating loss carryforwards and
other deferred tax assets. As of December 31, 2021, a valuation allowance of approximately $8.4 million was recorded to reduce the deferred tax asset associated with the
Canadian net operating loss carryforward and other deferred tax assets. As of December 31, 2021, we had a foreign tax credit carryforward of approximately $1.1 million that
can be used to offset future U.S. federal tax liabilities on foreign-sourced income. We projected that our foreign sourced income will not be sufficient to fully utilize the credit
carryforward. As a result, a valuation allowance of $1.1 million has been recorded as of December 31, 2021, in order to reduce the deferred tax asset associated with the foreign
tax credit carryforward.

We consider the earnings of certain non-U.S. subsidiaries to be indefinitely invested outside the United States on the basis of estimates that future domestic cash generation will

be sufficient to meet future domestic cash needs and our specific plans for reinvestment of those subsidiary earnings. We have not recorded a deferred tax liability related to the
U.S. federal and state income taxes and foreign withholding taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries indefinitely invested outside the United States.
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8. Debt

Debt consisted of the following:

December 31,

2022 2021
Term Loan Facility, maturing December 2024 $ 273,625 $ 273,625
Revolving Credit Facility, maturing December 2026 20,000 —
Secured Notes, maturing January 2026 925,000 925,000
Unsecured Notes, maturing April 2026 475,000 475,000
Construction Loan, maturing February 2026 21,330 —
Mortgage Notes, various maturities 119,928 145,572
Other debt 4,122 4,122
Fair value adjustment 1,166 1,818
Total debt 1,840,171 1,825,137
Less unamortized debt discounts and issuance costs (19,249) (25,891)
Total debt less unamortized debt discounts and issuance costs 1,820,922 1,799,246
Less current maturities (15,224) (23,527)
Long-term debt, less current maturities $ 1,805,698 $ 1,775,719

Senior Secured Credit Facility

In June 2015, Life Time, Inc. and certain of our other wholly-owned subsidiaries entered into a senior secured credit facility with a group of lenders led by Deutsche Bank AG
as the administrative agent. On January 22, 2021, Life Time, Inc. and certain of our other wholly-owned subsidiaries entered into an eighth amendment to the credit agreement
governing our senior secured credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”). Pursuant to such eighth amendment to the Credit Agreement, Life Time, Inc. and such other
subsidiaries, among other things, (i) entered into a new term loan facility (the “Term Loan Facility”) and incurred new term loans in an aggregate principal amount of $850.0
million and (ii) extended the maturity on the vast majority of commitments under the revolving portion of our senior secured credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility” and
together with the Term Loan Facility, the “Credit Facilities”). On December 2, 2021, Life Time, Inc. and certain of our other wholly-owned subsidiaries entered into a ninth
amendment to the Credit Agreement. Pursuant to such ninth amendment, Life Time, Inc. and such other subsidiaries increased the commitments under the Revolving Credit
Facility to $475.0 million and extended the maturity of the Revolving Credit Facility to December 2, 2026, except that the maturity will be: (a) September 22, 2024 if we have
not refinanced or amended the Term Loan Facility in a manner set forth in such amendment by such date; (b) October 16, 2025 if we have at least $100.0 million remaining
outstanding on the senior unsecured notes (the “Unsecured Notes™) that mature in April 2026 on such date; and (¢) January 14, 2026 if we have at least $100.0 million
remaining outstanding on the senior secured notes (the “Secured Notes”) that mature in January 2026 on such date.

Upon the exercise of an accordion feature and subject to certain conditions, borrowings under the Credit Facilities may be increased subject, in certain cases, to meeting a first
lien net leverage ratio. The Credit Facilities are secured by a first priority lien (on a pari-passu basis with the Secured Notes described below) on substantially all of our assets.

Term Loan Facility

The $850.0 million Term Loan Facility, which matures in December 2024, initially amortized at0.25% quarterly, which required us to make three mandatory quarterly principal
repayments of approximately $2.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2021. On October 13, 2021, we used a portion of net proceeds we received in connection with
the IPO to pay down $575.7 million (including a $5.7 million prepayment penalty) of our Term Loan Facility. As a result of the pay down, we are no longer required to make
quarterly principal payments on the Term Loan Facility prior to its maturity. At December 31, 2022, the Term Loan Facility loan balance was $273.6 million, with interest due
at intervals ranging from 30 to 180 days at interest rates ranging from LIBOR plus4.75% or base rate plus 3.75%, in either case subject to a 1.00% rate floor.
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Revolving Credit Facility

Our Revolving Credit Facility provides for a $475.0 million revolver and matures in December 2026, or earlier as detailed above under “—Senior Secured Credit Facility.” At
December 31, 2022, there were $20.0 million of outstanding borrowings on the Revolving Credit Facility and there were $31.4 million of outstanding letters of credit, resulting
in total revolver availability of $423.6 million, which was available at intervals ranging from30 to 180 days at interest rates ranging from LIBOR plus4.00% or base rate plus
3.00%.

The weighted average interest rate and debt outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility for the year ended December 31, 2022 ws 5.07% and $33.5 million, respectively.
The highest month-end balance during the year was $100.0 million.

Secured Notes

On January 22, 2021, Life Time, Inc. issued the Secured Notes in an aggregate principal amount of $25.0 million. These notes mature in January 2026 and interest only
payments are due semi-annually in arrears at 5.75%. Life Time, Inc. has the option, which began on January 15, 2023, to call the Secured Notes, in whole or in part, on one or
more occasions, subject to the payment of a redemption price that includes a call premium that varies depending on the year of redemption. In addition, at any time prior to
January 15, 2023, Life Time, Inc. could have redeemed up to 40.00% of the aggregate principal amount of the Secured Notes outstanding with the net proceeds of certain equity
offerings by us at a redemption price equal to 105.75% of the principal amount of the Secured Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but not including, the
redemption date. Life Time, Inc. did not exercise this redemption right. The Secured Notes and the related guarantees are our senior secured obligations and are secured on a
first-priority basis by security interests on substantially all of our assets.

Unsecured Notes

On February 5, 2021, Life Time, Inc. issued the Unsecured Notes in the original principal amount of $75.0 million. The Unsecured Notes mature in April 2026 and interest
only payments are due semi-annually in arrears at 8.00%. Life Time, Inc. has the option, which began on February 1, 2023, to redeem the Unsecured Notes, in whole or in part,
on one or more occasions, subject to the payment of a redemption price that includes a call premium that varies depending on the year of redemption. In addition, at any time
prior to February 1, 2023, Life Time, Inc. could have redeemed up to 40.00% of the aggregate principal amount of the Unsecured Notes outstanding with the net proceeds of
certain equity offerings by us at a redemption price equal to 108.00% of the principal amount of the Unsecured Notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but not
including, the redemption date. Life Time, Inc. did not exercise this redemption right. The Unsecured Notes and the related guarantees are our general senior unsecured
obligations and will rank equally in right of payment with all of our existing and future senior indebtedness without giving effect to collateral arrangements.

Construction Loan

On January 22, 2021, we closed on a construction loan (the “Construction Loan”) providing up to £8.0 million to partially finance the construction of a Life Time Living
location. The Construction Loan has a maturity date of February 15, 2026 and is collateralized by the property. Borrowings under the Construction Loan bear interest at a
variable annual rate of no less than 4.80%. Interest only payments are due monthly beginning April 15, 2022 and continuing through February 15, 2024. Beginning March 15,
2024, based on the principal balance due as of February 15, 2024, monthly principal and interest installment payments will be due in an amount sufficient to fully amortize the
principal balance at maturity. At December 31, 2022, there were $21.3 million of outstanding borrowings on the Construction Loan. There wereno outstanding borrowings as of
December 31, 2021.

Mortgage Notes

Certain of our subsidiaries have entered into mortgage facilities with various financial institutions (collectively, the “Mortgage Notes”), which are collateralized by certain of
our related real estate and buildings, including one of our corporate headquarters properties. The Mortgage Notes have varying maturity dates from February 2024 through
August 2027 and carried a weighted average interest rate of 5.12% and 4.70% at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Payments of principal and interest on each of the
Mortgage Notes are payable monthly on the first business day of each month. The Mortgage Notes contain customary affirmative covenants, including but not limited to,
payment of property taxes, granting of lender access to inspect the properties, maintenance of the properties, providing financial statements, providing estoppel certificates and
lender consent to leases. The Mortgage Notes also contain various customary negative covenants, including, but not limited to, restrictions on transferring the property, change
in control of the borrower and changing the borrower’s business or principal place of business.
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As of December 31, 2022, we were either in compliance in all material respects with the covenants associated with the Mortgage Notes or the covenants were not applicable.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we closed on a sale-leaseback transaction that included certain properties that served as collateral for one of the Mortgage Notes.
Accordingly, we used a portion of the net cash proceeds we received from the sale-leaseback transaction to pay off in full the then outstanding principal balance of $4.6 million
associated with this Mortgage Note. For more information regarding the sale-leaseback transactions that were consummated during the year ended December 31, 2022, see Note
9, Leases.

Extinguishment of a Related Party Secured Loan Through the Issuance of Series A Preferred Stock

On June 24, 2020, we closed on an approximate $101.5 million secured loan (the “Related Party Secured Loan”) from an investor group that was comprised solely of our
stockholders or their affiliates. During the year ended December 31, 2021, interest expense of approximately $0.7 million was recognized on this secured loan.

On January 11, 2021, Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries and the investor group associated with the Related Party Secured Loan (or their assignees)
entered into a contribution agreement pursuant to which we converted the total amount of outstanding principal and accrued interest (up though and including January 22, 2021)
under the Related Party Secured Loan into Series A Preferred Stock (as defined in Note 10, Stockholders’ Equity). Effective January 22, 2021, the total outstanding principal
and accrued interest balance of approximately $108.6 million was conveyed by the investor group to us and we issued, on a dollar-for-dollar basis, to the investor group
approximately 5.4 million shares of Series A Preferred Stock with an estimated fair value of $149.6 million. Because the fair value of the Series A Preferred Stock that was
issued exceeded the carrying value of the outstanding principal and accrued interest balance associated with the Related Party Secured Loan that was extinguished, we
recognized a $41.0 million debt extinguishment loss, which is included in Interest expense, net of interest income in our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2021. Upon the consummation of the IPO on October 12, 2021, the5.4 million then outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock automatically converted into
6.7 million shares of the Company’s common stock. For more information regarding the Series A Preferred Stock that was issued in connection with this transaction, see Note
10, Stockholders’ Equity.

Debt Discounts and Issuance Costs

Unamortized debt discounts and issuance costs associated with the Term Loan Facility, Secured Notes, Unsecured Notes and Construction Loan of $19.2 million and $25.9
million are included in Long-term debt, net of current portion on our consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Unamortized revolver-related debt issuance costs of $3.1 million and $4.0 million are included in Other assets on our consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2022 and
2021, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, in connection with the pay down of our Term Loan Facility, as well as the extinguishment of a prior term loan facility, certain
secured and unsecured notes and a related party secured loan, we recognized $28.6 million of debt discount and issuance cost write-offs, which are included in Interest expense,
net of interest income in our consolidated statement of operations.

Debt Covenants

We are required to comply with certain affirmative and restrictive covenants under our Credit Facilities, Secured Notes and Unsecured Notes. We are also required to comply
with a first lien net leverage ratio covenant under the Revolving Credit Facility, which requires us to maintain a first lien net leverage ratio, if 30.00% or more of the Revolving
Credit Facility commitments are outstanding shortly after the end of any fiscal quarter (excluding all cash collateralized undrawn letters of credit and other undrawn letters of

credit up to $20.0 million). During the first three quarterly test periods of 2022, certain financial measures used in the calculation of the first lien net leverage ratio were
calculated on a pro forma basis by annualizing the respective financial measures recognized during those test periods.

As of December 31, 2022, we were either in compliance in all material respects with the covenants under the Credit Facilities or the covenants were not applicable.

F-28



Table of Contents

LIFE TIME GROUP HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Table amounts in thousands except per share data)

Future Maturities of Long-Term Debt

Aggregate annual future maturities of long-term debt, excluding unamortized issuance costs and fair value adjustments, at December 31, 2022 were as follows:

2023 $ 15,224
2024 336,873
2025 12,710
2026 1,453,297
2027 17,853
Thereafter 3,048
Total future maturities of long-term debt $ 1,839,005
9. Leases

Lease Cost

Lease cost included in our consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
Classification in Consolidated
2022 2021 2020 Statements of Operations

Lease cost:

Operating lease cost $ 237,499 § 204,165 $ 183,908 Rent

Short-term lease cost 2,113 1,049 1,007 Rent

Variable lease cost 5,614 4,609 1,342 Rent

Finance lease cost:

Amortization of right-of-use assets 1,372 1,493 2,228 Depreciation and amortization

Interest on lease liabilities 99 177 65 Interest expense, net of interest income
Total lease cost $ 246,697 $ 211,493 § 188,550

Sale-Leaseback Transactions
Sale-Leaseback Transactions with Unrelated Third Parties

During the year ended December 31, 2022, we entered into and consummated sale-leaseback transactions involvingnine properties with two unrelated parties. Under these
transactions, we sold nine properties with a combined net book value of $285.8 million for $375.0 million, which was reduced by transaction costs of $1.8 million, for net cash
proceeds of $373.2 million. The estimated fair value of the properties sold was $385.1 million. Accordingly, the aggregate sales price associated with these arrangements was
increased by a total of $10.1 million, which resulted in the recognition of a gain of $97.5 million on these transactions. This gain is included in Other operating (income)
expenses in our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022. Of the $10.1 million net sales price increase recognized in connection with these
transactions, $31.5 million was associated with property sales in which the sales price was less than the fair value of the properties sold, which was recognized as an increase in
the aggregate sales price associated with these properties and an increase in the related operating lease right-of-use assets, and $21.4 million was associated with property sales
in which the sales price was greater than the fair value of the properties sold, which was recognized as a reduction in the aggregate sales price associated with these properties
and as financing obligations separate from the related operating lease liabilities. For cash flow purposes, the $21.4 million of proceeds we received from these financing
obligations during the year ended December 31, 2022 are reported within financing activities on our consolidated statement of cash flows.
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During the year ended December 31, 2021, we closed on two sale-leaseback transactions involvingtwo properties with unrelated third parties, one of which was associated with
an agreement we entered into on December 16, 2020. Under these transactions, we sold assets with a combined net book value of $85.8 million for $76.0 million, which was
reduced by transaction costs of $2.0 million, for net cash proceeds of $74.0 million. The estimated fair value of the properties sold was $85.5 million. Accordingly, the aggregate
sales price associated with these arrangements was increased by a total of $9.5 million, which resulted in the recognition of an aggregate loss of $2.3 million on these
transactions, which is included in Other operating (income) expenses in our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we entered into sale-leaseback transactions involvingfive properties with unrelated third parties. Under these agreements, we sold
assets with a combined net book value of $237.7 million for $199.2 million, which was reduced by transaction costs of $0.5 million, for net cash proceeds of $198.7 million. The
estimated fair value of the five properties sold totaled $243.1 million. Accordingly, the aggregate sales price associated with these arrangements was increased by a total of
$43.9 million, which resulted in the recognition of a net gain of $4.9 million on these transactions, which is included in Other operating (income) expenses in our consolidated
statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Related Party Sale-Leaseback Transactions and Leases

For information on sale-leaseback transactions with related parties, as well as other related party leases not associated with sale-leaseback transactions, see Note 13, Related
Party Transactions.

Operating and Finance Lease Right-of-Use Assets and Lease-Related Liabilities

Operating and finance lease right-of-use assets and lease-related liabilities were as follows:

December 31, Classification on Consolidated

2022 2021 Balance Sheets
Lease right-of-use assets:
Operating leases $ 2,116,761 $ 1,864,528 Operating lease right-of-use assets
Finance leases (1) 1,083 2,073 Other assets
Total lease right-of-use assets $ 2,117,844 § 1,866,601
Lease-related liabilities:
Current
Operating leases $ 51,892 $ 46,315 Current maturities of operating lease liabilities
Finance leases 796 1,374  Accrued expenses and other current liabilities
Non-current
Operating leases 2,162,424 1,909,883 Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion
Finance leases 312 757 Other liabilities
Financing obligations 21,557 —  Other liabilities
Total lease-related liabilities $ 2,236,981 $ 1,958,329

(1)  Finance lease right-of-use assets were reported net of accumulated amortization of $1.8 million and $2.4 million at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.
Impairment of Right-of-Use Assets

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we determined that the operating lease right-of-use assets associated with some of our leased centers and some of our ancillary
businesses were impaired. Accordingly, we recognized $2.0 million of impairment charges associated with these right-of-use assets, which are included in Other operating

(income) expenses in our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2020.

For more information regarding impairment charges associated with our long-lived assets, see Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.
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Remaining Lease Terms and Discount Rates

The weighted-average remaining lease terms and discount rates associated with our lease-related liabilities at December 31, 2022 were as follows:

December 31, 2022

Weighted-average remaining lease term (1)

Operating leases 17.7 years

Finance leases 1.0 years

Financing obligations 24.7 years
Weighted-average discount rate

Operating leases 821 %

Finance leases 6.03 %

Financing obligations 10.84 %

(1) The weighted-average remaining lease term associated with our operating and finance lease liabilities does not include all of the optional renewal periods available to us
under our current lease arrangements. Rather, the weighted-average remaining lease term only includes periods covered by an option to extend a lease if we are reasonably
certain to exercise that option.

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Supplemental cash flow information associated with our leases is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 199,762 $ 182,644 $ 131,617
Operating cash flows from finance leases 99 177 208
Financing cash flows from finance leases 1,404 1,514 1,343
Non-cash information:
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for initial lease liabilities:
Operating leases 294,722 210,541 241,810
Finance leases 391 1,272 2,576
Right-of-use asset adjustments recognized as a result of the remeasurement of existing lease
liabilities:
Operating leases (6,551) (6,345) 33,028
Non-cash increase in operating lease right-of-use assets associated with below-market sale-
leaseback transactions 31,440 9,500 43,910
Impairment charges associated with operating lease right-of-use assets — — (1,962)
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Maturities of Operating Lease Liabilities, Finance Lease Liabilities and Financing Obligations

The maturities associated with our lease-related liabilities at December 31, 2022 are as follows:

Operating Finance Financing
Leases Leases Obligations Total
2023 $ 221,855 $ 866 $ 2,235 § 224,956
2024 231,506 226 2,268 234,000
2025 235,732 90 2,302 238,124
2026 238,316 2 2,337 240,655
2027 239,422 — 2,372 241,794
Thereafter 3,191,771 — 54,866 3,246,637
Total lease payments 4,358,602 1,184 66,380 4,426,166
Less: Imputed interest 2,144,286 76 44,823 2,189,185
Present value of lease liabilities $ 2,214,316 § 1,108 § 21,557 § 2,236,981

10. Stockholders’ Equity
Common Stock Issued in Connection with the IPO and Over-Allotment Exercise

In connection with the IPO, including the partial exercise by the underwriters of their over-allotment option, we received total net proceeds of §01.1 million from the issuance
0f 40.6 million shares of the Company’s common stock during the year ended December 31, 2021. For more information on these sales of the Company’s common stock, see
Note 1, Nature of Business and Basis of Presentation.

Common Stock Issued in Connection with a Stock Purchase Agreement

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we received proceeds totaling $0.0 million from the sale of 3.6 million shares of the Company’s common stock, which consists of
primary equity proceeds (i.e., proceeds associated with the sale of newly issued shares of our common stock) associated with a stock purchase agreement.

Series A Preferred Stock and Restricted Series A Preferred Stock Award

Conversion of Series A Preferred Stock to Common Stock

On January 11, 2021, Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries and the investor group associated with our then existing related party secured loan (or their
assignees) entered into an agreement to convert the total amount of outstanding principal and accrued interest (up though and including January 22, 2021) of approximately
$108.6 million under the related party secured loan into 5.4 million shares of Series A convertible participating preferred stock (“Series A Preferred Stock™) of Life Time
Group Holdings, Inc. Upon the consummation of the IPO, the 5.4 million then outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock automatically converted into6.7 million shares of
the Company’s common stock. For more information regarding the related party secured loan that was extinguished, including the loss that we recognized upon its
extinguishment, see Note 8, Debt.

Conversion of Restricted Series A Preferred Stock Award to Restricted Common Stock

During the second quarter of 2021, in lieu of the vast majority of cash compensation for our CEO for 2021, the Company granted an award of).5 million shares of restricted
Series A Preferred Stock to our CEO. The total grant date fair value of this award was approximately $13.8 million. Prior to the granting of this equity award, we had recognized
an accrued compensation liability of approximately $1.6 million associated with the portion of our CEO’s 2021 compensation that had been earned as of the grant date. The
settlement of this accrued compensation liability through issuance of the restricted Series A Preferred Stock award was recognized as a decrease in Accrued expenses and other
current liabilities and an increase in Additional paid-in capital on our consolidated balance sheet. Upon the consummation of the IPO, the 0.5 million then-outstanding shares of
restricted Series A Preferred Stock automatically converted into 0.6 million shares of the Company’s restricted common stock, which then vested in April 2022.

F-32



Table of Contents

LIFE TIME GROUP HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Table amounts in thousands except per share data)

Fair Value of Series A Preferred Stock and Restricted Series A Preferred Stock Award

The fair value of the Series A Preferred Stock and the restricted Series A Preferred Stock award was estimated using an as-converted value plus risky put option model. The put
option value was estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Primary assumptions used in determining the estimated issuance date fair value of the Series A
Preferred Stock include: the estimated equity value associated with the then outstanding common stock of Life Time Group Holdings, Inc., a strike price of $20.00 per share,
PIK dividend yield rate of 15.0%, expected term of 1.0 year, volatility rate of 65.00% and a risk-free rate 0of 0.08%.

Share-Based Compensation Expense Associated withRestricted Series A Preferred Stock Award and Restricted Common Stock
Restricted Series A Preferred Stock Award

Prior to the conversion of the restricted Series A Preferred Stock award to shares of the Company’s restricted common stock onOctober 12, 2021, as noted above in “—
Conversion of Restricted Series A Preferred Stock Award to Restricted Common Stock,” we recognized $2.9 million of share-based compensation expense associated with the
restricted Series A Preferred Stock award, all of which is included in General, administrative and marketing in our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2021.

Restricted Common Stock

Share-based compensation expense associated with the shares of restricted common stock that were issued upon the automatic conversion of the restricted Series A Preferred
Stock award for the year ended December 31, 2022 was $5.0 million, all of which is included in General, administrative and marketing in our consolidated statement of
operations. During the period from October 12, 2021 through December 31, 2021, we recognized $4.3 million of share-based compensation expense associated with the
restricted common stock award, which is included in General, administrative and marketing in our consolidated statements of operations. These restricted common stock shares
fully vested as of April 4, 2022, and there is no unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to these shares. The fair value of the restricted common stock shares
that vested during the year ended December 31, 2022 was approximately $8.9 million, which represents the fair value of the underlying shares measured as of the vesting date.
No restricted common stock shares vested during the years endedDecember 31, 2021 and 2020.

Equity Incentive Plans
2015 Equity Plan

On October 6, 2015, our board of directors adopted the LTF Holdings, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan (as amended, the “2015 Equity Plan”). During the year ended

December 31, 2021, our board of directors and stockholders approved an amendment to the 2015 Equity Plan to increase the number of shares of our common stock that are
reserved for issuance under the 2015 Equity Plan to approximately 30.6 million shares of our common stock. Effective with the IPO, no further grants have been or will be made
under the 2015 Equity Plan. Approximately 1.0 million shares that were reserved and available for issuance under the 2015 Equity Plan are now available for issuance under the
2021 Equity Plan as detailed below.

2021 Equity Plan

In connection with the IPO and effective October 6, 2021, we adopted the 2021 Incentive Award Plan (the “2021 Equity Plan”), under which we may grant cash and equity-
based incentive awards to our employees, consultants and directors. The maximum number of shares of our common stock available for issuance under the 2021 Equity Plan is
equal to the sum of (i) approximately 14.5 million shares of our common stock, (ii) an annual increase on the first day of each year beginning in 2022 and ending in and
including 2031, equal to the lesser of (A) 4% of the outstanding shares of our common stock on the last day of the immediately preceding fiscal year and (B) such lesser amount
as determined by our board of directors, and (iii) the approximately 1.0 million shares of our common stock that were available for issuance under the 2015 Equity Plan as of
October 6, 2021; provided, however, no more than 14.5 million shares may be issued upon the exercise of incentive stock options. Effective January 1, 2022, the number of
shares of our common stock available for issuance under the 2021 Equity Plan increased by approximately 7.7 million shares pursuant to the evergreen feature described in part
(ii) of the immediately preceding sentence. Additionally, the number of shares of our common stock available for issuance under the 2021 Equity Plan may increase with respect
to awards under the 2015 Equity Plan which are forfeited or lapse unexercised and which following
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the effective date of the 2021 Equity Plan are not issued under such prior plan. The share reserve formula under the 2021 Equity Plan is intended to provide us with the
continuing ability to grant equity awards to eligible employees, directors and consultants for the 10-year term of the 2021 Equity Plan.

As of December 31, 2022, approximately 19.3 million shares were available for future awards to employees and other eligible participants under the 2021 Equity Plan.
2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In connection with the IPO and effective October 6, 2021, we adopted the 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”). The ESPP is designed to allow our eligible
employees to purchase shares of our common stock, at periodic intervals, with their accumulated payroll deductions. The ESPP consists of two components: an Internal
Revenue Service (“IRS”) Code section 423 (“Section 423”) component, which is intended to qualify under Section 423 of the IRS Code and a non-Section 423 component,
which need not qualify under Section 423 of the IRS Code. The aggregate number of shares of our common stock that has initially been reserved for issuance under the ESPP is
equal to (i) approximately 2.9 million shares of our common stock, and (ii) an annual increase on the first day of each year beginning in 2022 and ending in and including 2031,
equal to the lesser of (A) 1% of the aggregate number of shares of our common stock outstanding on the final day of the immediately preceding calendar year and (B) such
smaller number of our shares of common stock as determined by our board of directors; provided that in no event will more than 29.0 million shares of our common stock be
available for issuance under the Section 423 component of the ESPP. Our board of directors determined that no additional shares would become available under the ESPP as of
January 1, 2022 pursuant to the evergreen feature described in part (ii) of the immediately preceding sentence. Our board of directors or the compensation committee will have
authority to interpret the terms of the ESPP and determine eligibility of participants.

We launched the first offering period under the ESPP on December 1, 2022. The ESPP permits participants to purchase common stock through payroll deductions of up td 5%
of their eligible compensation, which includes a participant’s gross base compensation for services to us. On the first trading day of each offering period, each participant is
automatically granted an option to purchase shares of our common stock. The purchase option expires at the end of the applicable offering period and will be exercised on each
purchase date during such offering period to the extent of the payroll deductions accumulated during the offering period. We have consecutive offering periods of approximately
six months in length commencing on each June 1 and December 1 during the term of the ESPP. The purchase price for a share of our common stock is 90% of the fair market
value of a share on the enrollment date for such offering period or on the purchase date, whichever is lower, and subject to adjustment by our board of directors or compensation
committee. Participants may voluntarily end their participation in the ESPP prior to the end of the applicable offering period and are paid their accrued payroll deductions that
have not yet been used to purchase shares of common stock. Upon exercise, the participant purchases the number of whole shares that his or her accumulated payroll deductions
will buy at the purchase option price, subject to the certain participation limitations. Participation ends automatically upon a participant’s termination of employment. No shares
were issued under the ESPP as of December 31, 2022. We recognized $0.1 million of share-based compensation expense for the discount received by participants for the year
ended December 31, 2022, all of which is included in General, administrative and marketing in our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022.
As of December 31, 2022, unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to the first offering period under the ESPP was approximately $0.4 million, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted average remaining period of 0.4 years.
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Stock Options

Stock Option Activity

Activity associated with stock options during the year ended December 31, 2022 is as follows:

Weighted Average
Remaining Aggregate
Weighted Average Contractual Life Intrinsic

Stock Options Shares Exercise Price (in years) Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2021 24,597 $ 12.16

Granted 989 13.55

Exercised (363) 10.33

Forfeited or cancelled (297) 18.40

Outstanding at December 31, 2022 24,926 § 12.17 44 8 33,481
Exercisable as of December 31, 2022 21,745 $ 11.41 3.7 8 33,470

Options Granted During the Year Ended December 31, 2022

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company granted approximately 1.0 million stock option awards under the 2021 Equity Plan. These options have al0-year
contractual term from the date of grant and vest in four ratable annual installments on each of the first four anniversaries of the grant date, subject to continuous employment or
service from the grant date through the applicable vesting date. The exercise price associated with each of these awards is not less than the fair market value per share of our
common stock at the time of grant.

Options Granted During the Year Ended December 31, 2021

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company granted approximately 3.8 million stock options, of which approximately 3.2 million were granted under the 2015
Equity Plan and approximately 0.6 million were granted under the 2021 Equity Plan. These options have a 10-year contractual term from the date of grant. The exercise prices
and terms of these awards were determined and approved by our board of directors or a committee thereof. The exercise price associated with each of these awards is not less
than the fair market value per share of our common stock, as determined by our board of directors or a committee thereof, at the time of grant.

Of the 3.8 million total stock options granted during the year endedDecember 31, 2021, approximately 3.3 million are time vesting options and approximately 0.5 million are
performance vesting options. The time vesting options vest in four ratable annual installments on each of the first four anniversaries of the grant date, subject to continuous
employment or service from the grant date through the applicable vesting date. All of the performance vesting options vested upon the attainment of certain targets for the
twelve-month period that commenced on January 1, 2021 and ended on December 31, 2021. Both the time vesting and performance vesting options became exercisable (but not
vested) on April 4, 2022, which is the first date following the expiration of the 180-day lock-up period applicable to the optionee related to the IPO.

Options Granted Prior to 2021

As it relates to stock options granted prior to 2021, all were fully vested as of April 4, 202Zand there is no unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to these
options.

Intrinsic Value and Income Tax Benefits Associated with Option Exercises
The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2022 was approximately $.5 million. In connection with these stock option exercises,

we recognized an aggregate income tax benefit of approximately $0.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2022.No stock options were exercised during the years
ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.
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Fair Value of Stock Option Awards Granted

The fair value of the options granted during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 was calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing modelThe following
weighted average assumptions were used in determining the fair value of stock options granted:

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Dividend yield 0.00 % 0.00 % 0.00 %
Risk-free interest rate() 224 % 097 % 1.58 %
Expected volatility 55.00 % 5850 % 27.60 %
Expected term of options (in years)® 6.3 6.1 6.1
Fair Value $ 734§ 1042 $ 7.58

(1)  The risk-free rate is based on the U.S. treasury yields, in effect at the time of grant or modification, corresponding with the expected term of the options.
(2)  Expected volatility is based on historical volatilities for a time period similar to that of the expected term of the options.

(3)  Expected term of the options is based on probability and expected timing of market events leading to option exercise.

Share-Based Compensation Expense Associated with Stock Options

Share-based compensation expense associated with stock options for the year ended December 31, 2022 was 9.8 million, of which $1.4 million, $17.8 million and

$0.5 million is included in Center operations, General, administrative and marketing and Other operating (income) expenses, respectively, in our consolidated statement of
operations. Share-based compensation expense associated with stock options for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $320.5 million, of which $12.7 million, $303.3 million
and $4.5 million is included in Center operations, General, administrative and marketing and Other operating (income) expenses, respectively, in our consolidated statement of
operations. No share-based compensation expense associated with stock options was recognized during the year ended December 31, 2020.A significant portion of the share-
based compensation expense that we recognized during the year ended December 31, 2021 is associated with stock options that were granted prior to 2021. As of the effective
date of the IPO, these stock options became fully vested, and they became exercisable either immediately or on April 4, 2022, subject to continued service through such date.
Accordingly, during the period from the effective date of the IPO through April 4, 2022, we recognized share-based compensation expense associated with these stock options
in an amount equal to the proportion of the total service period that passed from the respective grant dates associated with each of these stock option awards through April 4,
2022. Because the exercisability of these stock options was contingent upon the occurrence of a change of control or an initial public offering, no share-based compensation
expense associated with these stock options was recognized prior to the IPO.

As of December 31, 2022, unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to stock options was approximately §7.1 million, which is expected to be recognized over a
weighted average remaining period of 2.5 years.
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Restricted Stock Units

Restricted Stock Unit Activity

Activity associated with restricted stock units during the year ended December 31, 2022 is as follows:

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair

Restricted Stock Units Shares Value

Nonvested at December 31, 2021 1,854 § 18.01
Granted 1,696 14.26
Vested (905) 18.73
Forfeited (159) 16.42
Nonvested at December 31, 2022 2,486 § 15.30

Restricted Stock Units Granted

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company granted approximately 1.7 million restricted stock unit awards under the 2021 Equity Plan, of whichapproximately

1.4 million are time vesting awards and approximately 0.3 million are time vesting awards with a performance qualifier. Of the 1.7 million restricted stock unit awards that were
granted during the year ended December 31, 2022, approximately 1.6 million vest in four ratable annual installments, approximately 0.1 million vest in two ratable annual
installments and less than 0.1 million vest in approximately one annual installment, in each casesubject to continuous employment or service from the grant date through the
applicable vesting date. The majority of the awards that vest in two ratable annual installments were granted to certain executives and non-executives as part of their incentive
compensation for 2021, which had been recognized as an accrued compensation liability at December 31, 2021. The fair value of these restricted stock unit awards was
approximately $0.6 million. Accordingly, effective with the grant date associated with these restricted stock units, wi recognized a $0.6 million decrease in Accrued expenses
and other current liabilities and a $0.6 million increase in Additional paid-in capital on our condensed consolidated balance sheets. We determine the grant date fair value of
restricted stock unit awards by multiplying the number of restricted stock unit awards by the closing trading price of our common stock on the grant date.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company granted approximately 1.9 million restricted stock unit awards, of which approximately0.6 million were granted under
the 2015 Equity Plan and approximately 1.3 million were granted under the 2021 Equity Plan. Of the 0.6 million restricted stock unit awards granted under the 2015 Equity Plan
during the year end December 31, 2021, approximately 0.5 million were granted to our CEO and approximately0.1 million were granted to non-CEO executives and a director.
All of the 1.3 million restricted stock units granted under the 2021 Equity Plan during the year ended December 31, 202 1were granted to non-CEO holders. The weighted
average grant date fair value associated with the approximately 1.9 million restricted stock unit awards granted during the year ended December 31, 2021 was $8.01.

We did not grant any restricted stock unit awards during the year ended December 31, 2020.
Restricted Stock Unit Awards Granted During the Year Ended December 31, 2021 under the 2015 Equity Plan

Beginning on March 15, 2020, our CEO decided to forego100% of his base salary for the remainder of 2020. During the second quarter of 2021, our compensation committee,
in consultation with our CEO and our board of directors, established a new compensation program for our CEO. Under the new program, in light of the foregone salary and
bonuses in 2020, the compensation committee determined to grant our CEO an equity award of approximately0.5 million restricted stock units under the 2015 Equity Plan,
50% of which was to vest on each anniversary of the grant date with 100% full vesting on the date that is 180 days after the effective date associated with an underwritten IPO.
Accordingly, this award 100% vested on April 4, 2022. At December 31, 2020, we had recognized an accrued compensation liability of approximately 8.2 million associated
with our CEO’s 2020 compensation. For accounting purposes, the settlement of this $2.2 million accrued compensation liability through the issuance of the restricted stock
units was recognized as a decrease in Accrued expenses and other current liabilities and an increase in Additional paid-in capital on our consolidated balance sheet.
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Also during the second quarter of 2021, our compensation committee granted approximately0.1 million restricted stock units under the 2015 Equity Plan to certain of our non-
CEO executives and a new director, 50% of which vests on each anniversary of the grant date and, for the grants to our non-CEO executives,100% full vesting was to occur
effective on the date that is 180 days after an initial underwritten public offering. Accordingly, the portion of these awards that were granted to our non-CEO100% vested on
April 4, 2022.

Restricted Stock Unit Awards Granted During the Year Ended December 31, 2021 under the 2021 Equity Plan

With respect to the restricted stock units totaling approximately 1.3 million that were granted under the 2021 Equity Plan during the year ended December 31, 2021, nearly all
will vest in four ratable annual installments on each of the first four anniversaries of the grant date, subject to continued service through the applicable vesting dates. Less than
0.1 million of these restricted stock units vested on April 4, 2022.

Fair Value of Vested Restricted Stock Units

The total fair value of restricted stock units that vested during the year ended December 31, 2022 was approximately $2.2 million, which represents the aggregate of the fair
value of the each of the underlying shares measured as of the vesting date. No restricted stock units vested during the years endedDecember 31, 2021 and 2020.

Share-Based Compensation Expense Associated with Restricted Stock Units

Share-based compensation expense associated with restricted stock units for the year ended December 31, 2022 was §2.4 million, of which $1.4 million, $10.6 million and
$0.4 million is included in Center operations, General, administrative and marketing and Other operating (income) expenses, respectively, in our consolidated statement of
operations. Share-based compensation expense associated with restricted stock units for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $6.6 million, of which $0.2 million,

$6.3 million and $0.1 million is included in Center operations, General, administrative and marketing and Other operating (income) expenses, respectively, in our consolidated
statement of operations. No share-based compensation expense associated with restricted stock units was recognized during the year ended December 31, 2020.

As of December 31, 2022, unrecognized share-based compensation expense related to restricted stock units was approximately 7.8 million, which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average remaining period of 3.0 years.

Stockholder Note Receivable

On August 27, 2018, Life Time, Inc. entered into a loan agreement with our CEO, who is also one of our stockholders, pursuant to which we loaned him $0.0 million. As
security for repayment of the loan, our CEO granted to Life Time, Inc. a security interest in 5.0 million shares of our common stock which are held by our CEO. The loan bore
interest equal to the highest interest rate associated with the revolving portion of our senior secured credit facility or, if there were no outstanding revolving borrowings, the
highest interest rate associated with outstanding borrowings under the term loans portion of our senior secured credit facility. The loan was scheduled to mature at the earlier of
August 2023 or upon the occurrence of certain events, including in connection with an initial public offering or a change of control, as well as the period immediately following
the officer’s termination of employment.

On July 3, 2019, we amended the loan agreement to reflect our forgiveness of an aggregate principal amount of $.0 million. All other terms and conditions associated with the
initial loan agreement remained unchanged. The principal forgiveness was accounted for as an equity transaction, whereby the Stockholder note receivable and Additional paid-
in capital balances recognized on our consolidated balance sheet were each reduced by $5.0 million. The income tax benefit of approximately $1.3 million associated with the
principal forgiveness was recognized as an increase in both Income tax receivable and Additional paid-in capital on our consolidated balance sheet.

In August 2021, we entered into an agreement pursuant to which the outstanding balance owed under the stockholder note receivable was cancelled. The cancellation of the
$15.0 million outstanding principal balance associated with the loan was accounted for as an equity transaction, and the Stockholder note receivable and Additional paid-in
capital balances recognized on our consolidated balance sheet were each reduced by $15.0 million.
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11. Loss Per Share

For the year ended December 31, 2022, our potentially dilutive securities include stock options, restricted stock units and shares to be issued under our ESPP. Due to the net
loss that we recognized during the year ended December 31, 2022, the potentially dilutive shares of common stock associated with our stock options, restricted stock units and
ESPP were determined to be antidilutive and, therefore, are excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2022.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, our potentially dilutive securities include stock options, restricted stock units and restricted stock. Due to the net loss that we recognized
during the year ended December 31, 2021, the potentially dilutive shares of common stock associated with our stock options, restricted stock units and restricted stock were
determined to be antidilutive and, therefore, are excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2021.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, our potentially dilutive securities include stock options, all of which were subject to performance conditions that were not met as of the
end of such period. Accordingly, the contingently issuable shares associated with our stock options are excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share for the year
ended December 31, 2020.

The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and diluted loss per share for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020:

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020
Net loss $ (1,793) $ (579,369) $ (360,192)
Weighted average common shares outstanding — basic and diluted 193,570 155,470 145,137
Loss per share — basic and diluted $ 0.01) $ (3.73) § (2.48)

The following is a summary of potential shares of common stock that were excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share for the years endeDecember 31, 2022,
2021 and 2020:

Year Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Stock options 24,926 24,597 21,119
Restricted stock units 2,486 1,854 —
Restricted stock — 595 —
ESPP shares 137 — —
Potential common shares excluded from diluted loss per share 27,549 27,046 21,119

For more information regarding stock options, restricted stock units, restricted stock and ESPP shares, see Note 10, Stockholders’ Equity.

12. Commitments and Contingencies
Purchase Commitments

We have entered into various unconditional purchase obligations that primarily include software licenses and support, and marketing services. As of December 31, 2022, these
purchase obligations totaled approximately $22.9 million, the majority of which are expected to be settled within the nextthree years. These unconditional purchase obligations
are in addition to the current and long-term liabilities recorded on our December 31, 2022 consolidated balance sheet and exclude agreements that are cancellable at any time
without penalty.
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Legal Matters
Bartell et al. v. LTF Club Operations Company, Inc.

We defended a putative class action asserting that Life Time failed to honor cancellation requests and refund payments made by former members of Life Time’s Ohio health
clubs under membership agreements that allegedly violate the Ohio Prepaid Entertainment Contract Act (“PECA”) and the Ohio Consumer Sales Practices Act (“CSPA”). The
case is Laurence Bartell, et al. v. LTF Club Operations Company, Inc., Case No. 2:14-cv-401, in the United States District Court, Southern District of Ohio, Eastern Division.
LTF Club Operations Company, Inc. is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Life Time, Inc.

The District Court granted final approval to the parties’ settlement of this case on August 7, 2020. Under the terms of the settlement, we agreed to contribute to a settlement
fund of $14.0 million from which all costs of settlement would be paid, including awards to the class, settlement administration expenses, and court-awarded service awards and
attorneys’ fees. Class members were allowed to claim either (1) a cash award of dues they paid to Life Time after providing notice of cancellation of their membership (“Cash
Award”) or (2) a membership award of a dues credit with a face value of three times the Cash Award toward any access membership with Life Time (“Membership Award”).
The period for the class members to make this election ended on July 8, 2020. Based on the Cash Awards and Membership Awards claimed by the class members and the
amount awarded for plaintiff’s attorneys’ fees and costs and a class representative service award, we paid $13.3 million during the quarter ended September 30, 2020. Because
our cost to service a membership is less than the Membership Award, the amount of our loss did not ultimately directly correspond to the total settlement amount of $14.0
million.

Life Time, Inc. et al. v. Zurich American Insurance Company

On August 19, 2020, Life Time, Inc., several of its subsidiaries, and a joint venture entity, Bloomingdale Life Time Fitness LLC (collectively, the “Life Time Parties”) filed a
complaint against Zurich American Insurance Company (‘“Zurich”) in the Fourth Judicial District of the State of Minnesota, County of Hennepin (Case No. 27-CV-20-10599)
(the “Action”) seeking declaratory relief and damages with respect to Zurich’s failure under a property/business interruption insurance policy to provide certain coverage to the
Life Time Parties related to the closure or suspension by governmental authorities of their business activities due to the spread or threat of the spread of COVID-19. On March
15, 2021, certain of the Life Time Parties filed a First Amended Complaint in the Action adding claims against Zurich under a Builders’ Risk policy related to the suspension of
multiple construction projects. The parties are currently in discovery. The Action is subject to many uncertainties, and the outcome of the matter is not predictable with any
assurance.

Other

We are also engaged in other proceedings incidental to the normal course of business. Due to their nature, such legal proceedings involve inherent uncertainties, including but
not limited to court rulings, negotiations between affected parties and governmental intervention. We establish reserves for matters that are probable and estimable in amounts
we believe are adequate to cover reasonable adverse judgments. Based upon the information available to us and discussions with legal counsel, it is our opinion that the outcome
of the various legal actions and claims that are incidental to our business will not have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or
cash flows. Such matters are subject to many uncertainties, and the outcomes of individual matters are not predictable with assurance.

401(k) Savings and Investment Plan

We offer a 401(k) savings and investment plan (the “401(k) Plan”) to substantially all full-time employees who have at leassix months of service and are at least 21 years of
age. The cost associated with the Company’s discretionary contributions to the 401(k) Plan during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 was not material.

Letters of Credit and Posted Bonds

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, we had $31.4 million and $33.5 million, respectively, in irrevocable standby letters of credit outstanding, which were issued primarily to
municipalities, for sites under construction, as well as certain insurance carriers to guarantee payments of deductibles for various insurance programs, such as workers’
compensation and commercial liability insurance. Such letters of credit are secured by the collateral under our senior secured credit facility. As of both December 31, 2022 and
2021, no amounts had been drawn on any of these irrevocable standby letters of credit.
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As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, we had posted bonds totaling$35.5 million and $36.4 million, respectively, related to construction activities and operational licensing.

13. Related Party Transactions

Related Party Leases

We did not enter into any related party leases, including related party sale-leaseback arrangements, during the years ended December 31, 2022 or 2021.
Sale-Leaseback Transactions

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we consummated a sale-leaseback transaction involvingone property with a subsidiary of a limited liability company jointly owned
by our CEO, a former executive of the Company, and another member of our board of directors, among other investors (“LTRE”). Under this agreement, we sold assets with a
net book value of $35.1 million for $37.0 million, which was reduced by transaction costs totaling approximately $0.1 million, for net proceeds of $36.9 million. Accordingly,
we recognized a gain of $1.8 million, which is included in Other operating (income) expenses in our consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31,
2020. During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, we paid rent associated with this lease of £.6 million, $2.5 million and $0.3 million, respectively, and rent
expense associated with this lease was $3.0 million, $3.0 million and $0.5 million, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, we entered into a sale-leaseback transaction involvingone property with a limited liability company jointly owned by our CEO and
another member of our board of directors. During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, we paid rent associated with this lease of $2.3 million, $2.8 million and
$1.5 million, respectively, and rent expense associated with this lease was $.6 million, $2.6 million and $2.6 million, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, we entered into a sale-leaseback transaction involvingone property with a limited liability company in which our CEO owns a33%
interest. During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, we paid rent associated with this lease of $1.2 million, $1.5 million and $0.8 million, respectively, and rent
expense associated with this lease was $1.4 million, $1.4 million and $1.4 million, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, we entered into sale-leaseback transactions involvingtwo properties with a limited liability company that is a related party to one of
our existing stockholders. During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, we paid rent associated with these leases of $6.1 million, $6.0 million and $4.5 million,
respectively, and rent expense associated with these leases was $7.4 million, $7.4 million and $7.4 million, respectively.

Other Property Leases

In September 2015, our CEO, through two limited liability companies in which he had al00% interest, acquired the Woodbury, Minnesota facility that we have occupied and
operated as a tenant since 1995. The terms of the existing lease were unchanged upon the change in ownership. On September 29, 2020, our CEO contributed his ownership of
our center in Woodbury, Minnesota to LTRE. Following this contribution, we terminated our existing lease with the entities owned by our CEO and entered into a new lease for
the Woodbury center with subsidiaries of LTRE. We are currently accounting for the new Woodbury lease as an operating lease.

During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, rent payments associated with the new Woodbury lease were .2 million, $1.2 million and $0.3 million,
respectively, and rent expense associated with the new Woodbury lease was $1.3 million, $1.3 million and $0.3 million, respectively. As it relates to the previous Woodbury
lease, we paid rent during the year ended December 31, 2020 of $0.2 million.

In October 2003, we leased a center located within a shopping center that is owned by a general partnership in which our CEO has al 00% interest. During the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, we paid rent associated with this lease of .9 million, $1.1 million and $0.5 million, respectively, and rent expense associated with this
lease was $0.9 million, $0.9 million and $0.9 million, respectively.

Stockholder Note Receivable

For information on the stockholder note receivable, see Note 10, Stockholders’ Equity.
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Arrangements with our Investors and Management Stockholders

For information on the sale of our common stock with certain of our stockholders, see Note 10, Stockholders’ Equity.
Related Party Secured Loan

For information on the secured loan from an investor group comprised of our stockholders or their affiliates, see Note 8, Debt.
Unsecured Notes Offering

An affiliate of one of our stockholders was one of the initial purchasers in Life Time, Inc.’s offering of the Unsecured Notes and received customary initial purchaser discounts
and commissions.

Other

Life Time, Inc. and an entity owned by our former President and Chief Financial Officer, Mr. Bergmann, jointly owned an aircraft. In connection with his retirement from the
Company, Life Time, Inc. acquired Mr. Bergmann’s 50% interest in this aircraft in October 2022 for approximately $1.8 million. During this joint ownership, Life Time, Inc.
and Mr. Bergmann’s entity had entered into certain co-ownership, maintenance and personnel agreements under which the entity owned by Mr. Bergmann contributed
approximately $0.1 million per year to an operations fund for the fixed costs for the aircraft. Life Time, Inc. and the entity owned by Mr. Bergmann paid for the costs associated
with their respective trips during the time of joint ownership.

The daughter of our CEO currently serves as a director of real estate development for Life Time, Inc. During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, we paid total
compensation of approximately $0.2 million, $0.2 million and $0.2 million, respectively, for her services.

14.  Executive Nonqualified Plan

During 2006, we implemented the Executive Nonqualified Excess Plan of Life Time Fitness, a non-qualified deferred compensation plan. This plan was established for the
benefit of our highly compensated employees, which our plan defines as our employees whose projected compensation for the upcoming plan year would meet or exceed the
IRS limit for determining highly compensated employees. This unfunded, non-qualified deferred compensation plan allows participants the ability to defer and grow income for
retirement and significant expenses in addition to contributions made to our 401(k) Plan.

All highly compensated employees eligible to participate in the Executive Nonqualified Excess Plan of Life Time Fitness, including but not limited to our executives, may elect
to defer up to 50% of their annual base salary and/or annual bonus earnings to be paid in any coming year. The investment choices available to participants under the non-
qualified deferred compensation plan are of the same type and risk categories as those offered under our 401(k) Plan and may be modified or changed by the participant or us at
any time. Distributions can be paid out as in-service payments or at retirement. Retirement benefits can be paid out as a lump sum or in annual installments over a term of up to
10 years. We did not make a matching contribution to this plan during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020. Any contributions to this plan vest to each
participant according to their years of service with us. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, $10.3 million and $13.2 million, respectively, had been deferred and is being held on
behalf of the employees. These amounts are included in Other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets.

15.  Subsequent Events

During February 2023, we entered into an agreement for, and consummated, a sale-leaseback transaction involving one property with an unrelated party for a purchase price of
$33.0 million.

We have evaluated all subsequent events through the date of the consolidated financial statements were issued and determined that, other than with respect to the one sale-

leaseback transaction, there have been no other events or transactions which would have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements and therefore would require
recognition or disclosure.
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16. Condensed Financial Information of Registrant (Parent Company Only)

Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. is a holding company with no material operations of its own that conducts substantially all of its activities through its subsidiaries. Life Time
Group Holdings, Inc. has no cash and, as a result, all expenditures and obligations of the Company are allocated to and paid by its subsidiaries. Life Time, Inc. is the borrower
under our senior secured credit facility and the indentures governing our Secured Notes and our Unsecured Notes, the terms and conditions of which limit Life Time, Inc.’s
ability to declare dividends or make any payment on equity to, directly or indirectly, fund a dividend or other distribution to Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. in connection with
those borrowings. Dividends, redemptions and other payments on equity (restricted payments) are limited to those permitted under the senior secured credit facility and the
indentures governing our Secured Notes and Unsecured Notes. Due to the aforementioned restrictions, substantially all of the net assets of our subsidiaries are restricted. For
information regarding our senior secured credit facility, Secured Notes and Unsecured Notes, see Note 8, Debt.

The following condensed financial statements have been presented on a “parent-only” basis. Under a parent-only presentation, our investment in our subsidiaries is presented
under the equity method of accounting. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we recognized share-based compensation expense related to stock options, restricted stock,
restricted stock units and our ESPP of $37.3 million, of which $2.8 million, $33.5 million and $0.9 million is included in Center operations, General, administrative and
marketing and Other operating, respectively, in our parent-only condensed statement of operations. During the year ended December 31, 2021, we recognized share-based
compensation expense related to stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock units of $334.3 million, of which $12.9 million, $316.8 million and $4.6 million is included
in Center operations, General, administrative and marketing and Other operating, respectively, in our parent-only condensed statement of operations. Also during the year
ended December 31, 2021, we recognized a $41.0 million debt extinguishment loss related to the conversion of the Related Party Secured Loan to Series A Preferred Stock,
which is included in Interest expense, net of interest income in our parent-only condensed statement of operations. This debt extinguishment loss is not recognized for tax
purposes. No share-based compensation expense was recognized during the year ended December 31, 2020.

A condensed statement of cash flows is not presented because Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. has no cash, and, therefore, no material operating, investing, or financing cash
flow activities for years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020. The financing cash flow activities associated with the proceeds we received from the issuance of our
common stock during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, were non-cash transactions for Life Time Group Holdings, Inc., as the cash inflows and outflows
associated with those transactions occurred at our subsidiary, Life Time, Inc. and were accounted for as our equity contributions to Life Time, Inc. For more information
regarding these transactions, see Note 10, Stockholders’ Equity.
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LIFE TIME GROUP HOLDINGS, INC.
(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except per share data)

ASSETS
Current assets
Noncurrent assets:
Investment in subsidiaries
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities
Total liabilities
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value per share, 500,000 shares authorized, 194,271 and 193,060 shares issued and outstanding,
respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
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December 31,

2022 2021
_ $ _
2,124,261 2,091,392
2,124,261 2,091,392
2,124261  $ 2,091,392
_ $ _

1,943 1,931
2,784,416 2,743,560
(662,098) (654,099)
2,124,261 2,091,392
2,124261  $ 2,091,392
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LIFE TIME GROUP HOLDINGS, INC.

(PARENT COMPANY ONLY)
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021 2020
Total Revenue $ — & — & =
Operating expenses:
Center operations 2,842 12,934 —
General, administrative and marketing 33,535 316,836 —
Other operating 914 4,569 —
Total operating expenses 37,291 334,339 —
Loss from operations (37,291) (334,339) —
Other expense:
Interest expense, net of interest income — (40,993) —
Total other expense — (40,993) —
Loss before income taxes (37,291) (375,332) —
Benefit from income taxes (9,136) (81,579) —
Net loss before equity in net loss of subsidiaries (28,155) (293,753) —
Net income (loss) attributable to subsidiaries of Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. 26,362 (285,616) (360,192)
Net loss attributable to Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. $ (1,793) § (579,369) $ (360,192)
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Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

None.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our CEO and Chief Financial Officer, has carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual
Report. Based upon that evaluation, our CEO and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at a
reasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rule 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange
Act during the fourth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2022 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management’s annual report on our internal control over financial reporting is included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Attestation Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, our independent registered public
accounting firm, as stated in its attestation report, which is included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
Item 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS.
None.

PART III

Item 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item will be included in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A in connection with our 2023
Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item will be included in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A in connection with our 2023
Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item will be included in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A in connection with our 2023
Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item will be included in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A in connection with our 2023

Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item will be included in our definitive proxy statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A in connection with our 2023

Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV
Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
1. Consolidated Financial Statements (included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K):
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
2. Exhibits
All exhibits as set forth on the Exhibit Index.

Exhibit Index

Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibit Form File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation. 8-K 001-40887
32 Third Amended and Restated Bylaws. 8-K 001-40887
4.1 Indenture. dated as of January 22, 2021, by and between Life Time, Inc..as  S-1 333-259495
issuer. the guarantors party thereto and Wilmington Savings Fund Society
ESB. as trustee and notes collateral agent.
4.2 Indenture, dated as of February 5, 2021, by and between Life Time, Inc..as  S-1 333-259495
issuer, the guarantors party thereto and Wilmington Savings Fund Society,
FSB. as trustee.
43 Description of Capital Stock. 10-K 001-40887
10.1 Ninth Amendment to the Credit Agreement, dated as of December 2, 2021 8-K 001-40887
by and among LTF Intermediate Holdings, Inc., Life Time, Inc.. the
subsidiary guarantors party thereto, the lenders party thereto, and Deutsche
Bank AG New York Branch, as administrative agent and collateral agent.
10.2 # The Executive Nonqualified Excess Plan. S-1 333-259495
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3.1
32
4.1

4.2

43
10.1

10.10

10/12/2021
10/12/2021
9/13/2021

9/13/2021

3/10/2022
12/6/2021

9/13/2021


https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1869198/000119312521296970/d241998dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1869198/000119312521296970/d241998dex32.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1869198/000119312521271527/d157859dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1869198/000119312521271527/d157859dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1869198/000186919821000008/lth-20211206xex101.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1869198/000119312521271527/d157859dex1010.htm
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Exhibit
Number

Description of Exhibit

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

103 #
10.4 #

10.5 #
10.6 #
10.7 #

10.8 #
109 #
10.10 #

10.11 #
10.12 #
10.13 #
10.14 1#
10.15 #
10.16 #
10.17 #
10.18 #
10.19 #
10.20 #
10.21 #
10.22 #
10.23

10.24

LTF Holdings, Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan. as amended.

Forms of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreements of LTF Holdings, Inc.

under the LTF Holdings. Inc. 2015 Equity Incentive Plan.

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under LTF Holdings, Inc.

2015 Equity Incentive Plan.

LTF Holdings, Inc. Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement, dated October

6. 2015, by and between Bahram Akradi and LTFE Holdings. Inc.

LTF Holdings, Inc. Preferred Restricted Stock Agreement. dated May 3,

2021, by and between Bahram Akradi and LTF Holdings. Inc.

Life Time Group Holdings. Inc. 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Life Time Group Holdings. Inc. 2021 Incentive Award Plan.

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the Life Time Group Holdings, Inc.

2021 Incentive Award Plan.

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Life Time

Group Holdings. Inc. 2021 Incentive Award Plan.

Life Time Group Holdings. Inc. Non-Employee Director Compensation

Policy.

Offer Letter. dated as of August 18. 2021, by and between Bahram Akradi

and Life Time, Inc.

Employee Non-Competition Agreement, dated as of August 18, 2021, by

and between Bahram Akradi and Life Time, Inc.

Employment Agreement by and between Thomas E. Bergmann and Life

Time Group Holdings, Inc., effective as October 12, 2021.

Agreement and General Release by and between Thomas E. Bergmann and

Life Time Group Holdings. Inc.. effective as of December 30, 2022.

Consulting Agreement by and between Thomas E. Bergmann and Life

Time, Inc., effective as of December 30, 2022.

Employment Agreement by and between Eric J. Buss and Life Time Group

Holdings. Inc., effective as of October 12, 2021.

Employment Agreement by and between Jeffrey G. Zwiefel and Life Time

Group Holdings, Inc., effective as of October 12, 2021.

Employment Agreement by and between RJ Singh and Life Time Group

Holdings. Inc., effective as of October 12, 2021.

Employment Agreement by and between Parham Javaheri and Life Time

Group Holdings, Inc., effective as of October 12, 2021.

Employment Agreement by and between Robert Houghton and Life Time

Group Holdings. Inc.. effective as of August 28, 2022.
Form of Director and Officer Indemnification and Advancement
Agreement.

Third Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement, dated October 6

2021, among the Company and certain of its stockholders.
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S-1
S-1

S-1
S-1
S-1

S-1
S-1

S-1

S-1

S-1

S-1

S-1

10-Q

8-K

8-K

333-259495
333-259495

333-259495

333-259495

333-259495

333-259495
333-259495
333-259495

333-259495

333-259495

333-259495

333-259495

333-259495

333-259495

333-259495

333-259495

001-40887

001-40887

333-259495

001-40887

10.11
10.12

10.13

10.14

10.17

10.18
10.19
10.20

10.21

10.22

10.27

10.32

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.1

10.1

10.33

10.1

9/13/2021
9/13/2021

9/13/2021

9/13/2021

9/13/2021

9/29/2021
9/29/2021
9/29/2021

9/29/2021

9/13/2021

9/13/2021

9/13/2021

9/13/2021

Filed herewith

Filed herewith

9/13/2021

9/13/2021

9/13/2021

5/11/2022

8/29/2022

9/13/2021

10/12/2021


https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1869198/000119312521271527/d157859dex1011.htm
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Exhibit

Number Description of Exhibit Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date
21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant. Filed herewith
23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP. Filed herewith
24.1 Power of Attorney (included in the signature page to the Annual Report).

31.1 Certificate of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules Filed herewith

13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules Filed herewith

13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a). as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section Furnished herewith
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 2002.
322 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section Furnished herewith
1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 2002.
101. INS Inline XBRL Instance Document — the Instance Document does not appear Filed herewith
in the interactive data file because its XBRL tags are Embedded within the
Inline XBRL Document.
101.SCH Inline XBRL Schema Document. Filed herewith
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document. Filed herewith
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document. Filed herewith
101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document. Filed herewith
101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document. Filed herewith
104 Cover Page Interactive Data File — the cover page interactive data file does Filed herewith

not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded
within the Inline XBRL document.

t  Certain of the exhibits and schedules to this Exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601(a)(5). The Registrant agrees to furnish a copy of all
omitted exhibits and schedules to the SEC upon its request.

# Management contract, plan, or arrangement.
Item 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Life Time Group Holdings, Inc.
Date: March 8, 2023 By: /s/ Robert Houghton

Robert Houghton
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

The undersigned directors and officers of Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. hereby constitute and appoint Bahram Akradi and Robert Houghton, and each of them, as the
individual’s true and lawful attorney in fact and agent, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for the person and in his name, place and stead, in any and all
capacities, to sign this report and any or all amendments, and all other documents in connection therewith to be filed with the SEC, granting unto said attorney in fact and agent
full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he
might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorney in fact as agent, or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue
hereto.
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities
and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ Bahram Akradi Founder, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer March 8, 2023
Bahram Akradi (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Robert Houghton Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer March 8, 2023
Robert Houghton (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ Erik Weaver Senior Vice President, Controller March 8, 2023
Erik Weaver (Principal Accounting Officer)
/s/ Jimena Almendares Director March 8, 2023
Jimena Almendares
/s/ Joel Alsfine Director March 8, 2023
Joel Alsfine
/s/ Donna Coallier Director March 8, 2023
Donna Coallier
/s/ Jonathan Coslet Director March 8, 2023
Jonathan Coslet
/s/ John G. Danhakl Director March 8, 2023
John G. Danhakl
/s/ J. Kristofer Galashan Director March 8, 2023

J. Kristofer Galashan

/s/ Paul Hackwell Director March 8, 2023
Paul Hackwell
/s/ David A. Landau Director March 8, 2023

David A. Landau

/s/ Stuart Lasher Director March 8, 2023
Stuart Lasher
/s/ Alejandro Santo Domingo Director March 8, 2023

Alejandro Santo Domingo

/s/ Andres Small Director March 8, 2023
Andres Small
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The following descriptions of our capital stock and provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws are
summaries and are qualified by reference to the amended and restated certificate of incorporation and the amended and restated bylaws, which are filed as exhibits to our annual
reports on Form 10-K.

General

Our authorized capital stock consists of 500,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share, and 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per
share.

Common Stock

Holders of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders and do not have cumulative voting rights.
An election of directors by our stockholders shall be determined by a plurality of the votes cast by the stockholders entitled to vote on the election. Holders of common stock are
entitled to receive proportionately any dividends as may be declared by our board of directors, subject to any preferential dividend rights of any series of preferred stock that we
may designate and issue in the future.

In the event of our liquidation, dissolution, or winding up, the holders of common stock are entitled to receive proportionately our net assets available for distribution
to stockholders after the payment in full of all debts and other liabilities and subject to the prior rights of any outstanding preferred stock. Holders of common stock have no
preemptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights. There is no sinking fund provisions applicable to our common stock. The rights, preferences and privileges of
holders of common stock are subject to and may be adversely affected by the rights of the holders of shares of any series of preferred stock that we may designate and issue in
the future.

Preferred Stock

Under the terms of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, our board of directors is authorized to direct us to issue shares of preferred stock in one or
more series without stockholder approval. Our board of directors has the discretion to determine the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions, including voting rights,
dividend rights, conversion rights, redemption privileges and liquidation preferences, of each series of preferred stock.

Authorized but Unissued Shares

The authorized but unissued shares of our common stock and our preferred stock are available for future issuance without stockholder approval, subject to any
limitations imposed by the listing standards of the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”).

Anti-Takeover Effects of Provisions of Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, Our Amended and Restated Bylaws and Delaware Law

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws, as well as provisions of the Delaware General Corporation
Law (the “DGCL”), could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us or increase the cost of acquiring us, even if doing so would benefit our stockholders, including
transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares.

Classified Board of Directors

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that our board of directors is divided into three classes, with the classes as nearly equal in number as
possible and, following the expiration of specified initial terms for each class, each class serving three-year staggered terms. As a result, approximately one-third of our
directors are expected to be elected each year. Pursuant to the terms of the Third Amended and Restated Stockholders Agreement among us and certain of our stockholders,
dated October 6, 2021, directors designated by members of certain of our stockholders party thereto (which we refer to as the “Voting Group”) may only be removed with or
without cause by the request of the party entitled to designate such director. In all other cases, our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that directors may
only be removed from our board of directors for cause by the affirmative vote of at least two-thirds of the voting power of the then outstanding shares of voting stock, following
such time as when the Voting Group collectively ceases to own, in the aggregate, 50% or more of the voting power of our common stock. Prior to that time, any individual
director may be removed with or without cause by the affirmative vote of a majority of the confirmed voting power of our common stock.
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Special Meetings of Stockholders

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides that, after the date on which certain affiliates of Leonard Green & Partners, L.P. and its affiliates
(“LGP”) and TPG Global, LLC and its affiliates (“TPG”) cease to beneficially own, in the aggregate, more than 50% in voting power of our stock entitled to vote generally in
the election of directors, special meetings of the stockholders may be called only by the chairman of the board, a resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of the majority of the
directors then in office and not by our stockholders or any other person or persons. Our amended and restated bylaws prohibit the conduct of any business at a special meeting
other than as specified in the notice for such meeting.

Stockholder Action by Written Consent

Pursuant to Section 228 of the DGCL, any action required to be taken at any annual or special meeting of the stockholders may be taken without a meeting, without
prior notice and without a vote if a consent or consents in writing, setting forth the action so taken, is signed by the holders of outstanding stock having not less than the
minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all shares of our stock entitled to vote thereon were present and voted,
unless our amended and restated certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation prohibits stockholder action by written
consent (and, thus, requires that all stockholder actions be taken at a meeting of our stockholders), if the Voting Group collectively ceases to own, or no longer has the right to
direct the vote of, 50% or more of the voting power of our common stock.

Requirements for Advance Notification of Stockholder Meetings, Nominations and Proposals

Our amended and restated bylaws require that any stockholder who wishes to bring business before an annual meeting or nominate directors must comply with the
advance notice requirements set forth therein.

Approval for Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws

The DGCL provides generally that the affirmative vote of holders of a majority in voting power of outstanding shares entitled to vote on the matter is required to
amend a corporation’s certificate of incorporation, unless a corporation’s certificate of incorporation requires a greater percentage. Our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation provides that the affirmative vote of holders of at least two-thirds of the voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of voting stock, voting as a single class,
is required to amend certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation, including provisions relating to the size of the board, removal of directors,
special meetings, actions by written consent and cumulative voting, if the Voting Group collectively ceases to own, or no longer has the right to direct the vote of, at least 50%
of the voting power of our common stock. The affirmative vote of holders of at least two-thirds of the voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of voting stock, voting
as a single class, is required to amend or repeal our amended and restated bylaws, if the Voting Group collectively ceases to own, or no longer has the right to direct the vote of,
at least 50% of the voting power of our common stock, although our amended and restated bylaws may be amended by a simple majority vote of our board of directors.

Business Combinations
We have opted out of Section 203 of the DGCL.
Exclusive Venue

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws require, to the fullest extent permitted by law, that (i) any derivative action
or proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or other employees to us or our
stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL or our amended and restated certificate of incorporation or our amended
and restated bylaws, or (iv) any action asserting a claim against us governed by the internal affairs doctrine must be brought only in the Court of Chancery in the State of
Delaware (or the federal district court for the District of Delaware or other state courts of the State of Delaware if the Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware does not have
jurisdiction). Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws also require that the federal district courts of the United States of America
is the exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. These provisions do not apply to any
suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or any other claim for which the federal courts of the United States have exclusive
jurisdiction.
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Conlflicts of Interest

Delaware law permits corporations to adopt provisions renouncing any interest or expectancy in certain opportunities that are presented to the corporation or its
officers, directors or stockholders. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation renounces, to the maximum extent permitted from time to time by Delaware law, any
interest or expectancy that we have in, or right to be offered an opportunity to participate in, specified business opportunities that are from time to time presented to our officers,
directors or stockholders or their respective affiliates, other than those officers, directors, stockholders or affiliates who are our or our subsidiaries’ employees. Our amended
and restated certificate of incorporation provides that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the members of the Voting Group or any of their affiliates or any director
who is not employed by us (including any non-employee director who serves as one of our officers in both his director and officer capacities) or his or her affiliates has any
duty to refrain from (i) engaging in a corporate opportunity in the same or similar lines of business in which we or our affiliates now engage or propose to engage or
(ii) otherwise competing with us or our affiliates. In addition, to the fullest extent permitted by law, in the event that a member of the Voting Group or any non-employee
director acquires knowledge of a potential transaction or other business opportunity which may be a corporate opportunity for itself or himself or herself or its or his or her
affiliates or for us or our affiliates, such person has no duty to communicate or offer such transaction or business opportunity to us or any of our affiliates and they may take any
such opportunity for themselves or offer it to another person or entity. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation does not renounce our interest in any business
opportunity that is expressly offered to a non-employee director solely in his or her capacity as a director or officer of the Company. To the fullest extent permitted by law, no
business opportunity will be deemed to be a potential corporate opportunity for us unless we would be permitted to undertake the opportunity under our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation, we have sufficient financial resources to undertake the opportunity and the opportunity would be in line with our business (or is under development
and projected to grow into a material business for us) or is of at least some practical advantage to us.

Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is American Stock Transfer & Trust.
Stock Exchange Listing

Our common stock is listed on the NYSE under the symbol “LTH.”
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AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE

This Agreement and General Release (this “Agreement”), effective as of December 30, 2022 (the “Effective Date™), is between
Thomas E. Bergmann (“you”) and Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. and its affiliates and subsidiaries (collectively, the “Company”).
Collectively, you and the Company are referred to herein as “the Parties.” In consideration of the mutual promises contained in this Agreement,
the Parties agree as follows:

1. Separation of Employment. Effective as of the Effective Date, you have voluntarily elected to retire from employment with the
Company and your employment with the Company shall end. You acknowledge and agree that, effective as of the Effective Date, you hereby
resign as President and as an employee of the Company, and from all other offices, directorships and positions you may hold at the Company
and the Company’s direct and indirect subsidiaries. Simultaneously therewith, you are entering into a consulting agreement with the Company
(the “Consulting Agreement”) whereby you shall remain a service provider to the Company as a consultant providing bona fide services to the
Company as set forth therein. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement or in the Consulting Agreement, all employment privileges and
benefits end as of the close of business on that date.

2. The Released Parties. The “Released Parties” include: the Company, any and all former or current parents, affiliates,
subsidiaries, related companies, predecessors, successors, assigns, and each of their respective former or current officers, directors,
shareholders, employees, attorneys, agents, insurers, employee benefit plans and fiduciaries of such plans, and other representatives. Through
this Agreement, you are providing a release to all of the Released Parties.

3. No Admission of and No Liability. The Parties desire to resolve any and all disputes, claims and/or allegations, you or anyone
on your behalf has made or could have made, up through and including the date you sign this Agreement. This Agreement is not an admission
by the Company that it has acted wrongfully or unlawfully, and the Parties agree that it will not be interpreted as such.

4.  Health Insurance Benefits Continuation. Following the Effective Date, to the extent permitted by law and the Company’s health
insurance policies, you may voluntarily elect to continue your health insurance benefits (if any) under the federal COBRA law at your own
expense for a period not to exceed eighteen (18) months. You will be provided with a separate notice of your COBRA rights. In further
consideration for your releases and covenants contained in this Agreement, if you timely so elect to continue your health insurance benefits, the
Company will pay the total cost of such coverage through June 30, 2024. You acknowledge that you are not otherwise entitled to the
Company’s payment for the continuation of your health insurance benefits, and that the Company has agreed to provide payment through June
30, 2024 solely as consideration for your signing, and not revoking or rescinding, this Agreement.

5. Club Membership Continuation. In further consideration for your releases and covenants contained in this Agreement, the
Company will continue your current Life Time club



membership through June 30, 2024. You acknowledge that you are not otherwise entitled to the Company’s payment of the continuation of
your club membership, and that the Company has agreed to provide such payment solely as consideration for your signing, and not revoking or
rescinding, this Agreement.

6. Stock Options and Restricted Stock Units. Pursuant to the Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement, dated June 8, 2016, by and
between the Company and you (the “Pre-2021 Stock Option Agreement”), you have outstanding the right to purchase 1,200,000 shares of
common stock of the Company (the “Pre-2021 Option”), all of which has vested and is exercisable as of the Effective Date. Pursuant to the
Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement, dated May 3, 2021, by and between the Company and you (the “2021 Stock Option Agreement”), the
Company granted you the right to purchase 260,000 shares of common stock of the Company (the “2021 Option”), of which 162,500 shares
have vested and are exercisable as of the Effective Date and 97,500 shares are to vest in equal and cumulative installments on each May 1 of
the three years following the Effective Date; provided, that you remain continuously employed or engaged in active service by the Company
through the applicable vesting dates. Pursuant to the Stock Option Grant Notices and Stock Option Agreements, dated October 6, 2021 and
March 17, 2022, by and between the Company and you (collectively, the “Public Company Stock Option Agreements”), the Company granted
you the right to purchase 102,623 shares of common stock of the Company (the “IPO Option™) and 101,626 shares of common stock of the
Company (the “2022 Option”), respectively, of which 25,656 shares of the IPO Option have vested and are exercisable as of the Effective Date
and the remaining 178,593 shares of the IPO Option and all of the 2022 Option are unvested and are to vest in equal and cumulative
installments on each of the first four anniversaries of the applicable grant date; provided, that you remain continuously employed or continue to
provide service to the Company through the applicable vesting dates.

As a result of your entering into the Consulting Agreement simultaneously with the effectiveness of your retirement from employment
with the Company, you will remain in active service to the Company as a “Service Provider” and not have a “Termination of Service” under the
applicable award agreements. The Pre-2021 Option, the 2021 Option, the IPO Option and the 2022 Option (collectively, the “Options™) will
thus continue to vest and be exercisable, as applicable, in accordance with and subject to the terms of the respective award agreements,
including that you continue to provide bona fide services to the Company. The term of the Consulting Agreement ends March 31, 2026, at
which time all of the Options shall have vested if you continue to provide bona fide services to the Company through such date. The date you
cease providing services to the Company shall be the “Consultant End Date.”

Solely as consideration for (and subject to) your signing, and not revoking or rescinding, this Agreement, the Company has agreed to
allow the (x) 1,200,000 vested shares of the Pre-2021 Option to remain outstanding following the Consultant End Date and be eligible to be
exercised in accordance with and subject to the terms of the Pre-2021 Stock Option Agreement (including with respect to the expiration of the
Pre-2021 Option pursuant to Sections 3.3(a) and (c) but not Section 3.3(b) therein); (y) 260,000 shares of the 2021 Option (or such lesser
amount that shall have vested as of the Consultant End Date) to remain outstanding following the Consultant End Date and be eligible to be
exercised in accordance with and subject to the terms



of the 2021 Stock Option Agreement (including with respect to the expiration of the 2021 Option pursuant to Sections 3.3(a) and (d) but not
Section 3.3(b) and (c) therein); and (z) 204,249 shares of the IPO Option and the 2022 Option (or such lesser amount that shall have vested as
of the Consultant End Date) to remain outstanding following the Consultant End Date and in each case be eligible to be exercised in
accordance with and subject to the terms of the Public Company Stock Option Agreements (including with respect to the expiration of the IPO
Option and the 2022 Option pursuant to Sections 3.3(a) but not Section 3.3(b), (c¢) and (d) therein) (and, in each case, for the avoidance of
doubt, not to extend the original expiration date(s) set forth in the applicable stock option agreements).

You hereby acknowledge that you are not otherwise entitled to the concessions set forth in the foregoing paragraphs and, except as set
forth in the foregoing paragraphs and except as set forth in Section 4D of the Consulting Agreement, you acknowledge that all terms of the
applicable award agreements remain in effect and enforceable, including, but not limited to, the restrictive covenants set forth therein. You
further acknowledge that, under the terms of the applicable award agreements, failure to comply with the restrictive covenants (as amended by
Section 4D of the Consulting Agreement) will result in the expiration and forfeiture of any and all rights to vest or exercise your stock options.

Pursuant to the Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notices and Restricted Stock Unit Agreements by and between the Company and you, dated
as of October 12, 2021, March 11, 2022 and April 6, 2022 (collectively, the “RSU Award Agreements”), the Company granted to you 50,000
restricted stock units on October 12, 2021 (the “IPO RSUs™), 11,111 restricted stock units on March 11, 2022 (the “2021 Bonus RSUs”), and
41,667 restricted stock units on April 6, 2022 (the “2022 RSUs” and, together with the IPO RSUs and the 2021 Bonus RSUs, the “RSUs”), and
the IPO RSUs are to vest in four equal annual installments on each of the first four anniversaries of their grant date, the 2021 Bonus RSUs are
to vest in two equal annual installments on each of the first two anniversaries of their grant date and the 2022 RSUs are to vest in four equal
annual installments beginning on the first full trading date following the release of the Company’s 2022 financial results; provided, that the
Company meets certain performance criteria set forth in that applicable RSU Award Agreement; provided, further, in each case that you remain
continuously employed or engaged in service by the Company through the applicable vesting date. Pursuant to the RSU Award Agreements,
12,500 shares of common stock with respect to the IPO RSUs have vested as of the Effective Date. As a result of your entering into the
Consulting Agreement simultaneously with the effectiveness of your retirement from employment with the Company, you will remain in active
service to the Company as a “Service Provider” and not have a “Termination of Service” under the RSU Award Agreements. The RSUs will
thus continue to vest in accordance with and subject to the terms of the RSU Award Agreements, including that you continue to provide bona
fide services to the Company. All of the IPO RSUs, the 2021 Bonus RSUs and the 2022 RSUs shall have vested if you continue to provide
services under the Consulting Agreement through its March 31, 2026 end date and if, with respect to the 2022 RSUs, the Company meets the
performance criteria set forth in that applicable RSU Award Agreement; provided, that if the Company were to not meet such performance
criteria in full or in part but exercises discretion to allow some or all of the similarly



granted restricted stock units for the Company’s other executives to nonetheless vest in full or part, you will be treated equally with such other
executives.

You hereby acknowledge that all terms of the RSU Award Agreements remain in effect and enforceable, including, but not limited to,
the restrictive covenants set forth therein (as amended by Section 4D of the Consulting Agreement). You further acknowledge that, under the
terms of the RSU Award Agreements, failure to comply with the restrictive covenants (as amended by Section 4D of the Consulting
Agreement) will result in the forfeiture of any remaining unvested RSUs you may have under the applicable RSU Award Agreements.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, if you cease providing services to the Company by reason of the Company terminating the Consulting
Agreement for convenience pursuant to Section 4B thereof, any unvested Options or unvested RSUs at the time of such termination will
continue to vest and be exercisable, as applicable, in accordance with and subject to their respective award agreement notwithstanding such
termination of service.

7. Annual Cash Bonus. On September 13, 2021, you and the Company entered into an Employment Agreement (the “Employment
Agreement”). In Section 2(b)(ii) of the Employment Agreement, entitled “Annual Cash Bonus,” the Parties set forth the terms regarding the
amount and eligibility requirements for receiving an annual cash bonus. The eligibility requirements include the achievement of certain
Company performance metrics and/or individual performance metrics as determined by the Board of Directors or the Compensation
Committee. Given that you have served as an executive officer of the Company for all of 2022 and will continue on as a consultant to the
Company, you will remain eligible to receive a cash bonus under the Company’s 2022 annual bonus program for executive officers if and to
the extent the Company achieves the previously approved performance metrics and based on your threshold, target and maximum cash bonus
opportunities. If the Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee were to exercise positive or negative discretion in the amount of the
annual cash bonus compared to the previously approved performance metrics, you would be treated equally with such other executives with
respect to the exercise of such discretion. Any annual cash bonus will be paid in the normal course of business in the same time and manner as
such other executives. You further acknowledge that the restrictive covenants set forth in Sections 7 through 9 of the Employment Agreement
(as well as those set forth in the stock option and restricted stock unit award agreements described above, in each case as amended by Section
4D of the Consulting Agreement) remain in effect and enforceable.

8. Return of Company Property. You acknowledge that, on or before the date you sign this Agreement, you have returned all
property of the Company in your possession, including, but not limited to, all files, memoranda, spreadsheets, lists, privileged information,
documents, records, copies of the foregoing, any Company credit cards, scanner/fax machines, laptops, printers, copiers, phones, keys, access
cards, and any other such property in your possession, except for any such property that the Company agrees you should retain to provide
services under the Consulting Agreement. You also acknowledge and agree that you have deleted all information and material of the Company
from your personal electronic devices and accounts, including, but not limited to, all Company e-mail information from your cellular phone,
and all Company information from your personal laptop, except for any such information



and material that the Company agrees you should retain to provide services under the Consulting Agreement. You acknowledge that this
obligation is continuing and agree to promptly return to the Company (and delete) any subsequently discovered property to the Company.

9. Confidential Information. You agree to not divulge, furnish, or make accessible to anyone or use in any way any confidential,
proprietary, or secret knowledge or information of the Company that you acquired during your employment with the Company or that you
acquire while providing services under the Consulting Agreement, whether developed by you or by others, concerning: (a) any Company trade
secrets; (b) any confidential, proprietary, or secret plans, developments, research, processes, designs, methods, or material (whether or not
patented or patentable) of the Company; (¢) any customer or supplier lists of the Company; (d) any strategic or other business, media,
marketing, or sales plans, ideas, materials, or products of the Company; (e) any financial data or plans with respect to the Company; (f) any
and all information, documentation, data, or material protected by the attorney-client or other privilege; and (g) any other confidential or
proprietary information or secret aspects of the business of the Company. You acknowledge that the above-described knowledge and
information constitutes a unique and valuable asset of the Company and represents a substantial investment of time and expense by the
Company, and that any disclosure or other use of such knowledge or information other than for the sole benefit of the Company would be
wrongful and would cause irreparable harm to the Company.

10. Notice Regarding Trade Secrets. Notwithstanding the foregoing, you understand that an individual may not be held criminally
or civilly liable under any federal or state trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that is made: (a) in confidence to a federal, state, or
local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an attorney; and (b) solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected
violation of law. You further understand that an individual may not be held criminally or civilly liable under any federal or state trade secret
law for the disclosure of a trade secret that is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is
made under seal. Further, you understand that an individual who files a lawsuit for retaliation by the Company for reporting a suspected
violation of law may disclose the trade secret to the individual’s attorney and use the trade secret information in the court proceeding, if the
individual: (a) files any document containing the trade secret under seal; and (b) does not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court
order.

11.  Release. In exchange for the covenants of the Company, you, on your own behalf and on the behalf of your heirs, attorneys,
agents, insurers, administrators, executors, successors, assigns, and/or other representatives, agree to forever and do forever give up, release,
and discharge any and all known and unknown claims, demands, actions, decisions, alleged omissions, events, liabilities, damages, and/or
rights of any kind that you have and/or may have from the beginning of time up through and including the date you sign this Agreement against
the Released Parties, including for compensation, damages and remedies of any kind, equitable or at law. Your release includes, but is not
limited to, any and all claims you or anyone on your behalf made or could have made against the Released Parties.

You understand that this release includes, but is not limited to, claims under the Minnesota Human Rights Act, Minn. Stat. §§ 363A.01,
et seq.; Minn. Stat. Chapter 181;



Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act, Colo. Rev. Stat. §§ 24-34-301, et seq.; Colo. Rev. Stat. §§ 8-5-101, et seq.; claims brought under any other
state, administrative, statutory, or codified law or regulation dealing with employment practices; Title VII of the Civil Rights Act, 42 U.S.C.

§ 2000e, et seq.; the Civil Rights Act of 1991;the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, 29 U.S.C. § 621, et seq.; the Older Workers Benefit
Protection Act of 1990; the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq.; the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification
Act, 29 U.S.C. § 2101, et seq.; the Family and Medical Leave Act, 29 U.S.C. § 2601, et seq. including amendments such as the Families First
Coronavirus Response Act; the Employee Retirement Income Security Act, 29 U.S.C. §1001, et seq.; the Immigration Reform and Control
Act; the Occupational Safety and Health Act; the Genetic Information Non-Discrimination Act of 2008; the Lily Ledbetter Fair Pay Act of
2009; Sections 1981 through 1988 of Title 42 of the U.S.C.; and any and all other federal, state, or local law, rule, statute, or regulation; and
any of the above laws as amended, if applicable. You further understand that this release includes, but is not limited to, any and all claims that
you have or may have for wrongful discharge, wrongful termination, violation of public policy, discrimination, harassment, breach of contract,
failure to reasonably accommodate, failure to engage in the interactive process, failure to provide leave or protected time off, promissory
estoppel or breach of an expressed or implied promise, misrepresentation or fraud, retaliation, reprisal, infliction of emotional distress,
negligence, whistleblowing, defamation, or any other common law theory of recovery, all claims otherwise based on any other theory, whether
legal or equitable, whether developed or undeveloped, arising from or related to your employment with the Company, your separation from
employment with the Company, or any other claims, demands, actions, decisions, alleged omissions, events, liabilities, damages, and/or rights
of any kind occurring up through and including the date you sign this Agreement.

You agree that you will not institute any lawsuit or arbitration proceeding against any of the Released Parties arising from or related to
your employment with the Company, your separation from employment with the Company, or any other actions, decisions, alleged omissions,
or events occurring up through and including the date you sign this Agreement, to the greatest extent permitted by law. However, nothing in
this Agreement shall be construed to prevent you from filing a charge or complaint, including a challenge to the validity of this Agreement,
with a governmental agency, from participating in or cooperating with any investigation conducted by a governmental agency, or from
receiving an award for information provided to a government agency, or from participating in or cooperating with any investigation conducted
by a governmental agency, including, but not limited to, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, the Colorado Civil Rights Division,
and the Minnesota Department of Human Rights or as releasing any claims which may not be released under applicable law.

12.  Acceptance. The terms of this Agreement will be open for acceptance by you for a period of twenty-one (21) days during which
time you may consult with an attorney and consider whether or not to accept this Agreement. You agree that changes to this Agreement,
whether material or immaterial, will not restart this acceptance period.

13.  Right to Rescind/Revoke. You have the right to rescind this Agreement, only insofar as it extends to potential claims under the
Minnesota Human Rights Act, by written notice to the Company within fifteen (15) calendar days following your signing of this



Agreement. You also have the right to revoke this Agreement, only insofar as it extends to potential claims under the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act, by written notice to the Company within seven (7) calendar days following your signing of this Agreement. Any such
revocation and/or rescission must be in writing and hand-delivered to the Company, or, if sent by mail, postmarked within the applicable time
period, sent by certified mail, return receipt requested, and addressed as follows: Lisa Pollock, Senior Vice President, Human Resources, Life
Time, Inc., 2902 Corporate Place, Chanhassen, MN 55317.

You understand that if you exercise your right of rescission and/or revocation, the Company may, at its option, either nullify this
Agreement in its entirety, or keep it in effect in all respects other than as to that portion of your release of claims that you have rescinded and/or
revoked. In the event the Company opts to nullify the entire Agreement, you understand that the Company will have no obligations under this
Agreement to you or others whose rights may derive from you.

14. Non-Disparagement. You agree that you will not disparage or defame any of the Released Parties orally or in writing to any
third party, on any web, Internet, or social media site, or in any newspaper, media or other source of any kind.

15.  Breach. If you breach any of the provisions of this Agreement, the Company shall have the right to terminate its obligations
under this Agreement to you or others whose rights may derive from you.

16. Medicare Coverage/Acknowledgment. You affirm, covenant, and warrant that you are not a Medicare beneficiary and are not
currently receiving, have not received in the past, will not have received at the time of payment pursuant to this Agreement, are not entitled to,
are not eligible for, and have not applied for or sought Social Security Disability or Medicare benefits. In the event any statement in the
preceding sentence is incorrect (for example, but not limited to, if you are a Medicare beneficiary, etc.), the following sentences (i.e., the
remaining sentences of this Paragraph) apply. You affirm, covenant and warrant that you have made no claim for illness or injury against, nor
are you aware of any facts supporting any claim against, the Released Parties under which the Released Parties could be liable for medical
expenses incurred by you before or after the execution of this Agreement. Furthermore, you are aware of no medical expenses which Medicare
has paid and for which the Released Parties are, or could be, liable now or in the future. You agree and affirm that, to the best of your
knowledge, no liens of any government entities, including those for Medicare conditional payments, exist. You will indemnify, defend, and
hold the Released Parties harmless from Medicare claims, liens, damages, conditional payments, and rights to payment, if any, including
attorneys’ fees, and you further agree to waive any and all future private causes of action for damages pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1395y(b)(3)(A),

et seq.

17.  No Bankruptcy/No Assignment of Rights. You agree that you have not filed for bankruptcy since you began your first period of
employment with the Company, that you have not assigned to any person or entity your rights as it relates to your releases in this Agreement,
and that you have the full authority to enter into this Agreement.



18.  Cooperation Clause. You agree to cooperate with the Company in connection with any legal matters or investigations, if so
requested by the Company. Such cooperation includes, without limitation, agreeing to make yourself available at the Company’s request to
consult, advise and assist with respect to legal and business matters about which you had knowledge or responsibility during your employment
with the Company, or about which the Company reasonably believes you have such knowledge or your assistance may be helpful. In
performing your obligations to cooperate under this Agreement to testify or otherwise provide information, you will truthfully and completely
provide requested information to the extent that you are able to do so. You agree that the consideration set forth in this Agreement is sufficient
consideration for this cooperation.

19. No Claims, Charges, or Lawsuits Filed. You represent and agree that, as of the date you sign this Agreement, you have not
instituted or filed any lawsuit, charge, complaint, or claim of any kind against the Company or the Released Parties. You further agree that, as
of the date you sign this Agreement, you have not made any claim for sexual harassment against the Company or the Released Parties. You
also represent that you have no, and know of no, injury or illness sustained as a result of work for the Company.

20.  No Other Sums Due. You represent that, except as set forth in this Agreement, as of the date you sign this Agreement, the
Company has paid you all salary, wages, overtime wages, commissions, bonuses, incentives, benefits, and any other sums due to you arising
out of your employment with the Company.

21.  Modification/Assignment. This Agreement may not be modified or assigned except by a writing signed by both Parties.

22.  Governing Law/Severability. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Minnesota. If any part of this
Agreement is construed to be in violation of any law, rule, or regulation, such part shall be modified to achieve the objective of the Parties to
the fullest extent permitted, and the balance of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.

23.  Entire Agreement. You agree that this Agreement, the Consulting Agreement, the Employment Agreement, the Pre-2021 Stock
Option Agreement, the 2021 Stock Option Agreement, the Public Company Stock Option Agreements, and the RSU Award Agreements (in
each case as the Employment Agreement and such award agreements are amended by Section 4D of the Consulting Agreement), contain the
entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement. Any modification of or addition to this Agreement
must be in writing, signed by an officer of the Company and you.

24.  Section 409A. This Agreement shall be interpreted and administered in a manner so that any amount or benefit payable
hereunder shall be paid or provided in a manner that is either exempt from or compliant with the requirements Section 409A of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and applicable Treasury Regulations issued thereunder. The Parties hereto acknowledge and
agree that, to the extent applicable, this Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with, and incorporate the terms and conditions required
by, Section 409A of the Code. No provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted or construed to transfer any liability for failure to comply
with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code from you



or any other individual to the Company or any of its affiliates, employees or agents. To the extent permitted under Section 409A of the Code,
any separate payment or benefit under this Agreement or otherwise shall not be deemed “nonqualified deferred compensation” subject to
Section 409A to the extent provided in the exceptions in Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(b)(4), Section 1.409A-1(b)(9) or any other
applicable exception or provision of Section 409A of the Code. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, no compensation
or benefits shall be paid to you during the six (6)-month period following your “separation from service” from the Company (within the
meaning of Section 409A of the Code, a “Separation from Service”) if the Company determines that at the time of your Separation from
Service that you are a “specified employee” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code and paying such amounts at the time or times indicated
in this Agreement would be a prohibited distribution under Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) of the Code. If the payment of any such amounts is
delayed as a result of the previous sentence, then on the first day of the seventh month following the date of Separation from Service (or such
earlier date upon which such amount can be paid under Section 409A of the Code without resulting in a prohibited distribution, including as a
result of your death), the Company shall pay you a lump-sum amount equal to the cumulative amount that would have otherwise been payable
to you during such period.

25.  Valid Agreement. You agree that this Agreement and its releases fully comply with the Age Discrimination in Employment Act
(including, without limitation, the Older Workers’ Benefits Protection Act) (collectively referred to hereafter as the “ADEA”), the Minnesota
Human Rights Act, and all other laws, statutes, ordinances, regulations, and/or principles of common law governing releases. Specifically as it
relates to the ADEA, you understand that this Agreement has to meet certain requirements to validly release any ADEA claims you might have,
and you represent that all such requirements have been satisfied, including that: (a) this Agreement is written in a manner calculated to be
understood by you; (b) you are specifically waiving ADEA rights; (c) you are not waiving ADEA rights arising after the date of your signing
this Agreement; (d) you are receiving valuable consideration in exchange for execution of this Agreement that you would not otherwise be
entitled to receive; (¢) the Company is hereby, in writing, encouraging you to consult with your attorney before signing this Agreement; and (f)
you received twenty-one (21) days to consider this Agreement and at least seven (7) days to revoke your release of claims under the ADEA.

26.  No Unlawful Restriction. You understand and agree that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, nothing in
this Agreement is intended to and/or shall: (a) impose any condition, penalty, or other limitation affecting your right to challenge this
Agreement; (b) constitute an unlawful release or waiver of any of your rights under any laws; or (c¢) prevent, impede, or interfere with your
ability or right to: (1) provide truthful testimony if under subpoena to do so; (2) file any charge or complaint (including a challenge to the
validity of this Agreement) with, or participate in an investigation or proceeding conducted by, the EEOC and/or any other governmental
entity; (3) receive an award for information provided to any government agencies; and/or (4) respond as otherwise required and/or provided for
by law. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in any paragraph of this Agreement, nothing in this Agreement is intended to be or shall be
construed as a violation of any law.




27.  Representation of Competency, Advice of Counsel, and Knowing and Voluntary Signature. You represent that you are fully and

legally competent to execute this Agreement. You acknowledge having had the right and opportunity to review this Agreement with your own
legal counsel to the extent you wish to do so. You acknowledge that you have read and fully understand this entire Agreement and knowingly
and voluntarily agree to its terms and conditions. You acknowledge that neither the Company, nor any of the Released Parties or agents or
attorneys thereof, have made any promise, representation, or warranty whatsoever, express or implied, not contained herein concerning the
subject matters hereof to induce you to execute this Agreement, and acknowledge that you have not executed this Agreement in reliance upon

any such promise, representation, or warranty.

28. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be an original and together shall constitute
one Agreement. Copies of this Agreement shall have the same force and effect as an original. Signatures by facsimile, .pdf, or other electronic

imaging shall be deemed to constitute original signatures.
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29.  Acknowledgment. YOU AFFIRM THAT YOU HAVE READ THIS AGREEMENT. YOU ACKNOWLEDGE THAT YOU
WERE PROVIDED WITH A REASONABLE AND SUFFICIENT PERIOD OF TIME TO REVIEW THIS AGREEMENT AND
CONSIDER WHETHER OR NOT TO ACCEPT IT PRIOR TO SIGNING IT. YOU AGREE THAT THE PROVISIONS OF THIS
AGREEMENT ARE UNDERSTANDABLE TO YOU, AND THAT YOU HAVE ENTERED INTO THIS AGREEMENT FREELY AND
VOLUNTARILY. YOU ARE HEREBY ADVISED TO CONSULT WITH AN ATTORNEY PRIOR TO SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement by their signatures below.

Dated: December 30, 2022 /s/ Thomas Bergmann
THOMAS E. BERGMANN

LIFE TIME GROUP HOLDINGS, INC.

Dated: December 30, 2022 By: /s/ Eric Buss
Name: Eric Buss

Its: Executive Vice President & Chief Administrative Officer
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Exhibit 10.17
CONSULTING AGREEMENT

This Consulting Agreement (this “Agreement”), between Life Time, Inc., a Minnesota corporation with its principal offices located at 2902 Corporate Place,
Chanhassen, MN 55317 (together with its parents, affiliates and subsidiaries, “Life Time” or the “Company”), and Thomas E. Bergmann, having a mailing address
of 50 Anemone Drive, Boulder, CO, 80302 (“Consultant” and together with Life Time, Inc., collectively, the “Parties” and individually, a “Party”), determines the
rights and obligations of the Parties for the services provided to Life Time hereunder and is effective as of December 30, 2022 and simultaneous with the
termination of Consultant’s employment with the Company (the “Effective Date”).

1. Purpose: The Parties wish to enter into this Agreement whereby Consultant will provide to Life Time consulting services related to Company strategy and
finance, guidance to the office of the Chief Financial Officer and Chief Executive Officer, and special projects as defined and requested by the Company.
Services will be limited to a maximum of ten hours per quarter.

2. Independent Contractor: In connection with this Agreement, Consultant is an Independent Contractor. During the performance of the services, Consultant will
not be considered an employee or joint employee of Life Time within the meaning or the applications of any federal, state county, provincial, or local laws or
regulations including, but not limited to, laws or regulations covering unemployment insurance, employment benefits, old age benefits, workers’ compensation
benefits and/or coverage, industrial accident coverage, the tracking and recording of Consultant working time, the payment of minimum wage and overtime as
applicable, the timely and complete payment of all earned and owed wages and compensation, working hours limitations and scheduling obligations, prohibited
employment practices, including, without limitation, discrimination, harassment, and retaliation, identification and work eligibility, and tax obligations of any
kind. Accordingly, Consultant shall have the sole responsibility for paying all such taxes and other amounts due under applicable laws and regulations, and for
providing any and all benefits, in respect to Consultant, if any.

The services shall be performed by Consultant without direct supervision by Life Time, and Life Time shall not exercise control or direction over Consultant as
to the means and/or methods for accomplishing mutually agreed upon results. Neither Party will have any authority, express or implied, to act for or to bind the
other Party in any way, or to represent that it is in any way responsible for the acts, debts, liabilities or omissions of the other Party. Additionally, the services
provided by Consultant are personal in nature. As such, Consultant cannot assign, subcontract or otherwise transfer Consultant’s obligations under this
Agreement without Life Time’s prior written consent. Neither Party will have the right to use the other Party’s names or logos for any reason without the other’s
prior written permission.

Consultant and Life Time expressly represent and agree that: (a) the services performed by Consultant hereunder are not an integral part of the Company’s
overall business; (b) Consultant’s opportunity for profit or loss depends on his own skill; (c) the extent of the relative investments of the Company and
Consultant are consistent with an independent contractor relationship; (d) Consultant’s services performed hereunder require special skills and initiative; (e) the
relationship between Consultant and the Company is not permanent; and (f) the Company does not exercise or retain control over Consultant and/or the means,
methods, materials, time, place, and/or any other elements associated with Consultant’s completion of services under this Agreement. Consultant represents and
agrees that Consultant is in business for himself and is economically independent from the Company, and will not take the position that Consultant is not an
independent contractor at any time.

3. Consideration for Services:

In exchange for valuable consideration, the sufficiency of which both Parties acknowledge, Consultant, while an employee of the Company, previously entered
into the following equity award agreements with
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Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. (f/k/a LTF Holdings, Inc. and a parent entity of Life Time, Inc.) (“Holdings”) (collectively, the “Equity Award Agreements”):
(1) the Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement, dated June 8, 2016; (2) the Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement, dated May 3, 2021; (3) the Stock Option
Grant Notices and Stock Option Agreements, dated October 6, 2021 and March 17, 2022; and (4) the Restricted Stock Unit Grant Notices and Restricted Stock
Unit Agreements dated October 12, 2021, March 11, 2022 and April 6, 2022, respectively. Effective December 30, 2022, upon the termination of Consultant’s
employment with the Company, Consultant entered into an Agreement and General Release with the Company (the “Agreement and General Release”).
Paragraph 6 of the Agreement and General Release outlined the treatment of Consultant’s equity-based awards, including that Consultant’s unvested equity-
based awards would continue to vest under the terms of the applicable Equity Award Agreements on the condition that Consultant continued to provide active
services to the Company through the applicable vesting date and that Consultant’s stock options that have vested as of the date that Consultant ceases to provide
services to the Company would remain outstanding and exercisable for their stated term (and not expire and be forfeited in connection with such termination of
service). For the sake of clarity, Paragraph 6 of the Agreement and General Release is incorporated by reference into this Agreement.

The Parties acknowledge and agree that the continued vesting and exercisability of Consultant’s outstanding equity-based awards as a result of Consultant’s
continued active service to the Company under this Agreement represents a substantial benefit to Consultant and is sufficient consideration for the services
Consultant will provide under this Agreement. Consultant further acknowledges and agrees that, except as explicitly set forth in Paragraph 6 of the Agreement
and General Release and in Section 4D below, all terms and conditions of the applicable Equity Award Agreements remain in effect and enforceable, including,
but not limited to, the restrictive covenants set forth therein, which apply to Consultant during service with the Company and for a set period of time following
that service as set forth in Section 4D below. Consultant agrees to abide by the same and reaffirms Consultant’s prior agreement to comply with such Equity
Award Agreements, including the restrictive covenants set forth therein (as amended by Section 4D below).

Consultant agrees that Consultant is responsible for all professional fees and expenses incurred as a result of providing services under this Agreement. All
payments made in connection with this Agreement are exclusive of taxes imposed by governmental entities of whatever kind. Consultant shall be solely
responsible for any taxes relating to any payments or benefits he receives under this Agreement. As needed, Consultant agrees to submit a completed IRS Form
W-9. Life Time will issue Consultant an IRS Form 1099 for any payments under this Agreement or other applicable tax documentation (if any) in the normal
course of business.

Term and Termination:

A . This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue in effect until March 31, 2026 (the “Expiration Date”). The period from the
Effective Date until the Expiration Date or such earlier date that this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 4B shall be the “Term.”

B. Either Party may cancel this Agreement at any time with 30 (thirty) days’ written notice. This Agreement shall terminate automatically upon Consultant’s
death before the Expiration Date. Additionally, the Company may terminate this Agreement before the Expiration Date for Cause. For purposes of this
Agreement, “Cause” shall mean the occurrence of any one or more of the following events unless, to the extent capable of correction, Consultant fully
corrects the circumstances constituting Cause within thirty (30) days after receipt of a notice of termination from the Company: (i) repeated and willful or
grossly negligent failure to perform Consultant’s services under this Agreement; (ii) Consultant’s willful or grossly negligent violation of any material
Company rule, procedure or policy applicable to Consultant’s work under this Agreement, or breach of any material non-disclosure, non-competition, non-
solicitation or other similar agreement between the Company
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(or any parent, subsidiary or affiliate thereof) and Consultant, including the restrictive covenant provisions set forth in the Equity Award Agreements (as
amended by Section 4D below); (iii) Consultant’s plea of nolo contendere to, or conviction of a felony or a crime of moral turpitude or involving fraud or
dishonesty (other than minor traffic violations or similar offenses); (iv) the perpetration of any act of fraud, embezzlement or material dishonesty against or
affecting the Company, any of its subsidiaries, or any customer, agent or employee thereof; (v) material breach of this Agreement (or any other written
agreement by and between Consultant and the Company) by Consultant; (vi) repeated insolent or abusive conduct towards agents, employees, or customers
of Company (including its parents, subsidiaries, and affiliates), including but not limited to, harassment of others of a racial or sexual nature; or (vii)
engaging in any act of material self-dealing involving the Company or opportunities identified as a result of Consultant performing work under this
Agreement or during Consultant’s prior employment with the Company without prior notice to and consent by the Company. For purposes of this provision,
no act or failure to act shall be deemed “willful” unless done or omitted to be done in bad faith and without reasonable belief that such action or omission
was in the best interest of the Company and its affiliates.

C. If this Agreement is terminated before the Expiration Date by Consultant or if this Agreement is otherwise terminated by reason of Consultant’s death before
the Expiration Date or by the Company for Cause before the Expiration Date pursuant to Section 4B, Consultant understands and agrees such termination
will result in the forfeiture of any remaining unvested equity-based awards Consultant may have under the Equity Award Agreements. If this Agreement is
terminated by the Company for convenience pursuant to Section 4B, any unvested equity-based awards Consultant may have under the Equity Award
Agreements at the time of such termination will continue to vest and be exercisable, as applicable, in accordance with and subject to their respective Equity
Award Agreement notwithstanding such termination of service.

D. Each of the Equity Award Agreements and the Employment Agreement previously entered into on September 13, 2021 by Consultant (while an employee of
the Company) and the Company contains a covenant that restricts Consultant from competing with the Company during the term of Consultant’s
employment and/or service with the Company and during the 18-month period following the date of termination thereof (the “Restricted Period”). In return
for the valuable consideration set forth in this Agreement, the Company and Consultant hereby agree to amend the term of such non-compete restrictive
covenant such that the Restricted Period shall end on March 31, 2026. For the sake of clarity, the Parties agree that this change applies only to the non-
compete restrictive covenants and that the remaining restrictive covenants remain unchanged, including the term of the Restricted Period, as set forth in the
Equity Award Agreements.

5. Intellectual Property:
A. Definitions. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following definitions:

(a) “Company Business” means: (1) the design, development, operation, management, advertisement, promotion, solicitation, marketing or sale of health
and fitness clubs, health and fitness club memberships, and (2) any media related to the aforementioned.

(b) “Creations” means any and all ideas, concepts, inventions, and improvements (whether patented, patentable or not), and all copyrighted or copyrightable
matter, together with all intellectual property or proprietary rights related to leadership, training and development curriculum.

(c) “Materials” means, collectively, Creations, Other Information, Trademarks, and Works Made for Hire.

(d) “Other Information” means all know-how and trade secret information, or any related material or information.
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6.

7.

(e) “Trademarks” means any and all trademarks, trade names, service marks, trade dress and logos, together with the goodwill appurtenant thereto, and all
other materials, ideas, or other property.

(f) “Works Made for Hire” is as defined in 17 U.S.C. § 101, together with all intellectual property or proprietary rights related to the foregoing.
B. Ownership.

(a) Materials Created During Consultant’s Independent Contractor Relationship with the Company. Consultant hereby expressly represents and agrees that
all Materials created, conceived, originated, developed, adopted, improved or reduced to practice by Consultant in the course and scope of Consultant’s
independent contractor relationship with the Company pursuant to this Agreement, whether solely or in collaboration with others during such
relationship, are forever solely and exclusively the property and/or intellectual property of Life Time. Consultant hereby assigns to the Company all
rights to such Materials. If any Materials are not considered a works made for hire owned by Company by operation of law, Consultant assigns the
ownership of copyrights in such works to Company.

(b) Non-Applicability. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 5B, this Section 5B does not apply to any Materials for which no equipment,
supplies, facility, confidential information, proprietary information, or trade secrets of the Company was used and which was developed entirely on
Consultant’s own time, and: (1) which does not relate: (i) directly to the Company Business, or (ii) to the Company’s actual or demonstrably anticipated
research or development, or (2) which does not result from any work performed by Consultant for the Company, during any employment or independent
contractor relationship with the Company. Consultant shall sign the Limited Exclusion Notification attached hereto as Exhibit 1, acknowledging receipt
of this notice.

Non-Disparagement: Consultant will not malign, defame, disparage or speak ill of the reputation, character, image, products or services of the Company, or the
reputation or character of the Company’s current or former directors, officers, employees or agents, provided that nothing in this Section 6 shall be construed to
limit or restrict Consultant from providing truthful information in connection with any legal proceeding, government investigation or other legal matter.
Consultant agrees that, during the Term of this Agreement and thereafter, Consultant will not disparage or denigrate Life Time orally or in writing to any third
party, and/or via any web or Internet site, social media site, newspaper, or media source of any type.

Confidential Information:

A. Consultant acknowledges, understands and agrees that all Confidential Information which may become known to Consultant under this Agreement, is the
exclusive and confidential property of the originator of such Confidential Information and shall be at all times regarded, treated and protected as such in
accordance with this Agreement. Failure to mark any writing confidential shall not affect the confidential nature of such writing or the information contained
therein.

B. “Confidential Information” shall include the following types of information, whether communications (oral or written), data and things, tangible or
intangible and encompassed in any medium, not generally known by anyone other than the Company and its employees and/or third parties pursuant to a
non-disclosure or other similar agreement with the Company: (a) any Company trade secrets; (b) any confidential, proprietary, or secret plans,
developments, research, processes, designs, methods, or material (whether or not patented or patentable) of the Company; (c) any customer, member,
employee, vendor, or supplier lists of the Company and any related contracts; (d) any strategic or other business, marketing, or sales plans of the Company;
(e) any financial data or plans with respect to the
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8.

10.

11.

Company; or (f) any other confidential or proprietary information or secret aspects of the business of the Company, including Materials.

C. Confidential Information shall not include information that: (a) is publicly known and such public knowledge or disclosure is not the result of any act or
failure to act on the part of the Consultant; (b) is information disclosed to Consultant by a third party which is not, to the Consultant’s knowledge, under a
duty of confidentiality to Life Time; or (c) is independently developed by Consultant without access to or use of any Confidential Information. If the
Consultant becomes legally compelled (by oral questions, interrogatories, requests for information or documents, subpoena, civil investigative demand or
similar process) to disclose any of the Confidential Information of Life Time or the fact that such Confidential Information has been made available to
Consultant, Consultant agrees to provide Life Time with reasonable advance written notice of such intention or requests so that Life Time has the opportunity
to pursue its legal and equitable remedies regarding such potential disclosure.

D. During and after the Term of this Agreement, Consultant shall not disclose Confidential Information to any person or entity other than as necessary in
performing Consultant’s services on behalf of Life Time, without first obtaining Life Time’s written consent, and will not use or disclose Confidential
Information to the detriment of Life Time. Further, Consultant shall take all reasonable precautions to prevent inadvertent disclosure of such Confidential
Information. Consultant will use the same degree of care as he should to protect his own confidential information, but in no event less than a reasonable
degree of care. Consultant shall also promptly destroy or return to Life Time all Confidential Information within twenty (20) days of the expiration or
termination of this Agreement.

Representations, Warranties, and Covenants : Consultant represents and warrants that, on an on-going basis: (a) that the services and Materials delivered
hereunder: (1) shall be of good quality and free from defects in design, material and workmanship; (2) shall not infringe any third party’s intellectual proprietary
rights; (3) will be provided by Consultant; and (4) will be performed in a professional manner using commercially reasonable efforts; and (b) that Consultant: (1)
will adhere to and meet the requirements set forth in the applicable SOW (if any) or any applicable design specifications or documentation; and (2) will comply
with any and all laws and regulations while performing services under this Agreement. Consultant will promptly notify Company in writing in the event of any
breach of such representations and warranties.

Indemnification: Consultant will indemnify, defend and hold harmless the Company and its respective officers, directors, agents, affiliates, subsidiaries, and
employees, against any and all third party: claims; losses; damages; liabilities; costs, fines, penalties, and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) that
arise or are alleged to have risen as a result of or in connection with (i) Consultant’s negligent acts or omissions under this Agreement or (ii) Consultant’s breach
of any covenant, representation, warranty, or other term of provision contained herein. Life Time will provide prompt written notice of any such suit or claim to
Consultant and, at Consultant’s expense, assist Consultant with defense of the suit or claim.

Limitations of Liability: IN NO EVENT WILL LIFE TIME BE LIABLE FOR INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, PUNITIVE, EXEMPLARY, SPECIAL
OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES, WHETHER IN CONTRACT OR TORT, EVEN IF CONSULTANT HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE
POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. CONSULTANT ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE ABOVE LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY
ARE REASONABLE.

Conflicts of Interest : Consultant represents that Consultant is not aware of any relationship or arrangement of Consultant or Consultant’s personnel that would

(i) prevent the Consultant from entering into this Agreement with Life Time; (ii) interfere with the interests of Life Time; or (iii) result in Consultant or
Consultant’s personnel receiving improper personal benefits as a result of providing services to Life Time under this Agreement.
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12. Arbitration:

A. Consultant understands and agrees that any disputes which may arise regarding the interpretation or application of this Agreement, or that in any way relate
to Consultant’s relationship with Life Time or the termination of that relationship, will be resolved through a process of binding arbitration (“Covered
Claims”). “Covered Claims” are those brought under any statute, regulation, law, local ordinance, contract, covenant (express or implied), or common law
relating to your relationship with Life Time, including but not limited to those concerning compensation, discrimination, harassment (except as provided
below), retaliation, benefits, disability or other accommodation, or termination of relationship. Covered Claims do not include claims that as a matter of
controlling law cannot be subject to arbitration, unless preempted by the Federal Arbitration Act; claims of sexual assault or sexual harassment, as defined in
the federal Ending Forced Arbitration of Sexual Assault and Sexual Harassment Act of 2021 that arose or accrued after March 1, 2022 (unless Consultant
elects to arbitrate the claim); actions to compel arbitration or confirm or vacate an Arbitrator’s award under this Agreement; actions for declaratory judgment
or injunctive relief arising out of a written non-disclosure, intellectual property, non-solicitation, or non-competition agreement signed by Life Time and
Consultant, although Life Time and Consultant give up the opportunity to recover monetary relief from such court action and, instead, are able to pursue a
claim for monetary relief through arbitration under this Agreement; and a charge or complaint filed with a federal, state, or local administrative agency such
as the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, National Labor Relations Board, Department of Labor, or similar agency, although Life Time and
Consultant give up the opportunity to recover monetary relief from such charge or complaint and, instead, are able to pursue a claim for monetary relief
through arbitration under this Agreement. Covered Claims will be arbitrated only on an individual basis, and Consultant waives the right to participate in or
receive monetary or other relief from a class, collective, consolidated, or other representative proceeding. Consultant agrees to waive any and all rights to a
trial by jury on the Covered Claims.

B. Neither Consultant nor Life Time may bring a representative claim on behalf of or regarding the rights or interests of other individual(s). An Arbitrator
hearing a claim may not combine more than one individual’s claim or claims into a single case or arbitrate any form of a class, collective, consolidated, or
other representative proceeding. Any question or dispute concerning the scope or validity of the above Section 12A will be decided by a court of competent
jurisdiction and not by an Arbitrator. If a court determines that this Section is invalid, you and Life Time waive any right to arbitration of class, collective,
consolidated, or other representative claims, and instead agree and stipulate that such claims will be heard only before a court.

C. The Arbitrator will be: (1) a retired federal district court judge, retired federal magistrate judge, or retired state trial court judge, who served in that capacity
in the state where the arbitration takes place; or (2) an attorney with at least 15 years of experience in employment law in private practice. Consultant and
Life Time will confer and attempt to mutually agree on an Arbitrator who meets the above Arbitrator Qualifications. If Consultant and Life Time cannot
agree on an Arbitrator who meets the Qualifications, Consultant will request that AAA provide a list of nine arbitrators who meet the Qualifications.
Consultant and Life Time will confer in person or by telephone and select from that list the Arbitrator who will hear the Covered Claim. The party
demanding arbitration will strike a name first and then the responding party, alternating strikes until only one name remains, who will be the selected
Arbitrator unless he or she is unavailable or otherwise unable to serve. The selected arbitrator shall arbitrate any dispute in accordance with the Employment
Arbitration Rules of the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”) and the Uniform Arbitration Act. These rules may be found at www.adr.org and
www.law.cornell.edu/rules/frcp/rule_68, respectively, or Consultant can request them from Life Time. The Arbitrator’s authority and jurisdiction will be
limited to determining the matter in dispute consistent with controlling law and this Agreement. The Arbitrator will apply—and
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will not deviate from—the substantive state law and/or federal law under which the claim arose. The Arbitrator will not have the authority to hear disputes
not recognized by existing law. The Arbitrator will have the authority to issue an award or partial award on the grounds that there is no claim on which relief
can be granted or that there is no genuine issue of material fact, consistent with the standards set forth in Rules 12 and 56 of the FRCP
(www.law.cornell.edu/rules/frcp/rule 12 and www.law.cornell.edu/rules/frcp/rule 56). The Arbitrator will have the same authority to order remedies (e.g.,
emotional distress damages, punitive damages, equitable relief, etc.) as would a court of competent jurisdiction. The Arbitrator will not have the authority to
order a remedy that a court would not be authorized to order under the law applicable to the claim. The Arbitrator’s authority will be limited to deciding the
case submitted by the parties. Therefore, no decision by an Arbitrator will serve as precedent in other arbitrations, except in a dispute between Consultant
and Life Time to preclude the same claim from being re-arbitrated. The Arbitrator will evaluate this case under the law of the jurisdiction of your Life Time
work location. The arbitration shall be confidential, and the parties agree not to disclose the claims, defenses, evidence, testimony, or outcome of the
arbitration, or to otherwise disclose information from the arbitration, unless the arbitration concerns a claim for sexual harassment, discrimination,
retaliation, or any claim that may not be treated as confidential under applicable law. No later than thirty (30) days from the date the arbitration hearing
concludes, the Arbitrator must issue an award in writing, setting forth in summary form the factual and legal bases for the Arbitrator’s determination.

13. General Provisions:

A.

B.

Survival. The provisions of Sections 2-10, 12, and 13 of this Agreement shall survive the termination and/or expiration of this Agreement.

Severability. In case any one or more of the provisions contained herein shall, for any reason, be held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect,
such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provisions of this Agreement, and this Agreement shall be construed as if such
provision(s) had never been contained herein, provided that such provision(s) shall be curtailed, limited or eliminated only to the extent necessary to remove
the invalidity, illegality or unenforceability.

Assignment/Modification. This Agreement may not be assigned or modified, except by a written agreement signed by the Parties hereto. Notwithstanding
the preceding sentence, the Company in its sole discretion may assign this Agreement, in whole or in part, to any parent, subsidiary, affiliate, successor or
purchaser of the Company without the prior written consent of Consultant. Consultant may not use a subcontractor to provide any products and/or services
without Life Time’s prior written consent, and Contactor will remain responsible for any such subcontractor.

Waiver. No waiver by a Party of any breach by the other Party of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed a waiver of any preceding or
succeeding breach of the same or any other provisions hereof. No such waiver shall be effective unless in writing and then only to the extent expressly set
forth in writing.

Excusable Delay. Neither Party will be in default of its obligations under the Agreement or liable to the other for any noncompliance arising from causes
beyond the reasonable control of the Party, including, without limitation, fires, floods, natural disasters, communication failures and other equipment or
telecommunication problems. Each Party will use reasonable efforts to resolve promptly any type of excusable delay.

Notices. All notices between the Parties shall be in writing and shall be sent by a method providing for proof of delivery to the attention of Life Time’s
General Counsel and to the Consultant. Other communications may be delivered by e-mail or other means.
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G. Governing Law. Except where prohibited by law, this Agreement is governed by Minnesota law without regard to conflicts of laws principles.

H . Entire Agreement. This Agreement, the Agreement and General Release, the Equity Award Agreements, and the restrictive covenants set forth in the
Employment Agreement previously entered into on September 13, 2021 by Consultant (while an employee of the Company) and the Company (in each case

as amended by Section 4D in this Agreement) set out the entire agreement between Life Time and the Consultant with respect to the subject matter contained
herein. They supersede all prior agreements, proposals, arrangements and communications, whether oral or written, with respect to the subject matter hereof.
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IN WITNESS WHEREQF, the Parties have executed this Agreement by their signatures below.

For LIFE TIME, INC.

/s/ Eric Buss

(Signature)

Eric Buss

For CONSULTANT

/s/ Thomas Bergmann

(Printed Name)

Executive Vice President

(Signature)

Thomas Bergmann

(Title)
December 30, 2022

(Date)

(Printed Name)

December 30, 2022

(Date)

Page 9



EXHIBIT 1

LIMITED EXCLUSION NOTIFICATION

THIS IS TO NOTIFY THOMAS E. BERGMANN (“CONSULTANT?”), in accordance with Minnesota Statute § 181.78, that the above and foregoing Life
Time Consultant Agreement between Consultant and Life Time, Inc. (together with its parents, affiliates and subsidiaries the “Company”), does not require
Consultant to assign or offer to assign to the Company any invention that Consultant developed entirely on his own time without using the equipment, supplies,
facilities, or trade secret information of the Company or any affiliate, except for those inventions that either:

1. RELATE AT THE TIME OF CONCEPTION OR REDUCTION TO PRACTICE OF THE INVENTION TO THE BUSINESS OR ACTUAL OR
DEMONSTRABLY ANTICIPATED RESEARCH OR DEVELOPMENT OF THE COMPANY OR ANY AFFILIATE; OR

2. RESULT FROM ANY WORK PERFORMED BY CONSULTANT FOR THE COMPANY OR ANY AFFILIATE.

1, the undersigned, acknowledge receipt of a copy of this notification.

/s/ Thomas Bergmann
(Signature)

Thomas Bergmann
(Printed Name)

December 30, 2022
(Date)
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Subsidiary

Exhibit 21.1

Jurisdiction of Organization

Athlinks Inc.

ChronoTrack Administrator LLC
ChronoTrack Holdings LLC
ChronoTrack Mexico, S. DE R.I. DE C.V.
ChronoTrack Systems Europe B.V.
Healthy Way of Life I, LLC

Healthy Way of Life II, LLC

Healthy Way of Life III, LLC

Healthy Way of Life IV, LLC

Healthy Way of Life V, LLC

Healthy Way of Life VI, LLC

Healthy Way of Life VII, LLC

Healthy Way of Life VIII, LLC

Healthy Way of Life IX, LLC

Healthy Way of Life X, LLC

Healthy Way of Life XI, LLC

Healthy Way of Life XII, LLC

Healthy Way of Life XIII, LLC

Healthy Way of Life XIV, LLC

Healthy Way of Life XV, LLC

Healthy Way of Life XVI, LLC

Healthy Way of Life XVII, LLC

Healthy Way of Life XVIII, LLC

Life Time, Inc.

Life Time Captive Insurance Company
Life Time Digital, LLC

Life Time Foundation

Life Time Mixed Use Management Services Company, LLC
Life Time Mixed Use Real Estate Company, LLC
Life Time Real Estate Development & Construction, LLC
LT Canada Co-Borrower GP Inc.

LT Canada Co-Borrower Holdco, LP

LT Canada Co-Borrower, LP

LT Co-Borrower, LLC

LT Co-Borrower Holdco, LLC

LT Headquarters 2, LLC

LT Living (Dallas) Managing Member, LLC
LT Living (Dallas) Property, LLC

LT Mixed Use (Burlington), LLC

LT Mixed Use (Dallas-Montfort), LLC
LT Mixed Use (Edina), LLC

LT Mixed Use (Paradise Valley), LLC

LT Mixed Use (Stevens Creek), LLC

LT Mixed Use ReCo (Henderson), LLC

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Mexico
Netherlands
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Minnesota
Vermont
Delaware
Minnesota
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Ontario, Canada
Ontario, Canada
Ontario, Canada
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware



LT MRS Holdings, LLC

LT (Connecticut) Property Management Company, LLC
LT (Florida) Property Management Company, LLC
LT (Illinois) Property Management Company, LLC
LT (Massachusetts) Property Management Company, LLC
LT (Nevada) Management Services Company, LLC
LT (Nevada) Property Management Company, LLC
LTF Architecture, LLC

LTF Intermediate Holdings, Inc.

LTF Club Management Company, LLC

LTF Club Operations Company, Inc.

LTF Club Operations Company Canada Inc.

LTF Club Operations Company Kansas, Inc.

LTF Construction Company, LLC

LTF Educational Programs, LLC

LTF Ground Lease Company, LLC

LTF Lease Company, LLC

LTF Lease Company (Manhattan Four), LLC

LTF Management Services, LLC

LTF Maryland Liquor, LLC

LTF Operations Holdings, Inc.

LTF Real Estate CMBS II, LLC

LTF Real Estate Company, Inc.

LTF Real Estate Holdings, LLC

LTF Real Estate MP I, LLC

LTF Real Estate MP II, LLC

LTF Real Estate MP 111, LLC

LTF Restaurant Company, LLC

LTF Triathlon Series, LLC

LTF Yoga Company, LLC

Massage Retreat & Spa, Inc.

Massage Retreat & Spa Franchise Company L.L.C.

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Minnesota
Ontario, Canada
Kansas
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Maryland
Minnesota
Delaware
Minnesota
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Minnesota



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Statement No. 333-260197 on Form S-8 of our report dated March 8, 2023, relating to the financial statements of Life Time
Group Holdings, Inc. and the effectiveness of Life Time Group Holdings, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting, appearing in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Life
Time Group Holdings, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2022.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota

March 8, 2023



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Bahram Akradi, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 of Life Time Group Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 8, 2023 By: /s/ Bahram Akradi

Bahram Akradi

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Olfficer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

1, Robert Houghton, certify that:

1.

2.

5.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 of Life Time Group Holdings, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this
report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial

reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 8, 2023 By: /s/ Robert Houghton

Robert Houghton
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the filing of the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2022 with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.
Date: March 8, 2023 By: /s/ Bahram Akradi

Bahram Akradi

Chief Executive Olfficer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the filing of the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Life Time Group Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2022 with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.
Date: March 8, 2023 By: /s/ Robert Houghton
Robert Houghton
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)



